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PREFACE.

Tuis work was written in 1850, and first published in the
summer of last year 1851, when there seemed good reason
to hope that the illcstrious subject of it might yet be spared
to his sovereign and his country for at least some years to
come. Though he had far exceeded the Scriptural limit of
longevity, his frame was still of iron, his intcllect was un-
impaired, and his habit of constant exercise and his manner
of living, simple almost to abstemiousness, encouraged, in
many, the hope of a greater length of days. So far from
betraying any signs of senility, his conversations and his
writings were, to the very last, full of vigour, shrewdness,
directness, and manly simplicity—admirable and perfect in
their kind as the Despatches he wrote forty years ago. A
State paper on the difficult, perplexing affairs of India,
which he drew up as late as 1850, when he was in his
eighty-second year, was admired by every statesman that
read it as a perfect inodel and masterpiece.

Although I was of the number of those who honestly (if
erroneously) entertained the convictbn that the great Duke
was quite as much distinguished as a statesman as he was as
a soldier, [ strictly confined myself to his military career;
and this I did upon various considerations, some of which
will explain themselves, while others scarcely call for any
explanation. DBut now that the veteran hero has gone from
among us, and for ever,—now that the story of his days is
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wound up—the reader will desire some further informa-
tion. A concluding chapter has therefore been added to
this Memoir and epitome of history, in which will be found
the principal events of his career as a home statesman, ard
& brief account of his last days and his characteristic death.
I beg, however, distinctly to state that in this concluding
chapter I have had no hand. It has been compiled chiefly
from the valuable articles in the ZTimes.

The memory and mind of nearly every man, woman, or
child, must teem with the eulogiums bestowed by writers of
all parties, and all shades of party, on the thrice illus-
trious deceased. Many of these papers, though written
on the spur of the moment, are really excellent as compo-
sitions, and are honourable alike to the heart and to the
intellect of those who produced them.

The earnest and eloquent writer in the 7mes, whose
sketches and remarks have been embodied in a small volume,
says,—* If aught can lessen this day the grief of England upon
the death of her greatest son, it is the recollection that the
life which has just closed leaves no duty incomplete, and no
honour unbestowed. The Duke of Wellington had ex-
hausted nature and exhausted glory. His career was one
unclouded longest day, filled from dawn to nightfall with
renowned actions, animated by unfailing energy in the
public service, guided by unswerving principles of conduct
and of statesmanship. . . . In him, at least, posterity will
trace a character superior to the highest and most abundant
gifts of fortune. If the word ¢ heroism’ can be not unfairly
applied to him, it is because he remained greater than his
own prosperity, and rose above the temptaticns by which
other men of equal genius, but less self-government, have
fallen below their destinies. His life has nothing to gain
from the language of panegyrie, which would compare his
military exploits or his civil statesmanship with the prowess
of an Alexander or a Cxsar, or with the astonishing career
of him who saw his emfire overthrown by the Dritish
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general at Waterloo. They were the offspring of passion
and of genius, flung from the voleanic depths of revolutions
and of civil war to sweep with meteoric splendour across the
earth, and to collapse in darkness before half the work of
life was done. Their violence, their ambition, their romantic
existence, their reverses, and their crimes, will for ever
fascinate the interest of mankind, and constitute the secret
of their fame, if not of their greatness. To such attractions
the life and character of the Duke of Wellington present no
analogy. If he rose to scarce inferior renown, it was by
none of the passions or the arts which they indulged or
employed. Unvanquished in the field, his sword was never
drawn for territorial conquest, but for the independence of
Europe and the salvation of his country. Raised by the
universal gratitude of Europe and of this nation to the
highest point of rank and power which a subject of the
British monarchy could attain, he wore those dignities and
he used that influence within the strictest limits of a sub-
ject's duty. No law was ever twisted to his will ; no right
was ever sacrificed by one hair’s breadth for his aggrandize-
ment. There lived not a man either among his countrymen
or his antagonists who could say that this great Duke had
wronged him; for his entire existence was devoted to the
cause of legal authority and regulated power. You seek in
it in vain for those strokes of audacious enterprise which, in
other great captains, his rivals in fame, have sometimes won
the prize of crowns, or turned the fate of nations. But his
whole career shines with the steady light of day. It has
nothing to conceal, it has nothing to interpret by the
flexible organs of history. Everything in it is manly, com-
pact, and clear ; shaped to one rule of public duty, animated
by one pass:on—the love of England, and the service of the
Crown.”

Public duty, the faithful and full performance of duty,
under all circumstances, and at whatsoever cost or sacrifice,
was the one predominant, governing idea of his great mind,
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It has been observed that while the word “ Glory™ scarcely
ever occurs in his voluminous despatches, the word “ Dury”
is to be found at nearly every page.

“ Other commanders,” says the same writer of the Ttmes,
“ have attained the highest pitch of glory when they dis-
posed of the colossal resources of empires, and headed armies
already flushed with the conquest of the world. The Duke
of Wellington found no such encouragement in any part of
his career. At no time were the means at his dispesal
adequate to the ready and certain execution of his designs.
Hig steady progress in the Peninsular campaigns went on
agast the current of fortune, till that current was itself
turned by perseverance and resolution. He had a clear and
complete perception of the dangers he encountered, but he
saw and grasped the latent power which baffled those dan-
gers, and surmounted resistances apparently invincible.
That is precisely the highest degree of courage, for it is
courage conscious, enlightened, and determined.

« Clearness of discernment, correctness of judgment, and
rectitude in action, were, without doubt, the. principal
elements of the Duke’s brilliant achievements in war, and
of his vast authority in the councils of his country, as well
as in the conferences of Lurope. They gave to his deter-
minations an originality and vigour akin to that of genius,
and sometimes imparted to his language in debate a pith and
significance at which more brilliant orators failed to arrive.
His mind, equally careless of obstacles and of effect, travelled
by the shortest road toits end ; and he retained, even in his
latest years, all the precision with which he was wont to
handle the subjects which came before him, or had at any
time engrossed his attention. This was the secret of that
urtaught manliness and simplicity of style that pervades the
vast collection of his despatches, written as they were amidst
the varied cares and emotions of war ; and of that lucid and
appropriate mode of exposition which never failed to leave a
tlear impression on the minds of those whom he addressed ™
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'The Duke never threw away words, for with him words
were a question of time, and he had little taste or liking for
voluble speakers or wordy writers. He was once heard to
say, in speaking of a recent book of travels,—* I admire that
work, for the writer goes straight to his object, and does not
detain you with useless words and fine phrases.”

So early a riser, and so active was he, and at the same time
so measured and orderly in all his arrangements, that even
in the busiest periods of his life he found time for amusement
as well as for everything else. This fact, and other traits
of character, are well expressed by the writer from whom
we have been quoting. ¢ Every social duty, every solemnity,
every ceremony, every merry-making, found him ready to
take his part in it. He had a smile for the youngest child,
a compliment for the prettiest face, an answer to the readiest
tongue, and a lively interest in every incident of life, which
it seemed beyond the power of age to chill. When time had
somewhat relaxed the sterner mould of his manhood, its
effects were chiefly indicated by an unabated taste for the
amusements of fashionable society, incongruous at times with
the dignity of extreme old age, and the recollections of so
virile a career. But it seemed a part of the Duke’s charac-
ter, that everything that presented itself was equally wel-
come, for hc had become a part of everything, and it was
foreign to his nature to stand aloof from any occurrence to
which his presence could contribute. He seems never to
have felt the flagging spirit or the reluctant step of indo-
lence or emnui, or to have recoiled from anything that re-
mained to be done; and this complete performance of every
Juty, however small, as long as life remained, was the same
juality which had carried him in triumph through his cam-
paigns, and raised him to be one of the chief ministers of
England, and an arbiter of the fate of Europe.”*

Of the cheerfulness and urbanity of his disposition, of
his considerateness and politeness to all men, and of his

® Times, September 15, 18562,
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winning, conciliatory temper, striking instances wiil be
found in this volume, and many more will occur to the
reader’s rccollection, for they have been recorded in many
places, and have become national traditions and household
words. Those who knew him all his life through have
said, that in his youth his natural disposition was impatient,
impetuous, and fiery. I have been told that the Duke him-
self confessed the fact. How wonderful then must have
been the discipline to which he subjected his mind in order
to rid it of that infirmity, and to bring it to that degree of
philosophical calmness and composure which marked all his
conduct for at least half a century!

Public writers of nearly every country on the continent
of Europe have been almost as unanimous in their eulogiums
as those of England. With a few exceptions, even the
French have treated the memory of their great adversary
with respect, if not with reverence. In some instances, how-
ever, they bave attempted to revive the exploded calumny
that the Duke acted unfairly, or ungenerously, in the
affair of Marshal Ney's death. A perusal of the letters and
documents at the conclusion of the Wellington Despatches,
or even an attentive consideration of the abridgment of
those papers, as given in this volume, will convince every
clear and impartial mind that the unfortunate French
marshal was fairly tried, and justly condemned; that he
was by no means included in the military Convention of
Paris, which bears the honoured name of Wellington; and
that, whatever might have been his will or inclination, it
was not in the Duke’s power to stop the justice of the inde-
pendent constitutional government of the king of France, or
to interfere authoritatively in this matter. As some, even
at home, seem disposed to consider that his not rescuing
Ney from execution was the one solitary blot in the Duke’s
public character, I, in my anxiety for that fair fame, would
most earnestly recommend them to re-consider and study
the wkole subject by the unerring light of the immicrtal
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despatches.  Since his demise it has been asserted in more
than one English journal, that the Duke himself bitterly
repented of not having done enough to save Ney. I can
assert, on the very highest and best authority, that his
Grace was never moved by any such feelng. He felt, that
in this business, as in all others, he had kept strictly within
the line of duty.

The Duke died as he had lived, an energetie, active man;
his activity continued almost until the very last breath. On
the Sunday preceding his demise, he walked on foot all the
way from Walmer Castle to the village church, and from
the church back to the castle. To the very last, he was as
punctual, earnest, and attentive to business, as when in the
flower of manhood, and at the commencement of his career
of fame and glory. ¢ He never rested on his former
achievements or his length of days, but marched onwards to
the end, still heading the youthful generations which had
sprung into life around him, and scarcely less intent on
their pursuits than they are themselves. Tt was a finely
balanced mind to have worn so bravely and so well. When
men in after times shall look back to the annals of England
for examples of energy and public virtue among those who
have raised this country to her station on the earth, no
name will remain more conspicuous or more unsullied than
that of ArTrUR WELLESLEY, THE GREAT DukEe oF WgLe
LiNGToN. The actions of his life were extraordinary, but his
character was equal to his actions. . He was the very type
and model of an Englishman; and, though men are prone
%o invest the worthies of former ages with a dignity and
merit they commonly withhold from their contemporaries,
we can select none from the long array of our captains and
our nobles who, taken for all in all, can claim a rivalry with
him who is gone from amongst us, an inheritor of imperish-
able fame.”

The whole of that immense space which the Duke filled
up in the nation will, probably. never again be occupicd by
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one single man. In all matters of high importance, his
opinion wus anxiously consulted, and his advice always
taken, if not always followed. Whenever the wheels of
government came to a dead lock, it was for him to set them
again free and in motion. At every crisis, at the presen~
tation of every extreme, dangerous, or startling measure, the
Court, the Cabinet, the Houses of Parliament (whatever the
sovereign on the throne, or the party in power), asked
themselves, “What will the Duke of Wellington say to
this? What will the Dulke think of this?” — and, forth-
with, the Duke was sent for.

In ome strictly professional department we may con-
gratulate ourselves on the nomination of his Grace’s suc-
cessor. Had the appointment of Commander-in-Chief of
her Majesty’s land forces been left to the Duke, he would
assuredly have named Lorp Harpinge; had the choice
been left to the army, it would have fallen upon Viscount
Hardinge; had the question been put to the vote of the
nation at large, the nation would have voted for Henry
Viscount Iardinge. Except in admiration and reverence of
the deceased commander, there never was a sentiment in
which the country has been so unanimous as the satisfaction
of seeing the command devolve on so thorough working a
soldier, so perfect & man of business, and one so richly
endowed with amiable qualities and the virtues which con-
stitute the good husband, father, friend, citizen, patriot,
gentleman, CHRISTIAN, as the hero at Albuera, Liguy,
Moodkee, Ferozeshuhr, and on’twenty other battle-fields.

C.M F.
Canterbury, Octeber 15; 1852.
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MEMOIR

OF TUE

DUKE OF WELLINGTON.

BOOK I

Our Great Captain was born on the 1st of May 1769,
a year remarkable for the births of extraordinary men, ns,
besides Wellington, Napoleon Buonaparte, Marshal Soult,
and Mchemet Ali (the late Pasha of Egypt), were born
in 1769.

Arthur Wellesley was the third surviving son of Garret,
second Lord Mornington (who was created, in 1760, Viscount
Wellesley and Earl of Mornington), by Anne, eldest daughter
of Arthur Hill-Trevor, Viscount Dungannon. It is curious
that any doubts or mistakes should have arisen about the
actual birthplace of our hero; but I have seen it variously
stated,—that he was born in Dangan Castle, in the county
of Meath ;—that he was born at his father's residence, near
Mornington ;—that he was born in the city of Dublin.
It is, however, easier to settle the locality, than to decide
upon the birthplace of Homer. He was certainly born either
at Dangan or in the Trish capital. The family derived
their origin from the Cowleys, or Collies, in Rutlandshire, of
whom two brothers settled in Ireland during the reign of
Henry VIII. Sir Henry Collie, a son of one of these
brothers, was noted in the time of Queen Elizabeth as a
“sound and fast friend,” * valiant, fortunate, and a good
servant,” and for the good order in which he kept his
county. It is evident he must have been a good man of
business.

The Earl of Mornington, our hero's father, was a man of
most polished manners, and of an amiable and hospitable
disposition. e showed no fondness for the military pro-

B
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fession, took little part in the politics of his times, and
devoted himself to the study and practice of musiec, in which
his taste is said to have been exquisite. I remember hearing,
in my boyhood, an old Scotch lady speak quite rapturously
of the Earl's performance. His taste for music, with the
elegance of his manners, and gentleness of his disposition,
gained him the affection of his young sovereign, George III,,
who loved music always, and almost passionately. It does
not appear, however, that the fortune of the Earl benefited
by royal favour. It is always difficult for a courf or
government to do much for a2 man who shuns the warlike
professions, and keeps aloof from the turmoils of politics.
His lordship composed a good many glees, songs, and
ballads, most of which were exceedingly popular in their
day. Some of his church music was also admired, and
obtained for him, from the Irish University, a doctor’s
degree. One of his Chants is still echoed in our venerable
cathedrals, and is admired by all lovers of sacred music.
Five of his glees have retained their great popularity :—
1. “Hail, ballowed Fane”; 2 “Come, fairest Nymph”;
3. “Here in cool Grot”; 4. ‘“When for this World's
repose” ; 5. “ Go, happy Shade.” The second of these has
a fugue of surpassing grace and beauty. The third is still
included in every ccllection of glees. A much respected
friend, well acquainted with this class of music, assures me
that, on the whole, he prefers Lord Mornington’s composi-
tions to those of Sir Henry Bishop; and that his lordship’s
knowledge of counter-point, and of music as a science, was
as profeund as his taste was pure. He had begun the study
of music as a child, his father having been a musician before
him*  His lordship died, in the prime of life, at his house
in Kensington, on the 22nd of Ma{ 1781, leaviug behind
bim an encumbered property, and a large and young family.
For his rank and station in life, Arthur Wellesley must
have had some early experience of the res angusta domi,—
an experience very likely to prove beneficial to a clear head
and decided heart like his. The Wellington correspcndence
contains several striking letters addressed to thoughtless,
extravagant officers, and inculcating lessons of economy and
good order in accounts. y
" The illustrious warrior and statesman is no exception to
the general rule,—that clever and remarkable men have al-
ways had clever mothers. ‘The widowed Lady Mornington is
* See Daines Barrington, ¢Miscellanies, p. 817, and G. Hogarth,
¢Musical History.’
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always mentioned not only as a most excellent mother, bu
as a lady of great intellect and acuteness, and of a decision
of character rarely to be looked for in her sex. No doubt,
the easy disposition of her husband, and the difficulties in
which she found herself involved, gave exercise and strength
to these qualities. The entire management of the family
property was left to her care, and upon her exertions,
prudence, and economy, mainly depended the welfare of
five sons and three daughters. The munificent and mag-
nificent Richard Wellesley, her eldest son, who succeeded to
the title of Earl of Mornington, and who was afterwards
Marquess of Wellesley, did not distinguish himself, by order
in accounts, or by the strictest practice of prudential virtue ;
but it is ever to be recorded to his honour, that (in most
cases without any legal necessity) he took upon himself the
payment of his father’s debts, and discharged them all.

Arthur was sent, like his cldest brother, Richard, to
Eton. The traditions of him in the school are, that he
was a spirited, active boy, yet rather shy and meditative.
The late facetious Bobus gmith, when Arthur had con-
quered wherever he had fought, used to say, “I was the
Duke of Wellington's first victory.” ¢ How?” ¢ Why,
one day at Eton, Arthur Wellesley and I had a fight, and
he beat me soundly.” Lord Mornington, who had always
a strong literary turn, and who distinguished himself in
early youth by his classical acquirements, was removed from
Eton to Oxford. Arthur's tastes were different, and, as he
intended to be a soldier, he was sent from Eton to the
Military Academy of Angers, in France. England did not
possess, at that time, any military school whatever. Marlow
College, which preceded the present school at Sandhurst,
was not formed until after the breaking out of the war with
France in 1792. In Arthur Wellesley’s time, the Academy
of Angers, in which many eminent French officers had been
trained, was under the direction of the celebrated enginecr,
Pignerol, who hasleft his name to one of the most remarkable
of the fortresses in the Alps. At this period, Napoleon
Buonaparte was a student in the Military College of
Brienne.

On the 7th of March 1787, a shert time before attaining
his eighteenth year, Arthur Wellesley was gazetted to an
ensigney in the 78rd regiment, and on the 25th of the
month of December, in the same year, he was promoted to
a lieutenancy in the 76th. In order to obtain a perfect
knowledge of both those arms, he now left the infantry, and

B2
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served for some time in the cavalry, with the 12th and 18th
Light Dragoons. His rise in the service was of course
rapid. By April 1793 he had obtained a majority in the
33rd regiment, and in September of the same year, he was
advanced, by purchase, to the lieutenant-colonelcy of that
corps, long his favourite regiment.

Prior to this elevation in the army, he had entered the
Irish parliament, as member for Trim. According to Sir
Jonas Barrington, a lively writer, but no very reliable
authority for facts, he was at this time ruddy faced, and
juvenile in appearance, popular among the young men of

is age and station, but unpolished in his address, and
evincing no promise of the celebrity that he afterwards
reached.

Another writer of early recollections of the Duke, gives a
somewhat different account. This gentleman first visited
the gallery of the Irish House of Commons in 1793, being
accompanied by a friend who knew the persons of all the
members. He says,—“ A young man, dressed in a scarlet
uniform, with very large epaulettes, caught my eye, and
I inquired who he was. ¢That,’ replied my friend, ‘is
Captain Wellesley, a brother of Lord Mornington's, and
one of the aides-de-camp of the Lord-Lieutenant. ‘I
suppose he never speaks,’” I added. *°You are wrong; he
does speak sometimes, and when he does, believe me, it
is always to the purpose ?'” ‘I'he subject which occupied
the attention of the house that night was one of deep
importance in politics. A farther concession to the claims
of the Roman Catholics had been recommended in a speech
from the throne, and an animated debate resulted. Captain
Wellesley spoke on the occasion, and his remarks were
terse and pertinent, his delivery fluent, and his manner
unembarrassed.”*

Our great soldier’s first active service commenced in May
1794, when he sailed for Flanders with the 33rd, and
landed at Ostend to join the British army, under the Duke
of York, then contending with the French republican
armies in the Netherlands, with great bravery, but small
military skill or science. The revolutionary party in the
country declared everywhere for the French, our Austrian
nllies were slow and unfortunate, the Dutch troops, also
infected by sans-cullottism, showed neither patriotism nor

* See W, H. Maxwell, ¢ Life of the Duke of Wellington,” vel. i. p. 10,
Mr. Maxwell says, he was indebted for this information to a gentleman
who afterwards held a high official situation in Ireland.



1795.] WITH THE ARMY UNDER THE DUKE OF YORK. )

valour, and a rapid advance of the French, in great force
under General Pichegru, obliged the British, after several
obstinate engagements, to retire into Holland, and take
up a position on the right bank of the Waal. In January
1795, the retreat was continued, through Guelderland and
Overyssel, to the river Ems, and hence to Bremen, where
our army was re-embarked for England in the spring.
During this retreat, through a frozen and cheerless country,
in the heart of a winter of extraordinary severity, Lien~
tenant - Colonel Wellesley commanded a brigade in ine
rear-guard,—the post of danger,—and his zeal, intelligence,
and intrepidity, attracted the notice of General Sir James
Craig, and other officers in high rank. The sufferings of
our troops, particularly among the many sick and wounded,
were as cruel as any that ever fell to the lot of a retreating,
ill-provided army. Many were frozen to death, many
dropped and perished through want of food, especially
during the day and night marches of the 16th and 17th of
January, when they had to cross the bleak, sandy, treeless,
houseless districts that intervened between Utrecht and
the towns of Deventer and Zutphen, in the midst of an
incessant hurricane of wind, snow, and sleet.

The whole campaign was rich in that sort of instruction
which an observing man can always derive from witnessing
mistakes and blunders. The Duke of York's army took
the field like geese on a common ; they had no ideas of cas-
trametation, and very erroneous ones about the taking-up
of positions, stationing posts and outposts, and conducting
marches. They were also slow in their formations; once
formed they stood like rocks, or, if ordered to the attack,
they went to it like bull-dogs; but if they were once
broken or disordered, it was no easy matter to form them
again. They were overloaded with head-gear and heavy
accoutrements, and their uniforms were made so tight and
stiff, that one might have fancied that they had been
devised on purpose to check all quick motion, and to injure
health, if not to give the men attacks of apoplexy. Our
army had then no efficient staff of scientific or properly
educated officers. Nearly everywhere there was a want
of knowledge and method as to the means of carrying out
orders. The medical staff was in a deplorable state, and
the commissariat department was still worse. From the
time of the Duke of Marlborough, we had never had a
good commissariat, and half of our military failures, and
6 very large portion of the excess in expense of all our
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expeditions down to 1809, were attributable to this one
great want.

Our hero had at this time little rest, he returnzd ¢
England in the spring (1795), was busily engaged all the
summer in getting his much-reduced regiment into an effec-
tive state, and in the autumn he embarked with the 38rd
for the West Indies. But, after being tossed at sea for more
than five weeks, and sustaining serious damages, the fleet—
commanded by Admiral Christian—was obliged to return to
England. The 33rd regiment was landed and sent to Poole,
where, in April 1796, it was embarked, not for the West,
but for the East Indies. Colonel Wellesley (he was pro-
moted to the rank of full colonel in the month of May of
this year) was detained at home by a serions illness, but he
Jjoined his regiment at the Cape of Good Hope, and proceeded
with it to Calcutta. He arrived at our Indian capital early
in February 1797, and was placed with the 33rd on the
Bengal establishment.

A venerable and 2 much-revered friend, who was in Cal-
cutta at this time, and who afterwards filled a high post in
the civil service, tells me that his recollections of Colonel
Wellesley are these :—that he was a handsome and most
soldierlike man, with an eye that looked you through and
through ; that he was cheerful, free of speech, and expan-
sive among his particular friends, but rather reserved in
general society, that he would often sit in a corner of
the splendid saloon in the government-house, silent and
abstracted for an hour at a time, and then pace up and
down the room with quick impatient steps. *It was quite
evident,” says my old friend, *“that he was impatient of
mo(;mtsmy and inactivity, and was longirg for something
to cc.’

This inactivity did not last long. On the 17th of May
1798, his elder brother, the Earl of Mornington, arrived at
Calcutta, as Governor- General of India. His lordship’s
predecessor, Sir John Shore, a timid pacific governor-
general, had allowed our enemies in the East to raise
their heads, and to assume an attitude of insolency and
menace. If this timid line of policy had been pursued
much longer, our dominion in India would have been in
jeopardy. A

One of the first objects that required Lord Mornington’s
attention, was the equivocal attitude of Tippoo, Sultan of
Mysore, who had repeatedly infringed his treaties with the
English, and was now intriguing with General Buonaparte
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and the French, with the hope and expectation of bringing
8 French army to assist him in conquering the whole of the
south cf India.

“In the month of June a proclamation of the French
governor of the Isle of France announced the arrival of two
ambassadors from Tippoo, to propose an alliance, offensive
and defensive, for the purpose of expelling the English from
India, in consequence of which a number of Frenchmen
volunteered to join the Sultan, and were taken to Manga-
lore in a French ship of war. These movements of Tippoo
were connected with the French expedition to Egypt. The
Earl of Mornington wrote several conciliatory letters to
Tippoo, to induce him to settle any pending controversy
between him and the East India Company by means of
negotiation, but at the same time he did not neglect to pre-
pare for offensive operations, and in November an army
was assembled at Vellore, under the command of General
Harris, ready to enter the Mysore territory at the first
notice. Colonel Wellesley, with his regiment, formed part
of this force. The army was joined by a large contingent
from the Nizam of the Deccan, an ally of the English; and
as the court of Hyderabad expressed a wish that the brother
of the Governor-General should be appointed to the com-
mand of the contingent, General Harris ordered the 33rd
regiment to be attached to the Nizam’s force, the general
command of which was given to Colonel Wellesley. As
Tippoo declined to enter into negotiations, and was evidently
trying to gain time, the allied British and native army was
ordered to advance into Mysore, which they entered early
in March 1799. On the 27th an engagement took place, in
which the left wing of the allies, under Colonel Wellesley,
routed a body of Tippoo’s choice infantry.”*

This affair was very hot while it lasted : at one time many
of the enemy’s light cavalry penetrated the intervals in the
English line; but the affair was finished by a bayonet
charge of the 33rd, led on by their colonel. Thisis called
the battle of Mallavelly. After it our army advanced to
Seringapatam, the capital of Tippoo, who was covering it with
50,000 men, while nearly 20,000 more were collected within
the fortifications. General Harris’s force, counting Euro-
peans, sepoys, and all arms, did not much exceed 20,000 men.

* The Military Life of the Duke of Wellington, by André Vieusseu,
Esq.~A very short but admirable epitome, by a gentleman who saw some
ﬁ»od service under the Duke, in Portugal. It was published, in 1841, in

r, Charles Knight’s ¢ Store of Knowledge.”
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Colonel Wellesley was now employed to dislodge the
enemy from some very strong posts and outworks in front
of the town. There was a tope or mound (calied the
Sultaun-Pettah Tope) which was intended by Tippoo for
rocketing, and which was well situated for doing mischief,
but between the tope and our camp there was a greater
elevation—the bank of a nullah or water-course—which
commanded the tope. General Harris ordered that both
the tcpe and nullah should be attacked, and appointed
Colonel Wellesley to storm the tope, and Colonel Shaw
to attack the nullah. Both attacks were to be made at
the same time under cover of night. On receiving his
order, Wellesley wrote the following letter —the first of
the many hundreds of his letters which are now published,
and which were written with haste in moments of danger
and crisis. It is eminently characteristic, showing his pere
apicacity, energy, and love of brevity.

To Lieut.-General Harris, Commander-in Chief,

¢ Camp, April 5, 1799.
“ My pEAR SIR,
“T do not know where you mean the post to be established,
and I shall therefore be obliged to you if you will do me the
Savour to meet me this afternoon in front of the lines, and
show it to me. In the mean time, I will order my battalions
to be in readiness.

“Upon looking at the tope, as I came in just now, it
:\}[])peared to me, that when you get possession of the bank of
the nullah, you have the tope, as a matter of course, as the
latter is in tﬂe rear of the former. However, you are the
best judge ; and I shall be ready.

T am, dear Sir,
¢ Your most faithful servant,
“ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
Lieut.-General Harris.”

As General Harris did not see fit to alter the plan he had
formed, both attacks were made in darkness—and both
failed. Colonel Wellesley, with only one company of his
regiment, got separated from the rest; isolated, assailed in
the tope by rockets and by musketry, and the groping
about in the dark without a knowledge of the ground, aid
without a guide, the career of our great Captain was ncar
being closed most prematurely. It may be doubted whether,
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in all his campaigns, he was ever exposed to more danger
than during this unlucky night of the 5th of April 1799. On
the 6th, the assaults were renewed by broad daylight, and
were then attended with entire success. Lieutenant-colonel
Barry Close, who had accompanied Colonel Wellesley on
this service, soon returnad to General Harris’s tent, saying
joyfully, «“It has been done in high style, and without
loss.”*

All the outworks being carried, approaches were made,
and heavy batteries raised against the fortress, Colonel
Wellesley commanding in the trenches, and performing
other arduous duties. On the 3rd of May, when the breach
was practicable, the place was stormed by Major-General
Baird, with a party consisting of 2,500 Europeans, and
1,800 natives. There was desperate fighting in the breach
and upon the ramparts, and even in the interior of the
town; but the English flag was soon hoisted over all. It
was a long time, however, before General Baird could ascer-
tain what had become of Tippoo. At last, one of the
Sultan’s officers assured Major Allan that he had been
wounded during the storm, and was lying in a gateway on
the north face of the fort. Conducted by t%lis ofticer,
Colonel Wellesley (who had come up from the trenches
some time before), Major-General Baird, Major Allan, and
others, proceeded to the gate. The gateway, arched over-
head, was long and dark, and choked up with dead bodies.

% The number of the dead, and the darkness of the place,”
says Major Allan, * made it difficult to distinguish one per-
son from another; and the scene was altogether shocking.
But, aware of the great political importance of ascertaining,
beyond the possibility of doubt, the death of Tippoo, the
bodies were ordered to be dragged out, and the killedar and
two other persons were desired to examine them one after
another. This, however, appeared endless; and, as it was
now becoming dark, a light was procured, and I accom-
panied the killedar into the gateway. During the search,
we discovered a wounded person lying under the Sultan’s
palanquin; this man was afterwards ascertained to be Rajah

* On the authority of General Harris’s private Journal, and of Colonel
Gurwood’s ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” I omit, as altogether fabalous, two
or three cirenmstances relating to Colonsl Wellesley, which the late Mr.,
Theodore Hook imprudently inserted in his ¢ Life of General Sir David
Baird.” It appears that these circumstances were never heard of until
years after the siege of Seringapatam. These stories are all cast in an
old type. We have seen in French books, and have heard from French
lips, tales about young Buonaparte skulking at the siege of Toulon,
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Khan, one of Tippoo’s confidential servants. He had at-
tended his master during the whole of the day, and, on
being made acquainted with the object of our search, pointed
out the spot where the Sultan had fallen. By a faint, glim-
mering light, it was difficult for the killedar to recognise
the features; but the body being brought out, and satis-
factorily proved to be that of the Sultan, was conveyed in a
palanquin to the palace, where it was again recognised by
the eunuchs and other servanis of the family. When
Tippoo was first brought from under the gateway his eyes
were open,.and his body was so warm that for a few
moments Colonel Wellesley and myself were doubtful whe-
ther he was not alive. On feeling his pulse and heart, that
doubt was removed. He had four wounds; three in the
body, and one in the temple.”*

Our loss, during the siege and storm, was found to be
greater than had been anticipated. It amounted to sixty-
seven officers, and 803 British soldiers, in killed and
wounded ; and 539 natives, in killed and wounded. Though
joined by other troops, General Harris had never more than
20,000 men actually occupied in the siege, and the divisions
which carried the place did not count many more than 4,000
men. The severity of their loss infuriated our soldiery.
When the confusion began to subside, General Baird desired
to be relieved, and Colonel Wellesley, being next on the
roster, was ordered to take the command of the place. This
is the simple explanation of facts which have been mis-
represented by malice and ignorance. General Baird had
certainly not restored order; the troops were plundering the
houses of the town, and committing those other excesses
which tco often accompany or follow the operation of storm-
ing. It isamusing, however, to observe that one of our great
Captain's first cares, as commandant of Seringapatam, was
about certain wild beasts which Tippoo *the Tiger” had kept
as petT m his palace. On the morning of the 5th of May,
he wrote to General Harris :—* There are some tigers here,
which I wish Meer Allum would send for, or else 1 must give
orders to have them shot, as there is no food for them, and
nobody to attend to them, and they are getting violent.” A
little later in the day, he wrote to Harris:—“I wish you
would send the provost here, and put him under my orders.

* Major Allan’s own account, as given by Colonel Beatson, in ¢ Narra-
tive of the Operations of the Army under Lieutenant-General Harris, ano
€ the Siege of Seringapatam.’
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Until some of the plunderers are hanged, it is vain ta
expect to stop the plunder.”. On the afternoon of the samu
day, he despatched another note, saying,—* Things are better
than they were, but they are still very bad; and, until the
provost executes three or four people, it is impossible to
expect order, or, indeed, safety.” But on the morning of
the 6th he was enabled to write to his commander :—
¢ Plunder is stopped, the fires are all extinguished, and the
inhabitants are returning to their houses fast. I am now
employed in burying the dead.” IHis exertions had been
incessant, and his humanity to the inhabitants could not
have been surpassed. Ile went himself to the houses of the

rincipal families, and posted guards to take care of them.
The provost-marshal had hanged four marauders, and an
end had been thereby put to plundering.*

A few days after, General Harris directed a regular gar-
rison for Seringapatam, and appointed Colonel Wellesley to
the command of it; and the Governor-General afterwards
appointed him governor of that gart of the Mysore territory
which was placed under British authority and protection.
It is at this time that the correspondence contained in the
¢ Dispatches of the Duke of Wellington,’ lately published,
begins. :

During several years that Le held the command in
Mysore, he was fully occupied in organizing the civil and
military administration of the country; and in the execution
of this task he improved his natural talents for business,
military and civil, in all their details, and displayed that
quickness of perception, and that sagacity and self-command,
which have characterized him throughout the whole course
cf his military career. From the beginning, also, he paid
particular attention to the wants of his soldiers, to the
regularity of the supply of provisions, to the management
of the hospitals, and to all the particulars of the commis-
sariat and quartermaster-general’s departments, which con-
stitute half the business of an army, and, to use his own
words, if neglected, “ misfortune and disgrace will be the
result.” In the mean time also, by his justice and hu-
manity, and the strict discipline that he maintained among
the troops, he acquired the confidence of the native popula-
tion of Seringapatam, who, some years after, on his return
from the campaign of Assaye, presented to him an affecting
»ddress, in which * they implored the God of all castes and
of all nations to hear their constant prayer, that, wkenever

* ¢ Wellington Dispatclies,’ vol. i.
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%reater affalrs might call him away from them, to bestow on
im health, glory, and happiness.” *

“To this hour,” says Captain Moyle Sherer (who wrote
about twenty-two years ago), *“the memory of all these
services, and more particularly of those which he rendered
to the terrified and desolate natives in the moment of our
triumph and their distress, is cherished by the aged inhabi-
tants of Seringapatam with a grateful feeling, with which
we are unwilling to disconnect the after-successes of Colonel
Wellesley's life.” 1

The Colonel had not long been military commandant .of
Serii/gapatam, ere he devoted his attention to the apparently
alien subject of finance, coinage, and exchanges, and pre-
pared a paper, in which he gave proof that he had studied
the subjects, and that he “was not less able to project a
measure of finance in the closet, than to guide a column in
the field.” This aptitude for business had been remarked
before by those who enjoyed his intimacy ; and his brother,
the Earl of Mornington, is reported to have said,—*“1I
believe Arthur’s great strength to be rather in the civil
than in the military line.” As a specimen of the versatility
of his talents and of his financial abilities, and at the same
time of his general plain idiomatic style, I give, nearly at
full length, the following letter; merely premising, that
some of our officers wanted to fix the value of money in a
way as unwise and impracticable, as it would have been
arbitrary :—

To Lieutenant-Colonel Crose
¢ Seringapatam Dec. 28, 1799.

“ My peEArR CorLoNEL, . S
“T have written to Campbell a long letter about the nerrick
(rate) of exchange, in which I have endeavoured to explain
the principles of the whole system of shroffing (banking),
against the evils of which his regulations are to guard.
From what T am going to mention to you, however, I am
afraid that if the nerrick at Bangalore is permanently fixed .

* ¢Dispatehes,’ vol. iii. p. 420. André Vieusseux, ‘Military Life of
the Duke of Wellington.’

1 Captain (afterwards Major) Sherer spoke thus of his own knowledge.
He had served in India, as well as under the Duke in the Peninsular war.
T knew him well in 1830, when he was publishing his Military Memoirs
of the Duke; and I would take even this faint opportunity of recording
my respect for a brave, humane, accomplished, and sincerely devout officer.
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I must loosen my system here, and must allow the exchange
to fluctuate. . . . . .

“In all the conversations which you and I have had
upon this intricate subject, we have agreed that the shroff
(banker) derived a profit only by fluctuations. It is, there-
fore, clear that in Seringapatam there is no, or but little,
profit ; and that there would be no shroffs here, if they did
not find one elsewhere, or that they would combine to force
me to allow the exchange to fluctuate. I have lately made
inquiries upon the subject, and I find that the great shroffs*
here have houses at Bangalore, at Sera, and at the principal
places on the Malabar coasts, and they make their profit by
the fluctuation at those places.

« Seringapatam is a place of great security, where there is
much trade, and, of course, exchange of money. In order
to have this security, the shroffs forego the advantages
which they would derive upon the fluctuation in the ex-
change; and they have all the advantages of the fluctnation
at places at no great distance, where the exchange is not
fixed. But fix that exchange, and there is an end of their
means of livelihood ; and, of course, they must either aban-
don the trade entirely, or force me to allow a fluctuation in
the place where they carry it on.

¢ I doubt whether the destruction of our fixed nerrick at
Seringapatam will not be an inconvenience to the country,
as well as to us; and therefore nothing ought to be done
which can endanger it.

“ Let me know your opinion upon this subject. There is
no reason, however, why Campbell should not now alter the
nerrick, so as to make it more convenient to Purneah.

“One of the principles resulting from the position that the
shroff’s profit is made by fluctuation is, that if the exchange
is fixed, it is immaterial what proportions of gold, silver,
and copper are exchanged for one another. The Company's
exchange, therefore, is as convenient as any other, and as
near the standard relative value of the three metals; and as
the fixation of the nerrick was readily adopted by the
shroffs in Seringapatam, in the same manner, if the ex-
change is allowed to fluctuate from month to month in any
place, provided the shroffs can know in one month what
value, relatively to each other, the different coins in use will
bear in the next, it is immaterial to them what the value is.

* Shkroff, originally a Persian word, is only a modification of the well-

kvown Turkish word sereff’ (banker). Shroff appsars to be peculiar to
Southern India. At this time the bankers in Bengal were called seits,



14 MEMOIR OF THE DUKE.

By means of their correspondents and connections in othez
places, they will be prepared for, and will gain by it.

“ What I should recommend would be, that Campbell
should fix a reasonable nerrick, and inform the shroffs that
in fifteen days that shall have effect ; and then- fix another,
which he must likewise communicate to them, and inform
them that that must have effect in the following month.
Thus he will free himself from a part of the grievance felt,
at the same time that his operations will not affect us here,
I shall not relieve your cavalry for some time.

“ Believe me, &c.,

“ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.” *
¢« Tieutenant-Colonel Close.” k

Early in the year 1800, Colonel Wellesley was called from
these peaceful operations into the field, by a daring robber-
chief, named Doondiah Waugh. This man, of Patan or
Mahratta origin, bad served in the armies of Hyder and
Tippoo. He had deserted the Mysoreans during their war
with Lord Cornwallis in 1790, and had placed himself at
the head of a fierce and numerous body of banditti in the
wild country near the Toombudra river. By stratagem
Tippoo had caught him, and he was immured in one of the
dungeons of Seringapatam when we took the place. On the
very day of the assault he was imprudently released by some
of our soldiers, together with other prisoners, who might claim
a better right to the liberty. Returning to his old avo-
cations of plunder and murder, he was joined by some of
Tippoo’s disbanded cavalry, by his former associates, and
by other desperate men. He obtained and kept possession
of some of the principal towns in Bednore, and soon made
himself formidable in that fertile country and the neigh-
bouring territories. With a weak enemy to contend with,
Dhoondiah, like Hyder, might have founded a royal dynasty.
But Lieutenant-Colonel Dalrymple and Colonel Stevenson
were sent against him with some light infantry and some
light horse, and by the middle of August 1799, the banditti
and their chief had been cut up, or driven out of Bednore.
But Dhoondiah, having fled across the frontier of the Mah=
ratta territory, which Lord Mornington would not at present
allow to be violated, found friends and sgrmpat’nizers among
the Mahrattas, and soon reappeared in the field of caraage,
stronger than before. The various operations against him
rost Wellesley more trouble and exertion, and exposed him

# ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. i, p. 68. Edition > 1837.



1800.] WAR WITH BANDITTI 1z

to more personal danger, than any of his campaigns against
regular armies. In February 1800, a fellow waited upon
him, at Seringapatam, and informed him that he had
come from the Mahratta country with a gang engaged by
Dhoondiah to murder him, or carry him off when he should
go out hunting. He desired the robber to go and join his
gang again, and promised him a good reward if he would
enable him to surprise and capture them ; but to show how
little he feared the gang, he went out hunting as usual on
the morrow. One of his aides-de-camp fancied he saw some
twenty men on horseback, lurking about the jungle ; but if
the robbers were really there, they did nothing. By active
niovements, some small bands were soon surprised, but still
the force of the banditti increased and swelled. *Nothing,”
says Captain Sherer, ““is more remarkable in India than the
magic growth of a predatory force. A single adventurer, with
no purse, no possession but horse and sword, if he has once
rode at the head of a body of freebooters, and got a name for
activity and fortune, is sure to besought out and followed by
all whose feet are ‘swift to shed blood, and to divide the
spoil.’. The speck, scarcely visible or noticed in the far dis-
tance, approaches, and, behold, a heavy cloud, black with
the menace of destruction! Thus, Dhoondiah rode south
again with 5,000 horse, and threatened the frontier of
Mysore.” The robber-chief had by this time assumed the
royal title, and in extra or double style, for he called himself
% The King of the Two Worlds.” This was in the month
of April, when Colonel Wellesley was absent on the Malabar
coast, but a force was immediately ordered to take the
field, and he was appointed to the command of it. At the
end of May, when the troops were ready, he wrote to his
brother, the Governor-general :—* Dhoondiah is certainly
a despicable enemy but from circumstances he is one
against whom we have been obliged to make a formidable
preparation. It is absolutely necessary to the peace of this
country, and of Canara and Malabar, that that man should
Le given up to us; and I doubt not that before now you
will have made a demand for him upon the government of
Poona. If we do not get him, we must expect a general
insurrection of all the discontented and disaffected of these
countries. I have information that letters have been
received by most of them, either from him or from others
written in his name, calling upon them to take the oppor-
tunity to rebel against the Company’s government ; and his
invasion of our territory is lcoked to as a circumstanca
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favourable to their views. The destruction of this man,
therefore, is absolutely necessary for our tranquillity; and
nothing will be more easy, if the Mahrattas are really dis-
posed to enter into the plan. If they are not, it will be a
matter of difficulty, and it may become a question whether
the whole power of the Company ought not to be turned to
this one object.”* It was clear, that if these robbers crossed
the Toombudra river, such an injury would be inflicted on
Mysore as would require years to remedy it. Wellesley,
therefore, declined the popularity and the profit of an ex-
pedition to the island of Batavia, which the Governor-
general proposed to him, in company with Admiral Rainier
and the fleet, declaring that, if Dhoondiah were not pre-
viously disposed of, no prospect of advantage or of credit to
be gained should induce him to quit Mysore.} Dhoondiak
had an asylum in the Mahratta country. Wellesley recom-
mended that the English should go through with the
business until that man was given up, even though it were
found necessary to cross the Mahratta frontier in pursuit of
him, which could scarcely be done without risking a quarrel
with the Peishwa, or the court of Poona. His brother, the
Goveynor-general, authorized him to enter the Mahratta
territory, it being evident that the Peishwa was either
unable or unwilling to put down the great depredator.
Our troops had been already collected on the Toombudra,
there being nothing effectual to be done towards destroying
Dhoondiah, or dispersing his force, without crossing that
frontier river. Towards the end of June, Wellesley
joined the troops, crossed the river, and proceeded in person
against the freebooters. Some of the Mahratta chiefs, in-
stead of resenting the infringement of their frontiers, now
took the field, to co-operate with the English commander.
But Dhoondiah and his light-footed bands moved from place
to place with great rapidity, taking and plundering several
towns, and distancing the British sepoys. On the 30th of
June, the robbers defeated one of the Mahratta chiefs in a
pitched battle. Goklah, the Mahratta chief, was killed in
the affair; but the majority of his troops kept together,
and seemed to be determined to continue their co-operation
with the English. Proposals were made, not only at the
Nizam’s court at Hyderabad, but also to Wellesley, to
take off Dhoondiah by means of a plot and assassination.
“Such an arrangement,” said the British commander, “ may
suit very well at Hyderabad, but I think it unbecoming an
* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. i. p. 133. + 1d,, vol. i. p.132
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officer at the head of a body of troops, and I, therefore, de-
cline to have anything more to do with the business than
to hold out a general encouragement. . . . Goversment
have authorized me to offer a reward for him, and I propose
to avail myself of this authority as soon as heis at all pressed,
and I find that his people begin to drop off from him. This
will be, in my opinion, the fittest period. To offer a public
reward by proclamation for a man’s life, and to make a secret
bargain to have it taken away, are very different things: the
one is to be done; the other, in my opinion, cannot, by an
officer at the head of the troops.”* Throwing a bridge over
the river Werdah, and constructing a redoubt for its security,
Wellesley stretched forward towards Hoondgul and Bud-
naghur, being joined in his route by a good many Mahrattas,
who had suffered severely from Dhoondiah’s rapacious and
cruel banditti. That robber, however, was deemed so strong,
and so confident, that it was reported on the 11th of July,
that he was coming down to meet the English force. If
he does come,” said Wellesley, “I shall certainly dash at
him immediately.” And on the 13th, Dhoondiah came down
with his whole army and his guns, to within four miles of
‘Wellesley’s camp, then at Savanore. He examined the camp
for some time, from a hill, and then retired. On the morn-
ing of the 14th, Wellesley threw his baggage into Savanore,
and marched, with five days’ provisions, as light as pos-
sible, to Hoondgul. But Dhoondiah had flitted away to the
Jjungles, behind Dummul. He had, however, left a garrison,
of about 600 men, in Hoondgul, which was surrounded and
stormed on the evering of the 14th, with but trifling loss
to the Company’s troops. On the 15th, Wellesley marched
about seventeen miles to the eastward, to another Mahratta
town, which had been seized by the robbers, but which was
evacuated. On the next day, the British made another long
march to another town, which Dhoondiah’s bands had been
besieging for some weeks in the country manner. The siege
was raised, and the besiegers fled towards the hills and
forests. For want of sufficient cavalry, Wellesley could not
pursue the fugitives ; but Dhoondiah’s people now began to
desert him in numbers, and the Government proclamation,
offering a reward of 30,000 rupees for his head, was now
issued. Moreover, another corps, under Colonel Bowser,
was coming up in another direction, and Colonel Stevenson
was marching against the robbers from another quarter.
On the night of the 19th of July, Wellesley was joined b
* ¢ Wellington Dispatches.’
c
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Goklah’s Mahratta Cavalry, about 1,000, strong ; but, un-
luckily, the draught and carrisge bullocks fell sick, and
his progress was delayed by losing one-half of them. The
British commander was employed for some days in getting
fresh cattle and arranging them in departments for the ser-
vice of the army. Several times, Dhoondiah was very near
him, though he could not be seen. As soon as Wellesley
was enabled to resume his march, he pressed forward for
Dummul. This was a strong, stone fort, well built, with a
dry ditch. A garrison which Dhoondiah had left in it,
seemed disposed to offer a stout resistance, but on the morn-
ing of the 26th of July, Wellesley stormed the fort in three
places, and carried it with a trifling loss, which was chiefly .
attributable to the breaking of the scaling ladders. After
this success, he made three forced marches; and on the
evening of the 30th of July, he surprised an encampment
and the main division of Dhoondiah’s forces (which was
then preparing to cross over the Malpoorba river), drove
into the river or destroyed everybody that was in the camp,
took an elephant, several camels, bullocks, horses, and in-
numerable families, women, children, &c¢. Dhocadiah was
believed not to have been with this part of his army; but
Bubber Jung, one of his chief men, was in the camp, put on
his armour of mail to fight, mounted his horse, and rode him
into the river, where he was drowned. Great numbers met
with the same fate. In all, 5,000 men were driven into the
river, or otherwise destroyed. On the next morning, some
English soldiers swam across the river, which was both
broad and rapid, seized a boat, and got possession of the six
guns on the opposite bank. Both boat and artillery were
given to the Mahrattas to keep them in good humour.
After this catastrophe, Dhoondiah, with the whole of his
remaining force, fled along the banks of the Malpoorba to-
wards the jungles of Kittoor and Soonda. He could not
cross the river for want of boats, and was thus ascending to
its source. He was closely followed by the corps of Bowser
and Stevenson, which had now come up; and Wellesley and
his Mahratta allies moved on the flank of these corps, so as
to sweep the whole country, to the distance of fifteen miles
from the river, and prevent Dhoondiah from doubling on
any of his pursuers, or from fleeing between them. *If
he goes into the jungles,” wrote Wellesley, on the 3rd of
August, “we shall easily come up with his rear; if he takes
to the plain, I will cross upon him with my detachment.”
The robbers moved so rapidly that, though Colonel Steven-
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son got close upon their tail, he could never zut it off : they
went quite into the jungles, and beyond the sources of the
Malpoorba, and then took to the country on the right bank
of that river, and between it and the Gutpoorba. The
transport of the guns and stores of a regular army, by such
a route as Dhoondiah had taken, must have been attended
with great difficulties. Wellesley, therefore, preferred wait-
ing till boats could be constructed, by which he could cross
the river many miles below its source. A detachment from
Colonel Stevenson’s corps, however, still followed Dhoon-
diah's track, and found the road covered with dead camels,
dead bullocks, and people. Colonel Bowser got across the
Malpoorba, and advanced to Shapoor, where he found sad
evidence of the atrocities which had been committed by the
flying robbers. Wellesley crossed the river on the 16th, “to
give Dhoondiah one more run between the Gutpoorba and
the Maipoorba.” “I think,” added he, ¢ that I shall have a
chance of picking up some baggage, &c. ; but it is clear that
I shall never catch him.” Dhoondiah was now in a bad way,
his people were starving, and leaving him, and reproaching
him with their misfortunes. He was retorting, and telling
them to give up their wives and daughters to the Europeans,
whom they were afraid to fight. Even the Patans, the men
of his own-fierce race and tribe, and the hardiest and most
brutal of all the adventurers in India, were leaving him
fast.

At this moment, Wellesley had finished his arrangements,
S0 as to be able to press upon him in a few days upon all
points at once. Several forts were reduced along the banks
of the Malpcorba, and the passes of the river most likely to
be fordable were guarded by the Mahrattas. But in spite
of every precaution, Dhoondiah and his followers returned
suddenly to the bank, crossed the Malpoorba, which had
fallen earlier in the season than was usual, at a ford a little
above its juncture with the Kistna, and made off with all
speed to throw themselves into the Deccan, and ravage that

country of our ally and dependant. The Mahrattas who !

had been placed at the ford would neither face nor follow
the marauders, who left behind them a great quantity of
provisions, arms, ammunition, &c. Ten thousand brin-
?Srrees were also taken by Wellesley, who must have caught

hoondiah on the bank of the river, if the Mahrattas at
the fort had done their duty. These brinjarrees gave a
curious account of Dhoondiah’s system. They told the
English commander that the robber still had about 46,066

c
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of their class in his interest ; that nearly all the brinjarrees
of this part of India, and many on the Deccan, were devoted
to his service. Dhoondiah employed them, and gave them
the means of living and of making good profits in the fol-
lowing manner :—When he approached a village or a town
which was unprotected by a fort, he sent a body of horse
and of brinjarrees, to levy a contribution. He took to him-
self all the money he could get, and gave them at a certain
low price all the grain and all the cattle they could find;
and they afterwards resold the grain and cattle at such
profits as his camp would afford. With a trade so profitable
to themselves, the brinjarrees shut their eyes to the devas-
tations which Dhoondiah committed.

Colonel Wellesley lost no time in following up the
marauders. Crossing the Malpoorba on the 8rd Septem-
ber, he entered the Nizam's territory on the 5th. Not a
few of the Nizam’s own officers betrayed him and his
English allies, doing all that they could to mislead Wel-
lesley and our other commanders. Colonel Stevenson and
some Mahratta and Mogul cavalry now stretched across
the country, in order to prevent a repetition of Dhoondiah’s
successful movement. On the 9th of September, the robber
moved from a camp which he had occupied for some days
towards the Kistna ; but on his road he discovered Colonel
Stevenson’s camp, which he could not hope to pass with-
out fighting. He therefore returned by the way he had
come, and encamped about nine miles in Wellesley’s front,
not knowing that that part of the pursuing army was so
near him. On the evening of the 10th of September, Wel-
lesley moved forward, and met Dhoondiah and his army
at a place called Conahgul. Dhoondiah was then on his
march to the westward, apparently with the design of passing
between the Mahratta and Mogul cavalry, and the detach-
ments under Wellesley, which last he supposed to be fifteen
miles off. Almost as soon as he was seen, he was attacked
by the 19th and 25th dragoons, and 1st and 2nd regiments of
native cavalry. His entire force consisted of cavalry, appa-
rently about 5,000 strong : he was strongly posted with his
rear and left flank covered by the village and rock of
Conahgul. His people stood for some time with apparent
firmness ; but, such was the rapidity and determination of
the charge made by our four regiments, that all of them soon
gave way, and were pursued across the country for many
miles. In order to equalize the length of their line, Welles-
ley had resorted to the bold expedient of forming his four
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regiments, and charging tn one line. Many of the marauders
and Dhoondiah himselt were killed : all the rest were dis-
persed and scattered in small parties over the face of the
country. Part of the haggage had been left in the camp in
the rear, from which Dhoondiah had moved only an hour
before the battle began. All this, with elephants, camels,
&c., was captured by the English cavalry. Among the
baggage was found a son of Dhoondiah, a boy about four
years old. He was conveyed to Wellesley's tent, where every
care was taken cf him.* When Sir Arthur left India, he
placed in the hands of Colonel Symmonds, the judge and
collector at Seringapatam, some hundred pounds for the use
of the boy. When Colonel Symmonds retired from service,
the Honourable Arthur Cole, the resident at the court of
Mysore, took charge of him, and placed him in the rajah’s
service. Salabut Khan, as he was named, grew up a fine,
handsome, intelligent youth.t

Thus ended the dominion and career of the King of the
Two Worlds. “Had you and your regicide army beex out
of the way,” wrote Sir Thomas Munro to Wellesley,
“Dhoondiah would undoubtedly have become an inde-
pendent and powerful prince, and the founder of a new
dynasty of cruel and treacherous sultauns.” The various
Jetters and despatches in which Colonel Wellesley describes
these operations cannot be read without the liveliest inte-
rest. Captain M. Sherer well observes,—* The pursuit and
overthrow of this formidable freebooter are related with a
flow of joyous good-humour, like the story of a successful
hunt; and the phrases, the ‘king of the world’ and *his
majesty’ are repeated with a playfulness, which shows the
extreme pleasure Wellesley felt at his success, and the utter
insignificance 1n which he held the peril or the glory of such
a combat. At the same time, it will be seen how much of
thought and foresight, what clear arrangements for supply,
what prompt decision on routes, what skill in movement,
what unwearied perseverance, were exhibited in the effectual
performance of this service. With Colonel Wellesley duty
was never a trifle. It mattered not how small or great
the object to be attained. He gave to all orders that he
received, his fixed intelligent attention; and to the execu-
tion of them, for the time being, all his mind. Let the
youthful officer consider well this feature in the character

* ‘Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. i. pp. 41-219, ¢ Our Ind’an Empirs, by
C. Mac Farlane.
+ He died o; ololera in 1822.



22 MEMOIR OF THE DUKE.

we place before him. He will find it diztinctive of tha
whole career of Wellesley.”*

In the month of December of this same eventful year
<1800) Colonel Wellesley was appointed to command a
body of troops assembled at Trincomalee, in the island of
Ceylon, for foreign service. The expedition was said to be
intended either for Batavia or the Isle of France. Mean-
time despatches from England arrived, directing 3,000 men
to be sent to the Red §ea, to act against the French in
Upper Egypt, while an expedition from England sent into
the Mediterranean, -under Sir Ralph Abercrombie, was
attacking the French in Lower Egypt. No sooner had
Wellesley read these despatches than he made up his mind,
and, knowing that his force at Trincomalee was the only dis-
posable force, without orders or instructions, which it was
impossible to obtain in time, but for acting without which
he might have been cashiered, he proceeded to act on his
own responsibility, and removed his troops from Ceylon to
Bombay, where they would be some thousand miles nearer
the Red Sea and Egypt. He fully expected to have the
command of this novel Indian expedition ; but, on arriving
at Bombay, he found the command was given to his senior,
Major-General Sir David Baird. This was, apparently, a
severe disappointment. He says, however,—and his word is
not to be doubted,—that he would have accompanied Baird
in a subordinate capacity, but for an illness which obliged
him to remain behind. In the event, all this proved to be
part of his good fortune. The great merit of the novel and
bold expedition from the Indian coast to the banks of the
Nile was in the original conception, and that belonged
neither to Wellesley nor to Baird. Before the expedition
reached Egypt the French were disposed of, and, though
admirably conducted, and abounding in interest and instruc-
tion, it had no opportunity of striking a great blow. If
Wellesley had gone with it, he would have lost the much
more instructive and decisive campaigns against Scindiah
and the Rajah of Berar; and the glory of the battle of
Assaye, which first connected a prestige with his name,
would (if; indeed, it had been fought at all) have belonged
to another. Though he did not accompany General Baird,
he gave him a copy of memoranda, which he had drawn up
on the operations to be pursued on the Red Sea and in
Egypt. This remarkable document shows what diligent
attention he had paid to the subject—what exact informa~

* Military Memoirs,
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tion about Egypt—the policy of the Mameluke bays—the
real situation and prospects of the French, &e. &e.—he had
managed to obtain, even while acting on such a remote and
different field as India.

It was impossible for the Earl of Mornington to dis-
approve of the bold movement his brother had made from
Ceylon; but still he thought it ought not to be set up asa
precedent, and he required an official explanation of the
grounds and motives which had induced the Colonel thus
to act upon his own judgment, without waiting for orders.
The decided, clear-headed soldier stated his motives at full
length, in a remarkable letter, dated Bombay, 23rd March
1801.*

Colonel Wellesley made a second stay in Mysore of nearly
two years. IHe was promoted to be Major-general in April
1802, and in February 1803 he was appointed to com-
mand a force assembled at Hurrihoor, near the Mahratta
territory.

The Mahrattas, who had often disturbed the tranquil-
lity of our Indian empire before the year 1803, were at
this period both very threatening and very formidable.
Civil war, attended by unutterable horrors, raged between
the Mabhratta chiefs, Holkar and Scindiah. The Peishwa,
the nominal head of the Mahratta confederation, was looked
upon as an instrument in the hands of the strongest.
Dowlut Rao Scindiah, who ruled over Malwa and Candeish,
had an army of regular infantry and artillery, which had
been formed by his father, with the assistance of M. de
Boigne, a native of Savoy, and was now under the direction
of a French officer of the name of Perron. Scindiah exer-
cised paramount influence over the Peishwa at Poona.
Holkar, another clever, ambitious chieftain, who had long
been at variance with Scindiah, suddenly crossed the Ner-
budda, and marched with a large cavalry force on Poona,
which he entered, after defeating the combined army of
Scindiah and the Peishwa. The Peishwa escaped to the
coast, and put himself under British protection, whilst
Holkar placed one of his relations on the musnud of
Poona. There could be no peace or security for any of
gle (xlleighbouring states, so long as this state of things

sted.

The Madras army, under Lieutenant - general Stuart,

* For this admirable letter, see ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. i. p. 801,
Messrs. Clowes’s edition of 1837. The letter ought to be diligently studied by
every young officer, as ought also the paper upon the Egyptian expedition.
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was ordered to advance into the Mahratta territory, for tha
gvurpose of reinstating the Peishwa, and Major-General

ellesley was appointed to command the select corps in
advance, with which he was to march rapid'y upon Poona.
Having received information that Flolkar’s people intended
to burn Poona on his approach, he pushed on with the
cavalry, and performing a march of sixty miles in thirty
nours, reached that town on the 20th of April, and saved
it from destruction. Holkar’s army retired without fight-
ing, and in the following month our ally, the Peishwa,
re-entered his capital. Scindiah, however, and the Rajah
of Berar, another powerful Mahratta chief, were together
in the field, and Holcar was expected to join them.

The state of affairs was now more dangerous than ever,
for the hollow peace of Amiens had been concluded, and the
French had just recovered their Indian possessions. A great
man, one that united political genius with military skill and
high courage, was wanted for the crisis ; and, without incurring
the slightest risk of being charged with partiality, the Earl
of Mornington could name his own brother. Accordingly, the
Governor-General appointed General Wellesley to the chief
command of all the British and allied troops serving in the
territories of the Peishwa and the Nizam, with full power to
direct all the political affairs of the British government in
the said territories.*

« After some fruitless negotiations with Scindiah, General
Wellesley marched from Poona to the north, and took by
escalade the town of Ahmednuggur, which was garrisoned
by Scindiah's troops. On the 24th of August he crossed
the Godavery river, and entered Aurungabad on the 29th.
The enemy manifested an intention to cross the river to the
eastward and steal a march upon Hyderabad, but were pre-
vented by General Wellesley marching along the left bank
of the river, and placing himself between them and that
city. On the 12th of September the British General was
encamped twenty miles north of the Godavery. Colonel
Stevenson, with the Nizam’s auxiliary force, was at some
distance from him. Scindiah, who had a large mass of
irregular cavalry, avoided a general engagement, being
araid of British discipline, and only thought of carrying
on a predatory warfare, supporting his men at the expense
of the subjects of the Nizamn and other allies of the English,
and wearing out the British troops by continual marches

* See ‘Dispatches, Fort William, 26th and 27th of June, vol. ii. pp.
40-56, Messrs. Clowey’s editinn of 1837.
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and partial affrays. About the middle of September
General Wellesley learned that Scindiah had been reinforced
by sixteen battalions of infantry, commanded by French
officers, and a large train of artillery, and that the whole of
his force was assembled near the banks of the Kaitna
river.,”*

On the 21st of September, General Wellesley had a con-
ference with Colonel Stevenson, and a combined attack on
the enemy was concerted. The General and the Colonel
were to advance by two parallel routes round the hills
between Budnapoor and Jaulna, so as tn fall at the same
time upon the Mahrattas. Wellesley arrived at Naulwah
on the 23rd, and there learned that Scindiah and the Rajah
of Berar had moved off in the morning with all their cavalry,
and that their infantry were about to follow, though, as
yet, they were in camp, at the distance of six miles. He
determined to march upon this infantry, and cut it up at
once. Colonel Stevenson, who was then about eight miles
on Wellesley’s left, was informed of this intention, and
directed to advance. The General moved forward with the
19th dragoons, and three regiments of native cavalry, to
reconnoitre, his infantry, consisting of two British and five
native battalions, following the horse at the best of their
speed.
pAf'ter a rapid march of about four miles, Wellesley saw,
from an elevated plain, not only their infantry, but the
whole force of the Mahrattas, nearly 50,000 men, encamped
on the north side of the Kaitna river, the banks of which
were very steep. The Mahratta right, consisting of cavalry,
was about Bokerdon; their infantry corps, connected with
the cavalry, and having with them ninety pieces of artillery,
were encamped near the village of Assaye, or Assye.

Shout Britain for the battle of Assye,
For that was a day,
When we stood in our array,
Like the lion tnrn’d to bay,
And the battle-word was *“ Conquer or die I”¢

Although the enemy were so much stronger than he had
expected to find them, no thought of retreat was entertained.

* André Vieusseux, ¢ Military Life of the Duke.’

t This is part of a superb Indian war-song, which celebrated Wel-
lesley’s conquests over the Mahrattas, See ¢ Quarterly Review,” vol. ii.
ﬂ. 427. 1 knew the whole song in my childhood, having so often

eard it snng by fellow-clansmen, and other Highlanders who had served
with the Juke in these his earlier aud brilliant campaigns,
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Wellesley resolved to attack the infantry on its left and
rear, and for that purpose he moved his little army to a ford
some distance beyond the enemy’s exireme left. Leaving
the Mysore and other irregular cavalry to watch the
Mahratta cavalry, and crossing the river with only his
regular horse and infantry, he passed the ford, ascended
the difficult steep bank, and formed his men in three lines,
two of infantry, and the third of horse. This was effected
under a brisk cannonade from the enemy’s artillery.
Scindiah, or the French officer who directed his movements,
promptly made a corresponding change in his line, giving a
new front to his infantry, which was now made to rest its right
on the river, and its left upon the village of Assaye and the
Juah stream, which flowed in a direction parallel with the
Kaitna. The Mahrattas’ numerous and well-served cannon
did terrible execution among our advancing lines, knocking
over men and bullocks, and completely drowning the weak
sound of our scanty artillery. At one moment, such a gap
was made by cannon-ball in our right, that some of the
Mabhratta cavalry attempted to charge through it; but the
British cavalry in the third line came up, and drove back
the Mahrattas with great slaughter. %‘inding his own
artillery of little or no use (the guns could not be brought
up for lack of bullocks), General Wellesley gave orders that
it should be left in the rear, and that the infantry should
charge with the bayonet. His steady resolute advance, in
the teeth of their guns, had already awed the Mahrattas,
who would not now stand to meet the collision of the bright
English steel : their infantry gave way, and abandcned their
terrible guns. One body of them formed again, and pre-
sented a bold front; but Lieutenant-colonel Maxwell
charged them with the British cavalry, broke and dispersed
them, and was killed in the moment of victory. Wellesley’s
sepoys having procceded too far in pursuit, many of Scindiah’s
artillerymen, who had thrown themselves down among the
carriages of their gunsas though they were dead, got to their
feet again, and turrced their pieces against the rear of the ad-
vancing sepoys; and at the same time the Mahratta cavalry,
which had been hovering round throughout the battle, were
still near : but Maxwell’s exploit speedily Jed to the silencing
of this straggling artillery fire, and to the headlong flight of
Scindiah’s disciplined infantry, who went off, and left ninety
pieces of cannon, nearly all brass and of the proper calibres,
in the hands of the conqueror. General Wellesley led
the 78th Britich infantry in person against the village
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of Assaye, which was not cleared without a desperate coma
bat. It was near dark night when the firing ceased. The
splendid victory cost General Wellesley twenty-two officers
and 386 men killed, and fifty-seven officers and 1,526 men
wounded, excluding the irregular cavalry, which remained
on the other side of the river, and had not been engaged :
the total number of killed and wounded amounted to nearly
one-third of his force. The general himself had two horses
killed under him,—one shot, and the other piked : every one
of his staff officers had one or two horses killed, and his
orderly’s head was knocked off by a cannon-ball as he rode
close by his side. The enemy, who fled towards the Ad-
juntee Ghaut, through which they had passed into the

eccan, left 1,200 dead, and a great number badly wounded,
on the field of battle.

Colonel Stevenson, who had encountered some unexpected
obstacles, did not arrive at Assaye until the day after the
combat, when he was immediately despatched after the flying
enemy.*

While Generul Wellesley was defeating the Mahrattas in
the south, General Lake gained a complete victory at Ally-
ghur, in the plains of Hindostan, over another part of their
force under M. Perron, which had occupied Delhi. The
Mahratta power was now broken, and after several marches
and countermarches, and desultory negotiations, Scindiah
asked and obtained a truce at the beginning of November;
but the Rajah of Berar still kept the field, and General
Wellesley, coming up with him in the plains of Argaum,
found Scindiah’s cavalry, together with the Rajah’s forces,
drawn up in battle-array. The battle of Argaum was fought
on the 29th of November 1803. The British line advanced
in the best order; the 74th and 78th regiments were
attacked by a large body of Persian mercenaries in the
service of the Rajah of Berar, which was entirely destroyed.
Scindiah’s cavalry charged one of the Company’s regiments,
and was repulsed, when the whole Mahratta line retired in
disorder, leaving thirty-eight pieces of cannon and all their
ammunition in the hands of the British. The British cavalry
pursued the enemy for several miles, taking many elephants,
camels, and much baggage. Colonel Stevenson soon after
took by storm the strong fort of Gawilghur, and this ex-
ploit concluded the campaign. The Rajah of Berar now
sued for peace, and General Wellesley drew up the con-

itiona of the treaty, by which the Rajah ceded to the Coms
* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. ii. pp. 823-6.
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pany the province of Cuttack with the distiict of Balasore,
and dismissed his European officers. ~ Scindiah was glad to
follow the example, and on the 30th of December he signed
a treaty of peace, by which he ceded to the Company all the
country between the Jumna and the Ganges, besides nu-
merous forts. In the following February (1804), General
Wellesley crossed the Godavery to put down the indepen-
dent freebooting parties, which were carrying devastation
through the West Deccan. Following them rapidly trom
hill to hill, he gradually dispersed them, and took their
guus, ammunition, and baggage. The fatigue attending
these operations was such, that General Wellesley, after a
lapse of many years, still spoke of it as the most laborious
service in which he had been engaged. Peace was thus
restored to the peninsula of India.*

In March 1804, General Wellesley visited Bombay,
where he was received with all honour. The British in-
babitants of the place presented an address to him, in
which they declared, with equal brevity and truth, that he
was 'a commander, “great in the cabinet as in the field.”
They voted him a sword of the value of 1,000/, and the
officers of the army of the Deccan gave him a service of
plate of the value of 2,000 guineas, with the inscription,—
“ Battle of Assaye, September 23rd, 1803."

But these were trifling tributes compared with the respect
(the admiration falling little short of idolatry) which was
paid to the statesman and soldier, not only by his com-
panions in arms, but by all branches of the Service—by
every man in India that knew his exploits, and approached
his person.

Considering the climate and the seasons, his fatigues,
during the Mahratta war, had been prodigious ; but, happily,
his constitution was vigorous and sound, and his frame
admirably calculated to sustain the hardest work and the
hardest living. “ General Wellesley,” says Captain Sherer,
“was a little above the middle height, well limbed, and
muscular ; with little incumbrance of flesh beyond that
which gives shape and manliness to the outline of the figure;
with a firm tread, an erect carriage, a countenance strongly
patrician, both i feature, profile, and expression, and an
appearance remarkable and distinguished: few could ap-
proach him on any duty, or on any subject requiring his
serious attention, without being sensible of a something
sitange and penetrating in his clear light eye. Nothing

* André Vieaseeur's * #uitary Life of the Duke of Wellington.’
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could be more simple and straightforward than the matter
of what he uttered; nor did he ever in his life affect any
peculiarity or pomp of manner, or rise to any coarse, weak
loudness in his tone of voice. It was not so that he gave
expression to excited feeling.

* It may be here with propriety observed, and it is impor-
tant to the younger officers who may read this, that General
Wellesley was a man temperate in all his habits; using the
table, but above its pleasures: and it is not to be found on
record, that he was ever the slave of any of those frailties,
without an occasional subjection to which few men pass the
fiery ordeal of a soldier’s life. He was, however, much in
camps ; and a camp is so truly the nursery of manly virtues,
that few officers advanced in life can look back upon days so
unoffending, or nights of such light repose, as those passed
in the ready field. To sum all up, he was a British noble-
man serving his king and country with heart and hand ; and
while British noblemen continue to do thus, may their
lands be broad, their mansions wide, and their names
honoured !

On the 24th of June 1804, General Wellesley broke
up the army in the Deccan, and in the following month
he returned to Seringapatam, where he received from the
native inhabitants that grateful, and affecting address
which has already been cited. The voice of faction could
afterwards utter the calumnious falsehood, that Welling-
ton was a merciless man—a man of iron, with no more
feeling than one of his guns. But during the whole of
his carecer in India, as afterwards in Portugal and Spain,
though ever firm and just, he was invariably inclined to
humanity and *mercy, whenever they could be exercised
without detriment to justice or to the safety of others. His
despatches contain innumerable proofs of this kind disposi-
tion. The following is very characteristic in its expression :—
The Mahratta Peishwa whom we had helped to restore, like
most Indian princes, knew nothing of forgiveness, being
“callous to everything but money and revenge.” General
Wellesley interposed to screen some Mahratta chiefs from
his vengeance. * The war,” said he, “will be eternal, if
nobody is ever to be forgiven; and I certainly think that
the British Government cannot intend to make the British
troops the instruments of the Peishwa’s revenge. * * *
When the power of the Company is so great, little dirty
passions must not be suffered to guide its measures.”*

* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. ii,
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In July 1804, our General was at Calcutta, assisting in im~
portant military deliberations. The memoranda which he
then wrote on the political and military affairs of India, are
full of forethought, sagacity, and practical wisdom. They fill
a considerable part of the third volume of his immortal des
spatches—a work which is by far the best monument of his
fame. In the course of the same year, he was again in
the Deccan and again in Mysore. In February 1805, he
Tepaired for the last time to Madras, and obtained leave to
return to England. About the same time, his appointment
by the king to be a Knight Companion of the Order of the
Bath was known in India, and published in the general
orders. This honour was conferred “in consideration of
the eminent and brilliant services of Major-general Wel-
lesley,” and it had been determined * that his creation and
investiture shall not wait for his succession to a regular
vacancy therein.”* In the following month of March, the
thanks of both houses of parliament for his services were
likewise published in the general orders. On the 9th of
that month he took leave of his army, in a brief and manly
address, dated from Fort St. George. After expressing the
regret he felt in bidding farewell to officers and troops with
whom he had served so long, he said,—

“Upon every occasion, whether in garrison or in the
field, the Major-general has had reason to be satisfied with
their conduct : he once more returns them his thanks, and
assures them that he shall never forget their services, or cease
to feel a lively interest in whatever may concern them,

“He earnestly recommends to the officers of the army
never to lose sight of the general principles of the military
service, to preserve the discipline of the troops, and to
encourage in their respective corps the spirit and sentiments
of gentlemen and of soldiers, as the most certain road to
the attainment of everything that is great in their profes-
sion.”

These were not pro formd words, but deeply-felt sentiments.
‘Whenever, in after life, this illustrious man found an officer
or soldier who had served worthily under him in India, he

ave some substantial proof that he had not ceased to feel the

ively interest which he had professed.

Sir Arthur Wellesley landed in England in September
1805. Again his rest was short. In November of the
same year he was sent to. Hanover, with the command of
a brigade in the expedition under Lord Cathcart, which

* Jetter of Lord Camden to the Governor-General,
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was intended to make a diversion, while France was engaged,
on the banks of the Danube, against Russia and Austria.
The wretched policy, the mean tergiversation of the Prus-
gian cabinet, and the victory obtained by Buonaparte at
Austerlitz in the month of December, disconcerted the plans
of the coalition, and the English returned from Hanover te
England in February 1806, without having had any oppor-
tunity of gaining laurels.

Sir Arthur Wellesley was now appointed to the command
of a brigade of infantry quartered at Hastings. In the pre-
ceding month of January, on the death of the Marquis
Cornwallis, he had been made colonel of his own highly-
prized 33rd regiment. In the same year he was elected
member for the borough of Rye, and from his seat in the
House of Commons he ably defended the Indian adminis~
tration of his brother, which was furiously assailed in parlia-
ment by a crazy person of the name of Paull, who had
begun life as a tailor in Perth, but who had subsequently
been some years in India.

In April 1807, Sir Arthur was appointed Chief Secretary
for Ireland, and in that capacity sworn a member of his
Majesty's Privy Council. He accepted this civil appointment
on the condition that it should not interfere with his mili-
tary promotion or pursuits. The Duke of Richmond was
Lord-Lieutenant of that part of the United Kingdom. Sir
Arthur was received with delight by his old friends in Ire-
land. I regret that I have no better authority (in print)
than Sir Jonah Barrington, who says—‘ he was still in all
material traits Arthur Wellesley, but it was Arthur Wel-
lesley judiciously improved.” (lommon report, however,
affirms that he had the same unassuming carriage as when
he was only a young aide-de-camp; that he was most atten-
tive to business; that his public acts were distinguished by
impartiality and good sense, and that he introduced several
valuable reforms—particularly in the police of Dublin.

But he could not long be spared for the discharge of duties
like these. In August of the same year (1807) he was ap-

ointed to a command in the expedition sent to Copen-

agen, under Lord Cathcart and Admiral Gambier, having
for his companions and coadjutors General Lord Rosslyn,
Major-general Robert Mac Farlane, and his able and fast
friend Lieutenant- colonel George Murray, who acted as
Quartermaster-general, and was qualifying himself for that
most important post, the duties of which he afterwards per-
formed so admirably in the Spanish peninsula.
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On the 29tk of August, General Wellesley’s division
attacked the Danish troops in a strong entrenched position
at Kioge, carried their works, entered the town of Kioge, and
took a large military store, with nearly 1,200 prisoners. Thig
was the only action of any importance by land. The bom-
bardment of Copenhagen —which followed the affair of
Kioge—having induced the crowned prince of Denmark to

" listen to terms, General Wellesley, with Lieutenant-colonel
Murray and Sir Home Popham, captain of the fleet, was
appointed by Lord Cathcart to draw up the articles of the
capitulation. These articles were agreed to by the Danish
government on the 7th of September; and the Danish fleet
and naval stores—which must otherwise have fallen into
the clutches of the French—were delivered to the British
Government, to be kept until the conclusion of a general
peace. Sir A. Wellesley returned to England with this
very successful expedition, and for a short time resumed
his duties as chief secretary for Ireland. In the following
February (1808) he received, in his place in the Commons,
the 11trhanks of that house for his important services in Den-
mark.

By this time a military force was assembled at Cork, and
ready to move wherever its services might be required. It
had been originally intended to act against the Spanish
colonies in South America, for Spain had been forced into
an alliance with France, and had been several years at open
war with England. But the unprincipled invasion of Spain
and Portugal by Buonaparte, his kidnapping the Spanish
royal family, and the insults offered by his soldiery to the
people of the Peninsula, kindled a consuming fire in those
countries, and gave a new destination to this English force.
‘The enraged Spaniards sent to London to implore for assis-
tance. Juntas, or local governments, were formed, and
peace was proclaimed between Spain and England. It was
then resolved to send the military force assembled at Cork
to the coast of the Peninsula, and Sir Arthur, who had
been promoted to the rank of Licutenant-general in April,
was appointed in June to take the command. The force
consisted of about 9,000 infantry, and one regiment of light
dragoons—the 20th. A small army this to face the strong
legions of the Fronch, who were all flushed with victory and
the growing coniidence that they were invincible. But the
British Government promised early reinforcements to the
extent of 10,000 more men.

Sir Arthur was in Dublin when (on or about the 3rd of
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July)* he received his final instructions from Lord Castle-
reagh, who nobly supported him in the arduous career upon
which he was now entering, and who proved himself a far
better war minister than any England had known for many
years. With his habitual promptitude, the General prepared
for an immediate departure. He wrote to his friend Major-
general Hill, —¢* I rejoice extremely at the prospect I have
of serving again with you, and I hape we shall have more to
do than we had on the last occasion on which we were to-
gether. I propose to leave town (Dublin) for Cork. * *

* * * DPray, let me hear from you, and acquaint me
with all your wants, and whether I can do anything for you
her. You will readily believe that I have plenty to do in
closing a civil government in such a manner as that 1 may
give it up, and then in taking the command of a corps for
service ; but I shall not fail to attend to whatever you may
write to me.”t By the 9th of July he had completed the
embarkation of the troops, but contrary winds delayed the
departure until the 12th. On the 13th, the fleet was clear
of the Irish coast, aad then Sir Arthur parted company
with it, sailing in the Crocodile frigate for Corunna.

While he is crossing the Bay of Biscay a few words may
be said on the nature of the struggle in which he was to
engage, and of the prevailing temper of the Spaniards. The
Peninsula had now become nothing less than the field on
which the great question was to be decided,—whether France,
through Napoleon Buonaparte and his marshals and gene-
rals, was to govern Europe, and dictate as she pleased to all
other states—England included ? The Spanish people were
in many respects fitted for the struggle. And here I quote
with pleasure a passage written by an officer in our army,
who knows that people well, and who had previously wit-
nessed the horrors of French warfare in other ccuntries.
“ They (the Spaniards) were determined even to obstinacy,
enduring of privation, proud and reserved, prone to enthus-
siasm, and, generally speaking, ignorant of worldly affairs.
This last deficiency assisted them greatly in their resistance.
If they had been better acquainted with the history of
Turope ; if they had been more calculating, commercial, and
refined, they might have shrunk from the fearful contest.
They might have paused ere they attempted to face, with

* Viscount Castlereagh’s letter is dated Downing-street, June 30th.
We had then neither railways nor steam-boats, and the letter was pro-
bably three days en route.

+ ¢ Wellington Dispatches ” vol. iv. p 19,
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their raw battalions, those fierce and well-appointed pha-
lanxes which had fought and conquered in a hundred
pitched battles, and at whose encounter the splendid arics
of Austria, Russia, and Prussia had been dissolved as by the
touch of a magician’s wand. If they had known the stern
determination of Napoleon to carry his point at any cost,
and the merciless devotedness of his officers and soldiers to
his absolute will; if they had thought beforehand of the
blood, the tears, and the calamities that would cover their
peaceful valleys and sunny plains, of their towns taken by
storm, of their villages given up to the flames, of the shrieks
of despair of their outraged wives and daughters, hearts as
stout as theirs might have paused ere they drew upon them-
selves the awful visitation of the French. Luckily for the
common cause of mankind, luckily in the end for Spain as a
country, and for England too, Spanish pride and Spanish
indifference thought not of these things; they thought only
of the hated invader, their hereditary enemy, who had in-
sidiously introduced himself into their cities and fortresses,
who had shamefully abused their confidence: and they felt
that he must be driven from the Spanish soil, for France
and Spain could not commune together south of the Pyre-
nees.”* Unfortunately for the Spanish people, many of
their leaders were unworthy of taking the lead.

Sir Arthur Wellesley reached Corufia on the 20th of
July, and, according to Lord Castlereagh’s instructions, he
put himself in immediate communication with the Junta of
Gallicia. The Spanish deputies, who had gone to England
from the Asturias and Gallicia, had requested the employment
of an auxiliary force, to effect a diversion, by landing on
some point of the coast of Portugal, in which kingdom the
insurrection had not then begun. Their own native pro-
vinces, the mountainous regions of the Asturias and Gallicia,
were as yet untouched by the French ; they formed, or were
thought to form, the main strength of the Spanish patriots
in the north ; and the deputies, for their own immediate use,
had asked only for arms and money. Some doubts were
reasonably entertained by the British Government whether
the Asturians and Gallicians would make the best use of
these succours, and whether Spanish armies and irregular
tumaltuary levies could drive the French out of the
Peninsula, without the assistance of a disciplined English
army.

Sﬂ Arthur, in his first conferences with the Junta of

* André Vieusseux's ¢ Military Life of the Duke.
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Gallicia, found those Spaniards full of confidence. Although
the battle of Rio Seco had been lost, and the battle of
Baylen not yet won, they declined the assistance of a British
auxiliary force ; but they advised General Wellesley to land
in Portugal, to rescue that kingdom from the French, and
thus open a regular communication between the north and
south of Spain. He was assured that in many places
detachments of the French had been defeated by the Spanish

eople, and that whole armies of them would soon be anni-
Eilated. Some money, which he brought with him and
gave them, elated the members of the Junta still more
He could not see, either in them or in the inhabitants of the
town, any symptom of alarm, or any doubt of their final
success.* The Junta said that they could put any num-
ber of men into the field, if they were only amply pro-
vided with money and arms. His quick eye saw, at a
glance, that a great deal more was wanting than arms and
money, and that the disinclination to receive the assistance
of British troops was founded, in a great degree, on Spanish
pride, and on the objection to give the command of their
own troops to British officers, although it was but too
apparent that they had few or no capable Spapish officers.
It was this objection, this pride, which led to many subse-
quent reverses and disgraces in the field, and which rendered
the Spanish armies for a long time of little or no avail. The
Portugnese showed less pride and more docility, and therehy
rapidly became excellent troops in the hands of British
officers, and under the command of the great British general.
Sir Arthur thought that Buonaparte would now carry on
his operations by means of large armics, and would make
every effort to gain possession of the northern provinces of
Spain, which could be done only by the invasion and pos-
session of the Asturias; and that, therefore, our Government
ought to direct its attention more particularly to that impor-
tant point, and endeavour to prevail upon the Asturians to
receive a body of our troops. N9 chance or contingency
escaped him; he thought it possible that, if Buonaparte
found it impracticable to penetrate by land, he would make
some sudden effort to reach the Asturias by sea; and he
therefore recommended the reinforcing of the English
squadron on that coast. He suggested also to the Junta
at Coruila to fit out the Spanish ships at Ferrol for this
service ; but they declined the measure. He saw all the
difficulties of the case in their true light, and at once told

® ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. iv. pp. 35-41,
D2
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our ministers, who were far too sanguine, and who appear
to have believed that the Spaniards had far more resources
than they possessed, that they must assist all the Spanish
provinces with money, arms, and ammunition. He referred
to the great division of political power caused by the es-
tablishment of so many Juntas; but he was not quite certain
that cach of the kingdoms of Spain should not be governed
by its own Junta, and he was convinced that the general
zeal and exertions of each were greater at present than they
would be if the whole kingdom were under the direction of
one body.* The Junta at Corufia recomended him not to
land at Lisbon, or in the neighbourhood of the French
army. llis own views, and his general instructions, were
in favour of a landing in Portugai; but he determined
not to fix upon the spot until he obtained more accurate
information.

On the night of the 21st of July, he set sail from Coruiia,
to look after the transports and the fleet that were conveying
his army.. The fleet joined him the next day at sea, and he
then sailed instantly for Oporto, where he arrived on the
24th. By this time, Oporto and the neighbourhood were in
full insurrection ; and he found that the warlike bishop had
gathered together about 3,000 mep, full of ardour, but badly
armed and equipped. He also learned from the bishop,
that about 5,000 Portuguese regular troops were stationed
at Coimbra, on the Mon:fego river, and that there were about
12,000 peasants who only wanted arming, clothing, and
disciplining. Some of the more regular levies had got a
thousand muskets from the English fleet ; but others, of the
game class, had no fire-arms except fowlingpieces. Of a
corps of Spanish infantry, which ought to have been at
Oporto, he could hear nothing, except that it had been
stopped on the frontier, and that whether it would come
at all was doubtful. Having made arrangements with the
Bishop of Oporto for a supply of mules and horses, General
Wellesley sailed to the south as far as the Tagus, to get
fresh and correcter information as to the strength and posi-
tion of the French troops in and near Lisbon.

Nothing was left to hazard, or to that second and third-
hand information which had so often misled inferior com-
manders.t When he had obtained ample knowledge of
the strength and disposition of Junot’s forces, he fixed upon

* Despatches to Viscount Castlereagh, 1n ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. iv.

4 ¢Pictorial History of England,” ¢ History of the Reign of Geo. ILL'
by G, L. Craik and C. Mac Farlane. Vol, iv.
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Mondego Bay as his proper landing-place. The small town
and fort of Figueira, on the southern bank of the Mondego,
had been carried by the Portuguese insurgents, and were
now occupied by 300 marines belonging to the English fleet,
and higher up the river, at Coimbra, were posted the 5,000
Portuguese regulars.

On the 30th of July, General Wellesley anchored in the
bay ; and on the 1st of August, the troops were landed near
the town of Figueira, according to orders and rules most
precisely laid down by the General. On the 5th of August,
General Spencer joined from Cadiz, with about 4,000 men,
thus raising the entire force, under Sir Arthur’s command,
to 13,000 foot, and 400 or 500 cavalry; but 150 of the 20th
Light Dragoons were dismounted.*

Having landed our hero on the sceune of his glory—on
the ground where he was first to measure swords with the
invincible French,—I close this Book.

BOOK IL

Tue army which took the field from the shore of Mondego
Bay, was in many respects very different from that in
which Wellesley had served in the Netherlands. Although
there yet remained something to do (particularly in the
commissariat department), there had been great improve-
ments since the Duke of York’s unfortunate campaigns in
1794-5. General Jarrey, an old French officer and royal~
ist emigrant, who had served under Frederic the Great, had
published his works on the marching of armies, castrame-
tation, and other points ; and his good lessons had not been
thrown away. The military academy at Marlow had been
opened, and had sent forth accomplished pupils. Even as
early as the year 1801, in Sir Ralph Abercrombie’s Egyptian
expedition, the French had been forcibly struck by the
superior style of our operations ; and the science and thorough
efficiency of most of our engineers and staff-officers had
challenged their admiration. The main strength of every
army, and the pride of our own—our infantry—was always
® < Wellington Dispatches,” vol. iv. pp. 50-68.
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an infantry to beat the world when properly commanded;
and now there was small chance of that blundering igno-
rance and fatuity which, since the days of the great Duke of
Marlborough, had so often made the valour and all the high
qualitics of the British soldier ineffectual.

The French force in Portugal, under Junot, consisted of
about 17,000 men, 3,000 of whom were shut up in garrisons
at Almeida, Elvas, Setubal, and other places. There, there-
fore, remained about 14,000 men for the defence of Lisbon.
Junot's communications with the French in Spain were cut
off, for, since the surrender of Dupont, (at Baylen) the
Spanish patriots were masters of Andalusia and Estre-
madura, and in old Castile the French corps had not ad-
vanced westward farther than Benavente, being observed
and checked by the Spanish army of Gallicia. About the
same time the French, weakened and alarmed by the sur-
render of Dupont with his entire division, hastily aban-
doned Madrid, and retired to the Ebro. A clear stage
was, therefore, left for the contest in Portugal between Wel-
lesley and Junot, whose respective forces, disposable for the
field, were nearly equal. But the French had the advantage
of a considerable body of cavalry, while the English were
very weak in that arm.

Our advanced guard moved from their ground upon the
Mondego on the 9th of August, taking the route to Lisbon,
and was followed on the 10th by the main body of the army.
Though provisions were not overabundant, and the heat
was somewhat oppressive, all the men were in high spirits;
they had confidence in their great leader and in their officers ;
and the brilliant, glowing atmosphere, and the novelty
and beauty of the scenery, enlivened the hearts of the
dullest. “Upon this wide theatre of fierce and sanguinary
warfare was now first heard the careless whistle and the
cheerful laughter of the English soldier. He, stranger alike
to the violent and vindictive feelings which animated the
invader and the inhabitant, marched gaily forward, looking
for a combat as for some brave pastime.”*

On the 10th of August our advanced-guard entered the
town of Leiria, where it found General Freire with his
Portuguese force of 5,000 men. Freire, after allowing his
troops to appropriate to themselves the stores which, by an
sgreement between the Junta of Oporto and Sir Arthur,
were intended tor the English, loudly demanded that his
corps should henceforth be furnished with provisions by Sir

; * Captain Moyle Sherer’s ¢ Military Memoirs.’
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Arthur's commissariat! This was, indeed, a preposterous
demand to make to a foreign general, who had just landed
his troops, and who must depend for their sugport mainly
on such provisions as the country which he had come to
deliver could afford to sell him for money.* Sir Arthur
refused compliance, and thereupon Freire refused to advance
with the English. With much difficulty he was afterwards
prevailed upon to allow about 1,600 of his men to join Sir
Arthur: with the rest Freire remained behind at Leiria.
As the English advanced, the insurrection became general
throughout the country, but, for want of arms, the people
could do nothing against the French, who perpetrated
abominable massacres at Evora, Guarda, Villavigosa, and
other places.

Junot having abandoned the provinces, keeping only the
fortresses of Klvas and Almeida, now collected his forces
in the neighbourhood of Lisbon. He sent a division of
about 5,000 men, under Delaborde, towards Leiria, to
keep the English in check; and he ordered Loison, who
had returned from a butchering expedition into Alemtejo,
and had crossed the Tagus at Abrantes, to join Delaborde
at Leiria. But the rapid advance of Wellesley obliged
Delaborde to fall back before he could be joined again by
Loison. /

Delaborde, however, determined to make a stand alone
in the favourable position of Roli¢ca, hoping every moment
to sce Loison appear on his right. It was pleasant and
%icturesque ground this on which our first affair in the

eninsula took place. The romantic village of Rolica,
with its vines, olive groves, and quiet gardens, stands upon
an eminence at the head of that valley, in the midst of
which, distant about’ eight miles, ries the insulated hill
Obidos, crowned by an old Moorish fort. In front of
Rolica, upon a small plain, on the table-land, Laborde drew
ap his division in order of defence. The favourable points
upon the hills on either side, and in the valley below, were
occupied by his outposts. Behind him, scarcely a mile to
the rear, the steep and difficult ridge of Zambugeira offered
a second position parallel to the first, and stronger than it.
The valley leading from Obidos to Roliga is walled in on
the left by rocks and rude heights, rising one above the
other till they are finally lost in the lofty dark summits of
the Sierra de Baragueda.t Up this valley, General Wel-

* A. Vieusseux’s ¢ Military Life of the Duke.! ¢ Wellington Dispatches.'
+ Captain Moyle Sherer,
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lesley, after driving the French pickets from Obidos,
marched on the 17th to attack Delaborde, with 9,000 men,
all British troops, except 250 Portuguese cavalry and 400
light troops of that nation. But at the same time, twa
columns of attack were moving against the French; that
on the left was conducted by General Ferguson along thz
lower ridges of the Sierra de Baragueda, being destined t:
turn the right of Delaborde’s position, and interpose between
bim and the expected division of Loison: the column on
the right, consisting of 1,000 Portuguese foot, and fifty of
their horse, was led by Colonel Trant, and intended to
menace the left flank of the French. From his first position
fn front of Roliga, Delaborde was soon driven with loss.
The brisk attack of the brigades of Hill and Nightingale,
and the skilful disposition which had caused both his
flanks to be menaced at the same moment, determined his
retreat.

Covered by his cavalry, Delaborde moved rapidly, and in
good order, to his second line of defence, the steep and
difficult ridge of Zambugeira, which could be approached
only by dark ravines, and steep rugged pathways winding
among rocks and briars; but the ridge, so short and narrow
that it scarcely afforded moving room to the assailers and
the assailed, was gained by the British 9th and 29th, who
were soon supported hy other troops from our rear, and
favoured by another threatening movement on the French
flank. Delaborde could hold that height no longer : though
wounded himself, he rallied his men, and attempted to make
another stand near a village, but he w1s soon driven thence,
and leaving three of his guns upon th: field, and marching
all night, he withdrew for Torres V :dras, where he was
joined by Loison’s corps: he was well protected on the
retreat by his cavalry; and Sir Arthur was too weak in that
arm to follow him up. We lost two lieutenant-colonels,
one cf them the brave son of a brave father,* and about
480 men in killed and wounded. The loss of the French
was supposed to be above 600. ¢ But,” says a writer, who
never confidently makes an incorrect assertion, *¢ it must be
observed here, once for all, that the losses of the Frenck
throughout the war were never accurately known, as they

ublished no returns, whilst the British official returns of
Eilled, wounded, and prisoners, made by the respective
officers in command of regiments after a battle, were always

"% This was Colonel Like, son of Lord Lake, the hero of Laswarree and
of other hattles in Iodia,
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ublished in the ¢ Gazette.' In fact, there were no means

in France, under Napoleon, of knowing the truth con-
cerning their armies abroad; and this is one of the many
differences between the two services.”*

On the 18th, General Wellesley advanced to Lourinha,
keeping along the coast road leading to Mafra. On the
19th, fe moved on to Vimeira, where he was joined the
next day by Generals Anstruther and Ackland, with two
brigades just arrived on the coast from England, and which
raised his force to about 17,000 British, besides 1,600
Portuguese. But at this critical moment, Sir Arthur was
superseded 1 tae command !

In spite of the discouraging voice of the very unpatriotic
opposition, ministers at home had become sensible of the
propitious appearance of atfairs in the Peninsula, and were
fully determined to increase the army employed in Portugal,
but upon these very grounds they also determined to entrust
the chief command to some officer higher or more ancient
in the service than Sir Arthur Wellesley. This was quite
according to the wheel of routine, which had gone fur to
grind down all genius and spirit in the superior classes of
the officers of our army. In India, at Copenhagen, even
in this opening campaign in Portugal, Wellesley had given
tie highest proofs of military genius; but there were
generals in the service mwuch more ancient than he. It
might have happened that this active, indefutigable man,
whose physical powers were, in their kmd, as perfect as his
intellectual qualities, should have been superseded by a
worn-out old man, incapable of bearing the heat of the
climate, or of sitting three hours consecutively on horse-
back.}

As soon as it was resolved to raise this army tc 30,000
men, ministers gave the chief command to Lieutenant-
General Sir Hew Dalrymple, who was at Gibraltar, acting
as governor in that fortress and colony, and they appointed
Sir ITayry Burrard to be Sir Hew’s second in command,
leaving Sir John Moore, Sir Arthur Wellesley, and Gene-
rals J. Hope, Sir E. Paget, and Mackenzie Frazer to com-
mand respective divisions of the army. Wellesley was thus
reduced from first to fourth. Sir Hew Dalrymple and
Sir John Moore were both officers of great merit, and
generous, high-minded men; but quite so much could not
be said of Sir Harry Burrard; and the very best ot the

* André Vieusseux’s ¢ Military Life of the Duke.’
t ¢ Pictorial Listory of Englaad,’ vol, iv., Reign of George 11I.
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three, Sir John Moore, was immeasurably inferior to Sir
Arthur Wellesley. Accidents, and the order in which the
new appointed generals arrived, made a bad scheme worse.
Sir Harry Burrard came first ; on the evening of the
20th he came into Maceira Bay, mcar Vimeira. Sir Arthur
immediately went on board, and reported to Sir Harry
the situation of the army, and his own intended plan of
operation, which was to continue marching along the coast
road as far as Mafra, thus turning the strong position
which Delaborde and Loison had taken at Torres Vedras,
and by this means obliging the I‘rench either to give
battle, or retreat to Lisbon under great disadvantages. No
plan could have been better; no reinforcements were want-
ing. There was, probably, not a man or an officer in the
army but was anxious to advance. Sir Harry Burrard,
however, was of opinion that no further advance ought
to be made until the arrival of the reinforcements under
Sir John Moore. But the enemy, in the mean time, was
bringing the question to a speedy solution.

That very night there rose the cry that the French
were coming. Having posted his army in excellent posi-
tions, in the valley of Vimeira, and on the hills round
the village, General Wellesley was retiring to rest, when,
at the hour of midnight, a German officer of dragoons
galloped into the camp, and reported that Junot was ad-
vancing to the attack, at the head of 20,000 men, and
was only one hour’s march Jistant. Undisturbed by this
inflated report, Sir Arthur merely sent out patrols, and
warned the guards ard pickets to be on the alert. It
may be remarked, in passing,” says Capt. M. Sherer, ¢ that
no general ever received reports with such calm caution as
Sir Arthur Wellesley. Suddenly awaked, he would hear an
alarming account from the front with a quiet, and —to many
a bustling intelligent officer —a provoking coolness, and
turn again to his sleep as before. Kew, if any, are the
instances, during the war, of his ﬁutting the troops under
arms by night, or disappointing them unnecessarily of one
hour of repose. An hour before dawn, the British, when
near an enemy, are always under arms.” Thus our men
were never flurried or hurried, but kept cool, with all their
vigour in them, for the moment of battle. Nor did Sir
Arthur ever exhaust the strength of his people by making
complicated movements and manceuvres merely to show his
own skill, a practice to which some of the French com-
manders were much addicted.
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As the sun rose on the following morning—the not in-
glorions 21st of August—all eyes in our camp were fixed
{n the direction of Torres Vedras, which is only nine miles
from Vimeira, with a hilly rugged country between. But
no enemy appeared. At abount 7 o’clock, however, a cloud
of dust rose behind the hills nearest to the British positions;
and, at 8 o’clock, some French cavalry, were seen crowding
the heights to the southward, and sending forward sconts
and skirmishers. This was rapidly followed by the appa-
rition of a mass of French infantry, preceded by other
cavalry ; and then column after column followed in order
of battle.

Again, the scene of bloody conflict was eminently pleasant
and picturesque. Vimeira, a pretty village, stands in a lovely
and peaceful valley, through which flows the gentle, little
river of Maceira ; the village is screened from the sea by
some mountain heights; and, beyond the valley, the country
swells into bold hills. The village was the principal place
in our lines; and in it were lodged the park, the commis-
sariat, and that noisy crowd of animals and followers which
mark the preseuce of an army.

Junot, having joined Delaborde and Loison at Torres
Vedras, was at the head, not of 20,000, but of about 14,000
men, of whom 1,600 were-excellent cavalry. At 10 o’clock
in the morning, he began the battle with a hot fire of
artillery.

The principal attacks were made upon the British centre
and left, the French being quite sure, this time, that they
would drive the English into the sea, which was rolling
close in their rear. The first attack was made with great
bravery and impetuosity, but it was as gallantly repulsed
by our people. But for Wellesley’s lamentable deficiency
in cavalry, the battle would have been finished then; for
Colonel Taylor, galloping among the confused French, with
the very few horsemen he commanded, scattered them with
great execution. But Margaron’s formidable squadrons of
horse came down upon Taylor, killed him, and cut half of
his feeble squadron to pieces. Taking advantage of this
check, the ¥rench threw part of their reserve into a pine-
wood which flanked the line of retreat, and sent the rest of
their reserve to reinforce the divisions that were repeating
the attack. But, again, the assailants were repulsed at all

oints ; General Solignac made a capital mistake, General
rennier was wounded and made prisoner; the British se-
parated the French brigades from each other, and, pressing
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forward with the bayonet, they completely broke and scat-
tered the enemy, who went off in confusion, leaving many
risoners and fourteen cannon behind them. The loss of the
“rench, in killed and wounded, at the battle of Vimeira,
was estimated at about 1,800; that of the British being
cxactly 720. Only about one-half of our force was actually
engaged. Except the part of the reserve, which had been
thrown into the pine-wood, the whole of Junot’s force was
breught into action. It was only noonday when the affair,
which began at 10 A. ., was decided. The 4th and 8th
British brigades had suffered very little; the Portuguese,
the 5th, and the Ist British brizades had not fired a shot,
and the latter was two miles nearer to Torres Vedras than
was any part of the disheartened and confused French
army. There was abundant. time, and an admirable oppor-
tunity, for annihilating Junot; but Sir Harry Burrard had
landed, and had brought with him his senility and irresolu-
tion. He had been present on the field during part of the
engagement ; but he had declined assuming the command,
or interfering, in any way, with Sir Arthur's admirable ar-
rangements, until the enemy was repulsed. Then, however,
vwhen Major-General Ronald Ferguson, on our left, was
close upon the running French, when General Hill was
ready to spring forward upon Torres Vedras by a shorter
road than the French could take, and when General
Wellesley would have followed up bis victory by a general
and rapid movement forward, Sir Harry Burrard demurred,
thinking it unwise to hazard the fortune of the day—
thinking it advisable, on account of the superiority of
the French in cavalry, not to move any farther, but to
suspend offensive cperations, and wait at Vimeira for the
arrival of Sir John Moore. Accordingly, Ferguson was
ordered to desist from pursuit; Hill was called in, and the
French officers, to their astonishment, were allowed to rally
their men, and make good their retreat to the admirable
osition of Torres Vedras. In a letter, addressed to the

uke of York, Sir Arthur Wellesley said, with a most rare
and admirable coolness,—* I think, if General Hill's brigade
and the advanced-guard had moved forward, the enemy
would have been cu: off from Terres Vedras, and we should
have been at Lisbon before him; if, indeed, any French
army had remained in Portugal. But Sir Harry Burrard,
who was at this time upon the ground, still thought it
advisable not to move from Vimeira.” But Sir Arthur’s
heart was warmer when, in the same letter, he came ta
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speak to the royal duke of the merits of the men and
officers who had fought under him at Vimeira. These were
his memorable words,—* I cannot say too much in favour
of the troops; their gallantry and their discipline were
equally conspicuous ; and, I must add, that this is the only
ection that 1 have ever been in, in which everything passed
as 1t was directed, and no mistake was made by any of the
officers charged with its conduct.”

On the very day after the battle—on the 22nd of August—
Sir Hew Dalrymple, arriving in a frigate from Gibraltar,
landed, and superseded Sir Harry Burrard, as Sir Harry
had superseded Sir Arthur Wellesley. Thus, owing to the
unwise arrangements of our Government, the army, within
twenty-four hours, had successively three commanders-in-
chief! The time for prosecuting the victory was gone
before Sir Hew Dalrymple could set foot on shore; and
popular clamour and parliamentary criticism were guilty of
great injustice towards Sir Hew, both with regard to the
battle of Vimeira and the Convention which followed it.*

In the course of the 22nd (the day of Sir Hew’s ianding),
the French general, Kellerman, appeared, with a flag of
truce, on the part of Junot, to propose an armistice, prepa-
ratory to entering upon a convention for the evacuation of
Portugal by the French. The terms were discussed between
General Kellerman and Sir Hew Dalrymple, who, in the
end, directed General Wellesley to sign the armistice. Among
the articles there was one which prejudged the terms of the
final convention, by stipulating that the ¥French army shounld
not ‘“in any case” be considered as prisoners of war, and that
all the individuals composing it should be carried to France
with arms and baggage, and “their private property, of
every description, from which nothing should be detained !™
This, of course, would include the church plate and other
public and private property that the French had taken
either at Lisbon or in the varions towns which they had
sacked, in consequence of the insurrection, and which they
had divided among themselves. General Wellesley did not
* entirely approve of the manner in which the instrument
was worded”; but the articles, being laid before the Com-
mander-in-chief, were signed by him that same evening.
The armistice, however, was made subject to the approba-
tion of the Admiral, Sir Charles Cotton; and, as one urticle
of it stipulated, that the Russian fleet in the Tagus, under

* See Sir Hew Dalrymple, ¢ Memoir of his Proceedings,’ &c., and the
*Parliamentary Papers’ published in 1809.
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Admiral Siniavin, should enjoy all the advantages of a
neutral port, Sir Charles objected to this, but offered to
enter into a separate arrangement with the Russian admiral.
On the 25th, Sir Hew Dalrymple signified to Junot that the
armistice would be at an end on the 28th, at noon, unless a
convention for the evacuation of Portugal by the French
should be agreed upon before that day. In the mean time,
the army had made a forward movement from Vimeira to
Ramalhal, near Torres Vedras, within the boundaries stipu-
lated by the armistice. Sir John Moore had also arrived
in Maceira Bay, and his troops were about being landed.
Junot, now perceiving the necessity of coming to terms,
commissioned General Kellerman to confer with Colonel
George Murray, quartermaster-general, about the final con-
vention, The favourable moment for pushing upon the
French was now quite past; and if they ecould not be
brought to evacuate the country by sea, they might either
defend themselves within Lisbon, or cross the Tagus to
Elvas, which, being a place regularly fortified, would have
required a long siege, during which the British army could
not have been made available in Spain.* General Wellesley
handed to Sir Hew Dalrymple a memorandum for Colonel
Murray, suggesting, among other things, a separate agree-
ment with the Russian admiral, and the propriety of devising
some mode to make the French give up the church plate
which they had seized. On the 29th, the draft of the pro-
posed convention was brought to the British head-quarters
at Torres Vedras, and, being laid before a meeting of general
officers, several alterations were made, and the form, so
altered, was returned to Junot, and was, at last, signed by
him on the 30th, with the omission of several of the altera~
tions, and was ratified by Sir Hew Dalrymple on the 81st.
Sir A. Wellesley was not present at the final ratification,
being then at Sobral with his division. This document has
become known by the name of the “ Convention of Cintra,”
though it was arranged at Lisbon, and finally ratified at
Turres Vedras.f The article which gave most offence was

* ¢ Dispatches,” vol. iv. p. 120,

+ “Because Sir Hew Dalrymple’s dispatches, enclosing a copy of the
treaty, were dated from Cintra, between Torres Vedras and Lisbon, the
convention unluckily got the name of ‘The Convention of Cintra,’ a
name which was long made to figure, Indicrously and infamously, both in
prose and verse; and which induced uninformed people to believe that it
was actually negotiated and concluded in that village, and after the British
had obtained possession of the formidable position of Torres Vedras, the
key to the capital. This was making bad worse; the formidable powition’
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that by which the French, under the name of baggage, were
allowed to carry off much of the plunder of Portugal. Some
limits, however, were put to this abuse by a commission
being appointed, with General Beresford as the head, to
superintend the strict execution of the terms of the conven-
tion. Through the exertions of the commissioners, the
spoils of the Museum and the Royal Library were restored,
together with the money taken from the public treasury.
With regard to the Russian fleet, it was agreed that the
ships should be held as a pledge by Great Britain during the
v.t'lqr, and that the crews should be conveyed home in British
ships.

The French embarked in the month of September, and
the British troops took possession of the forts of Lisbon in
the name of the Prince Regent of Portugal. The whole
country being now free from the enemy, a council of
regency was appointed, of which the active Bishop of
Oporto was a member., The joy of the Portuguese, in
general, was manifested in the most unequivocal manner.
But in England the terms of the convention were the sub-
ject of severe and loud censure, and the Government
appointed a board of inquiry to examine into the matter.
Sir Hew Dalrymple and Sir Harry Burrard were recalled,
in order to be examined by the board, as well as Sir Arthur
Wellesley, who had already asked and obtained leave to
return to England. The court sat in the month of Novem-
ber, and, after a long examination, reported, that the Con-
vention of Cintra having been productive of great advantages
to Portugal, to the army and navy, and to the general ser-
vice, the court was of opinion that no further military
proceeding was necessary on the subject, “ because, however
some of us may differ in our sentiments respecting the fitness
of the convention in the relative situation of the two armies,
it is our unanimous declaration that unquestionable zeal
and firmness appear throughout to have been exhibited by .
Lieutenant-generals Sir Hew Dalrymple, Sir Harry Burrard,
and Sir Arthur Wellesley, as well as that the ardour and
gallantry of the rest of the officers and soldiers, on every
occasion during this expedition, have done honour to the
troops and reflected lustre on your Majesty's arms.” The
King adopted the opinion of the board, that no further

was obtained through the negotiation ; and the eonvention was arranged
at Lisbon by Colonel G. Murray aud Kellerman, and was finally ratified
at Torres Vedras, about thirteen miles from Cintra, and twenty-five from
the capital.”—* Pict. Hist.’ Reign of George IIL
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military proceedings were necessary, but, at the same time,
expressed publicly, “ his disapprobation of those articles of
the convention in which stipulations were made affecting
the interests or feelings of the Spanish and Portuguese
nations ¥

Sir Arthur Wellesley’s examination before the board of
inquiry ought to have added greatly to his reputation as a
wise and great soldier: yet, for a time, it appeared as if he
was destined to be deprived of the conduct of our Peninsular
army. In the month of December ke proceeded to Ireland,
and resumed his old civil post as Chief Secretary. Parlia-
ment having reassembled in January 1809, he returned to
London and took his seat in the Commons. On the 27th
of January, he received, through the Speaker, the thanks of
that House for his distinguished services in Portugal. The
Speaker, Mr. Abbot (afterwards Lord Colchester), always per-
formed these offices with grace, dignity, and warm eloquence ;
and even the prosiest and most carping members were
electrified when, with his fine voice, he pronounced these
words :—*“ It is your praise to have inspired your troops
with unshaken confidence and urbounded ardour; to have
commanded, not the obedience alone, but the hearts and
affections of your companions in arms; and, having planned
your operations with the skill and promptitude which have
s0 eminently characterized all your former exertions, you
have again led the armies of your country to battle, with
the same deliberate valour and triumphant success which
have long since rendered your name illustrious in the re-
motest parts of this empire.

“Military glory has ever been dear to this nation; and
great military exploits, in the field or upon the ocean, have
their sure reward in royal favour and the gratitude of Par-
liament. It is, therefore, with the highest satisfaction, that,
in this fresh instance, I now proceed to deliver to you the
thanks of this House.”

A few days after this, the House of Lords passed resolu-
tions to the same effect, which were communicated to Sir
Arthur by Lord Chancellor Eldon.

Campaign of 1809.—The too confident Spaniards were
throwing away army after army in blundering and in fight-
ing pitched battles with the French veterans. Portugal,
in which there had not been a Frenchman left, was again
menaced. Our Government resolved to increase the forces
in the Peninsula, and to aid both Spaniards and Portu-

* André Vieusseux’s ¢ Military Life of the Duke.’
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guese, and, in epite of numerous orators and writers who
represented the attempt as the height of madness, they took
measures for entering upon the war on a larger and a bolder
gcale. The Duke of York and Lord Castlereagh supported
the claims of Sir Arthur Wellesley, and the general feeling
of the nation was that he, and he alone, was the chief-com-
mander we wanted. Ina memorandum, dated 7th of March,
Sir Arthur delivered his decided opinion that Portugal might
be defended, whatever were the result of the contest in
Spain ; and that, in the mean ture, the measures adopted for
the defence of Portugal would be highly useful to the Spa-
niards in their contest with the French. His notions were,
—that the Portuguese military establishments ought, by
means of English assistance, to be raised to 40,000 militia
and 30,000 regulars, that the British troops ought to be
raised to 20,000 infantry and 4,000 or 5,000 cavalry, with
an increased rifie corps and considerably niore artillery;
that, even if Spain should be conquered, the French would
not be able to overrun Portugal with a smaller force than
100,000 men; and that as long as the contest should con-
tinue in Spam, the united British and Portuguese army, if
it could be put into a state of activity, would be most ser-
viceable to the Spaniards, and might eventually decide the
contest.

In thic remarkable document, short as it was, nearly
everything was foreseen and provided for. The proper
expenditure of our subsidies, the means of reforming the
bad management of the Portuguese finances, the means of
reforming the Portuguese troops, and the ineans of victual-
ing the allied armies in an impoverished and wasted country,
were all considered with wonderful sagacity and wisdom.
As indispensable parts of his plan, Sir Arthur laid it down
that the Portuguese must be placed under the command of
British officers; that the whole staff of the army, the com-
missariat in particular, must be British, and that these two
departments must be greatly increased.* “DBut for the care
taken by Sir Arthur Wellesley of the commissariat, which
other commanders-in-chief had been accustomed wofiully
to neglect, or to leave to their inferiors—thinking barrels of
salt pork and bags of biscnits unworthy the attention of
well-bred gentlemen and gallant soldiers—but for the re-
forms he gradually introduced into our unsystematized
commissariat department, there would have been no such

* For the rest of this invaluable memorandum c§ the defence of Por-

tugal, see ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol, iv.
B

.
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glorious victories as Salamanca, Vitoria, and Toulouse
but the British army would have been wasted away by
famine, and driven from the Peninsula with disgrace.”*
Very numerous were the tales told, during the progress of
the war, of the Commander-in-chief’s strict attention to these
details, and of his sharpness to peccant officers in the com-
missariat department. On one occasion that hot Welshman,
General Picton, enraged at a want of punctuality on the
part of a deputy-commissary-general, threatened to hang
that officer if the provisions were not brought np on the
morrow. The commissary, putting on his best uniform,
repaired to the Commander-in-chief, and laid his grievous
complaint before him. ¢ Did General Picton really threaten
to hang you?” said Wellesley. *He did,” replied the
commissary. ¢ Then,” said the Commander-in-chief, “I
would advise you to go and exert ycurself and get up these
stores, for General Picton is just the man to do what he
threatens.” The commissary went his way, and the pro-
visions were up in time.

It was in the month of April 1809, that Sir Arthur Wel-
lesley, having previously resigned both his seat in Parliament
and his civil employment in Ireland, took his departure to
assume the chief command in Portugal. The political and
military atmosphere mto which he was going was dark
enough. In the preceding month of December, the French,
nunder Napoleon Buonaparte in person, having retaken
Madrid, after routing the Spaniards in the battles of Espi-
nosa and Tudela, obliged the British forces under Sir John
Moore, who had been sent from Portugal into Spain, to
effect a disastrous retreat to Coruiix, where the troops,
after repelling Marshal Soult, and losing their own brave
commander, had embarked for England in January. The
Frencn, following up their success, spread over Leon and
Estremadura, to the borders of Portugal, and Soult, having
overrun Gallicia, »nshed into the northern Portuguese pro-
vinces, and carried Oporto by storm against the badly dis-
ciplined native troops. The small British force which bad
been left in Portugal, on Sir John Moore advancing into
Spain, was concentrated by General Sir John Cradock, for
the defence of Lisbon. It was under these circumstances,
which would have been still more unfavourable yf Anstria
had not declared war, and called Buonaparte from Spain into
Germany, that Sir Arthur arrived at Lisbon, with some
regiments of cavalry and other reinforcements. These,

* ¢Digt, Hist, Reign of George III.
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together with the native regulars under General Beresford,
whom the Prince Regent of Portugal had appointed to com-
mand his army, enabled Wellesley to bring into the field a
force of about 25,000 men ; and with this force he moved, at
the end of April, to dislodge Soult from Oportn, leaving a
division, under General Mackenzie, on the Tagus, to guard
the eastern frontiers against the French general, Victor,
who was stationed near Merida in Spanish Estremadura.

Driving back all the French troops which had advanced
south of the Douro, Sir Arthur, by the 11th of May,
occupied the southern bank of that river opposite the town
of Oporto. The French had destroyed the bridges, and
removed the boats to their own side of the river, and Soult,
‘n the belief that the English could not cross the river, was
preparing to retire leisurely by the road leading to Gallicia.
But General Wellesley despatched a brigade, under Murray,
to pass the river about four miles above Oporto, while the
brigade of guards was directed to cross over at the suburb of
Villanova, and the main body, under the Commander-in-
chief, was to attempt a passage between Murray and the
brigade of guards, by means of any boats they might chance
to find, just above the town. The Douro at that spot is
very rapid, and nearly three hundred yards wide. About
10 o’clock on the morning of the 12th of May, two good-
sized boats being discovered, General Paget, with three com-
panies of the Buffs, crossed the river, and got possession of
an unfinished but strong building, called the Seminario, on
the Oporto side of the river. The French in the town were
taken by surprise; they never expected this hazardous
attempt from the English, at whose general caution they
were accustomed to sneer, forgetting that, where numbers
were so small, caution was necessary.

Buonaparte and his marshals, with their forced conserip-
tion, their levies in the countries they had subjugated, and
their habitual or systematic disregard of human sufferings
and life, might hazard much, and throw away the lives of
their thousands and tens of thousands of men; but Sir
Arthur Wellesley, even had his indifference to slaughter
been as great as theirs, was bound by imperative circum-
stances to be sparing of his men. We had no conscription;
we could raise no forced levies on the Continent ; our native
soldiers were voluntarily enlisted, and every man of them, in
bounty-money, pay, and provisions, cost us three or four
times more than any of his soldiers cost Buonaparte ; and if
we retained foreign troops in our service it was at an equally

R 2
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great expense. If Sir Arthur’s army had been greatly
weakened in 1809, there would have been small chance of
his getting another army in 1810.

When made aware of our move across the Douro, the
French sounded the alarm, and marched out to attack the
Seminario; but before they could dislodge the first party
of brave Buffs, General Hill crossed with more troops, and,
protected by the British artillery from the southern bank,
mdintained the contest with great gallantry, until General
SHerbrooke, with the guards, crossed lower down, and got
into the very town of Oporto, charging the French through
the streets, amidst the acclamations of the inhabitants
Meantime the head of Murray’s column, which had crossed
the highest up, at Avintas, made its appearance on the
north bank, and came down in true martial order to join
the brave Buffs, and Hill, and Sherbrooke. Soult ordered
an immediate retreat, which was effected in the utmost
confusion. The French left behind them their sick and
wounded, many prisoners, and much artillery and ammuni-
tion, retiring by Amarante, with the intention of passing
through Tras-os-Montes into Spain. That evening, it 13
said, our great Captain dined in Soult's quarters on a dinner
which was preparing for the Duke-Marshal when the fight-
ing began. The French were so confident in their security,
and then had gone off in such a hurry!

The passage of the wide and rapid Douro, performed in
broad daylight, with most defective means of transport, and
in presence of 10,000 French veterans, has been considered
as one of Weilesley's finest achievements. He lost only
twenty-three killed and ninety-eight wounded. Soult’s
loss was considerable, and though he carried many away
with him, he left in Oporto 7¢0 wounded and sick. These
would have been butchcred by the Pertuguese but for Sir
Arthur’s considerate and active humanity. No sooner was
he in possession of the city than he issued a most necessary
proclamation, enjoining the vindictive inhabitants to respect
the sick, wounded, and prisoners. The proclamation is
more honourable to him than the victory. “I call upon
you,” said he, “to be merciful. DBy the laws of war,
these Frenchmen are entitled to my protection, which I am
determined to afford them /™ Ile also wrote immediately to
Marshal Soult to request him to send some French medical
officers to take care of his sick and wounded, as he could
not spare his own army surgecns, and did not wish to trust
to the practitioners of the town of Oporto. He assured
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Soult that his medical officers sheuld be restored to him so
soon as they had cured the wounded; and he proposed a
cartel, or mutual exchange of prisoners. This is a reflection
to smooth the pillow of our now aged, most venerable-
warrior. Whatever he could do to dimninish the horrors of
war, he did, and did it promptly. It is believed to have
been in the nature of Soult to have responded on his part;
but he could not subdue or control the ferocity of his troops,
driven frantic by their reverses and sufferings, and the
vengeful, merciless attacks of the Portuguese peasantry.

When Soult reached Amarante, he found that General
Loison had been compelled to abandon the bridge there.
This forced the Marshal to change his route, and he made
for Salamonde. But on the evening of the 16th of May he
was overtaken, on the road, near Salamonde, by Sir Arthur,
who cut up his rear-guard, and took some prisoners. A
good many of the French were killed and wounded, and
many more of them were drowned in crossing the river
Cabado in the dark. ¢ We should have had the whole of
Soult’s rear-guard,” said Sir Arthur, “if we had but had
half an hour more daylight . . . . Ishall follow him
to-morrow . . . . He has lost everything—cannon,
ammunition, baggage, military chest—and his retreat is, in
every respect, even in weather, a pendant for our retreat
to Corunna.”

Soult, like Sir John Moore, had to retire through a
mountainous country : he left the road strewed with dead
horses and mules, and with the bodies of French soldiers,
who were put to death by the peasantry before the advanced-
guard of the British could come up and save them. By
their own conduct the French had provoked this retaliation.
“ Their soldiers,” said Sir Arthur, “have plundered and
murdered the peasantry at their picasure; and I have secn
many persons hanging in the trees by the side of the road,
exccuted for no other reason, that I could learn, excepting
that they had not been friendly to the French invasion and
usurpation of the government of their country; and the
route of their column on their retreat could be traced by
the smoke of the villages to which they set fire.”*

With troops that carried with them, over the roughest
roads, full equipments, and artillery and baggage, Sir
Acthur could not hope to come up with Soult, with an army
that had lightened itself by losing or throwing away every-
thing, and that depended for its supplies on plunder. ge

® Letter to Viscouut Castlereagh, in ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. iv



v

84 MEMOIR OF THE DUKE.

stopped his pursuit at Montealegre, a few leagues from the
frontier of Spain, where a Spanish corps d'armée, under
General Romano, ought to have confronted Soult’s ruined
forces, but did not. e

Sir Arthur rcturned to Oporto. There he diligently ap~
plied himself to the improvement of the commissariat, to the
means of fostering a kindly feeling between the British and
the Portuguese, of removing the crying distresses of the
country people, and of obtaining the most accurate informa-
tion as to the nature of the country and the state of the
roads by which he intended to follow the French into
Spain. It was while he stayed at Oporto that he learned
that Mr. Frere—an accomplished, amiable, and exccllent
man, but absent-minded, credulous, and unfit for diplomacy
(he had sadly misled poor Sir John Moore)—was recalled
from the embassy in Spain, and succeeded by one of his
own able brothers. This opportune change led, in time, to
very important results.

By the 26th of May the greater part of our troops had
crossed the Mondego, and all Sir Arthur’s arrangcments
were completed for an advance into Spain, where he in-
tended to co-operate with, or at least to 1eccive some aid
from, the Spanish General Cuesta, who was reported to be
on the Guadiana river with 40,000 or 50,000 men.

Except by reading, hearing the reports of some English
officers who had served with the Spaniards, and studying
the disastrous, but far from dishonourable, cammpaign of Sir
John Moore, our great Commander, never having seen one
in the field, could have had but little notion of the defective
organization and discipline of a Spanish army. Ile got this
knowledge in a lump when he came in contact with Cuesta.
But, in the mean while, he had wisely resolved nct to rely
too much on those forces, and not to neglect anything to
secure his own retreat, in case that movement should be-
come a mnecessity. Ilis advance was impeded by the diffi-
culty of obtaining provisions and the means of transport ;
but, by the end of June, his van-guard touched the Svanish
frontier.

The national cause of Spain had improved since Buona-
parte had left the country (in January). None of his generals
had individually the same influence, or genius, or means that
he had at his disposal ; and there was not a sufficient bond
of union and goodwill among then all to make them act in
concert towards one particular object at a time. Each had
& plan of his own and a separate commaud over a large
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division of the country, and was, in great measure, inde-

endent of the rest; and Joseph Buonaparte, the intrusive

ing, had no control over them, and, not being himself a
military man, he could not direct their movements. “Each
marshal, therefore,—and there were five or six of them ig
the Peninsula,—acted by himself, and the warfare became
complicated and desultory. Marshal Victor commanded the
first corps in Estremadura, near the borders of Portugal, the
rolls of which mustered about 35,000 men ; of whom, how-
ever, only 25,000 were under arms. General Sebastiani
commanded the fourth corps in La Mancha, which mustered
about 20,000 men under arms. A division of reserve under
Dessolles, stationed at Madrid, together with King Joseph's
guards, amounted to about 15,000 men; Kellerman's and
Bonnet’s divisions, stationed in Old Castile and on the
borders of Leon and Asturias, to about 10,000 more. All
the above troops, amounting to more than 60,000 disposable
men, were considered to be immediately under King Joseph,
for the protection of Madrid and of central Spain, and also
to act offensively in Andalusia and against Portugal by the
Tagus and the Guadiana. Soult had a distinct command.
His business was mainly to occupy the northern provinees
of Spain, and to act through them against Portugal: he
bad in his immediate power the second corps, mustering
about 20,000 men under arms; the fifth, or Mortier’s corps,
reckoning 16,000 ; and Ney, with the sixth corps, also about
16,000. Soult’s force in all was about 52,000 men in the field.
These were the two French armies with which the English,
advancing from Portugal, were likely to be brought into
collision. Besides these, there were, in eastern Spain, the
third and seventh corps, making together about 50,000 men,
under Suchet and Augereau, who were pretty fully cm-
ployed in Arragon and Catalonia; and 35,000 more were
scattered in the various garrisons and lines of communi-
cation. The fortresses and fortified towns in the hands of
the French were—1st, on the northern line, St. Sebastian,
Pampeluna, Bilbao, Santona, Santander, Burgos, Leon, and
Astorga; 2nd, on the central line, Jaca, Zaragoza, Guadal-
axara, Toledo, Segovia, and Zamora ; 3rd, Figueras, Rosas,
and Barcelona on the eastern coast. But Soult, after being
driven out of northern Portugal, had withdrawn from Gal-
licia ; and Ney, following the same movement, completely
evacuated that extensive province, including the forts of
Corufia and Ferrol. A misunderstanding or disagrecrnent
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between those two commanders led to the deliverance of
Gallicia, which was an important event in the war, for the
French never regained that part of Spain. Marshal Soult
reached Zamora in the beginning of July, and hovered
about the eastern frontiers of Portugal. Ney, on his part,
arrived at Astorga. Victor was posted between the Tagus
and the Guadiana, his troops suffering much by the malaria
fever ;; Mortier, with the fifth corps, on the road from
Zaragoza to Valladolid, reccived orders from Frauce to
halt; and the Imperial Guards, which Napoleon had or-
dered into Spain, and which had arrived at Vitoria, were
hurriedly ordered to march to the banks of the Danube.
This was in consequence of the Austrian war, which had
broken out. The French in Spain were reduced to a com-
parative state of inactivity, and Andalusia and Valencia were
still untouched by them.*

The Spanish armies, though often scattered and always
beaten by the French in the open field, had been somewhat
re-organized. General Cuesta, commanding the army of
Estremadura, was indeed on the Guadiana; but, instead of
having 40,000 or 50,000 men, he had scarcely 85,000 under
arms, and these imperfectly disciplined. This was the force
with which General Wellesley had to co-operate in his
advance into Spain for the purpose of attacking Victor, and
attempting to reach Madrid.

The British army entered Spain in the beginning of July,
and on the 8th of that month their head-quarters were at
Placencia. Cuesta kept them waiting, but he joined them
at Oropesa on the 20th. By another route, the active Sir
Robert Wilson, with the Lusitanian legion, one Portuguese
and two Spanish battalions, moved on to Escalona, only
eight leagues from Madrid, threatening the rear of Victor’s
army, which was posted at Talavera la Reyna. On the
22nd, the combined Spanish and British armies attacked
Marshal Victor’s outposts at Talavera, and drove them in.
The enemy would have suffered more, if that crusty, im-
practicable old Spaniard, General Cuesta, had not thought
fit to absent himself from the field. On the morrow—the
23rd of July—the British columns were formed for the
attack of the Yrench position, as Wellesley wished to
cripple Victor betore he eould be joined by Sebastiani. But
old Cuesta was again crusty, and *contrived to lose the
whole of the day, owing to the whimsical perverseness of

* André Viensseux's ¢ Military Life of the Duke.) ¢Wellington Dis-
patches,’ vol. iv.
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his disposition.”* The loss of the day could not be re-
covered. At one hour after midnight, Marshal Victor
left Talavera to retreat to S. Olalla, and thence to Torrijos,
to form a junction with Sebastiani. Early on the 24th, Sir
Arthur established his head-quarters in Talavera. Before
entering Spain, he had bargained with Cuesta and the
governing Junta for adequate supplies of provisions and
means of transport; but the Spaniards had scandalously
broken their agreement. In tne course of the 24th, Sir
Arthur wrote to Lord Castlereagh—*“I am not able to
follow the encmy as I could wish * * * owing to my
having found it tmposstble to procure even one mule or a cart
tn Spain. * * * My troops have been in actual want
of provisions for the last two days”T He therefore re-
solved, in justice to his brave little army, to enter into no
new operation, but rather to halt, and even to return to Por-
tugal, if’ he should not be supplied as he ought to be. His
letters during the whole cf this campaign teem with painful
details oa the subjects of provisions, forage, mules and carts,
and Spanish indolence and insincerity.

The people, the local authorities, the generals, and the
Junta, all seemed unanimous in their unwillingness to pro-
vide for the English, although sure to be amply paid for
their supplies. Whether it was Spanish inertness, which
not even the love of gain can excite, or Spanish prejudice
against foreigners in general, and especially against here-
tics,—for such their British allies were called,—or fear of
parting with supplies which they might want themselves, or
in some instances a bias towards the I'rench, for there was a
French party in the Spanish towns, it is a fact that, while
Cuesta’s army abounded with provisions and forage, Sir
Arthur could not get enough to supply his men with half-
rations. *The Freneh,” he observes, ¢ can take what they
like, and will take it, but we cannot even buy common
necessaries.”{ *No trcops,” he wrote to his brother, the
Marquis, “can serve to any good purpose unless they are
regularly fed ; and it is an error to suppose that a Spaniard,

* These are the Duke's own expressions, Sce ¢Dispatches,” vol. iv.
526

In the same letter he says,—“I find General Cuesta more and more
impracticable every day. It is impossible to do business with him, and
very uncertain that any operation will succeed in which he has any con-
cern. * * * e has quarrelled with some of his principal officers
and I understand that all are dissatisfied with him.”

+ ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. iv.
¥ Id. A. Vieasseux's * Military Life.

-
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or a man, or an animal of any country, can make an exertion
without food. In fact, the Spanish troops are more clamor-
ous for their food, and more exhauste1 if they do not receive
it regularly, than our own troops are.”*

When gir Arthur halted the British troops at Talavera,
Cuesta was all of a sudden invaded by what seemed irres
pressible energy and activity ; and, with singular arrogance.
he singlely dashed forward in pursuit of the French. His
columns passed the Alberche in rapid succession, as if they
were to stop at nothing siort of the iron barrier of the
Pyrenees. Sir Arthur, who could scarcely help foreseeing
how all this sudden ardour would end, recommended caution
and circumspection to the old gentleman, and sent a part of
the British force some ten miles in advance of Talavera.
The two armies previously acting in concert were now
separated, the Spaniards being in pursuit of Victor, and the
mass of the British forces remaining perfectly quict, “ enjoy-
ing semi-starvation upon the banks of the Tagus.”

Cuesta went blundering through S. Olalla, and rushed on,
like a wild bull broke loose from the amphitheatre, to
Torrijos. But here he found the rear-guard of the French
marshal, who had been joined by General Sebastiani; and
the sting of the French tail—Victor’s rear at Torrtjos—was
qnite enough for this disorderly, ill-commanded Spanish
army.f On the morning of the 27th, a half-naked rabble
arrived at Talavera, and fell in the rear of the British, and
Cuesta and his better battalions arrived soon after, to tell
that they had been beaten, and that the French were close
at their heels.§ Nobody could doubt the first fact, but the
second assertion was not quite correet, for Victor and Sebas-
tiani deemed it prudent to wait for the arrival of Joseph
Buonaparte and Marshal Jourdan, who were coming up
with the guards and garrison of Madrid, and thus leaving
that capital exposed to Sir Robert Wilson, and his rapid
loose Lusitanians, and to any Spanish general that might get
near, and be quick and bold.

It was clear, however, to Sir Arthur Wellesley, that he
would not be allowed a long repose ; and therefore he busily
employed himself in examining and strengthening his position

* ¢Dispatches,” vol. iv. This letter is dated 9th Angust 1809.

+ Lieutenant-colonel Leith Hay’s Narrative of the Peninsular War
a concise, clear, and very animated narrative, where nearly everything tha$
is related was seen by the author.

¢ Pict. Hist.” Reign of Geo. IIL
Colonel Leith Hay’s Narrative,
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at Talavera, taking especial care to get goud cover for the
Spaniards, whose stomach for fighting had much declined
since their affair at Torrijos. The fate of the British army
secemed to hang upon a thread. The French were quite
sure it did, and that the thread would snap. Soult, the
most skilful of them all, was rapidly advancing from Sala-
manca by the Puerto de Bafios, upon Placencia, in Sir
Arthur’s rear. Cuesta had been charged by Sir Arthur
to guard the narrow difficult mountain-pass of Puerto de
Banos; but the “impracticable” had sent thither only 600
men, and these were swept away from the rocks by Sonit's
veterans like flies from a wall. Marshal Mortier from Val-
ladolid was following Soult, and Marshal Ney, unknown to
Sir Arthur, was hurrying from Astorga, with the hope of fali-
ing upon his left flank.*  Thus there were more than 50,000
fighting men of the enemy behind the mountains of Pla-
cencia ready to act on the left flank and rear of the British,
who had also 50,000 more in front of them. The British
force in the field did not exceed 20,000. There were a few
more battalions on their march from Lisbon to join the
army, but they did nct arrive till after the battle of Tala-
vera. The Spanish army of Cuesta now mustered about
31,000 men, such as they were. The Portuguese regular
troops, under Beresford, had remained to guard the north-
east froutier of Portugal, towards Almeida. It had been
previously agreed between General Wellesley, Cuesta, and
the Spanish Supreme Junta, or Central Government, that
General Venegas, who was at the head of the Spanish army
of Andalusia, consisting of about 25,000 men, shculd march
throngh La Mancha upon Madrid, whilst Wellesley and
Cuesta were advancing by the valley of the Tagus. Venegas
did advance through La Mancha, but it seems that he
received counter orders from the Supreme Junta, which
had the effect of slackening his march; he, however, made
his ai)lpearance at last towards Aranjuez and Toledo, and it
was his approach on that side which induced King Joseph
to engage Wellesley and Cuesta, in order to save his
capital. If he had kept the Allies in check for a few days
Jonger, Soult’s arrival at Placencia would have obliged the
English to retire precipitately. But King Joseph fearing
that Venegas from the south, and Sir Robert Wilson, who,
with the Lusitanian leginn, was hovering in the neighbour-
hood on the north, would enter Madrid and szize the stores,

* ‘Wellington Dispatckes,’ vol. iv. Colonel Leith Hay’s Narrative,
Geaeral Fao’s 1listoire dc la Guerse de la Peunsnle,
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the reserves, the hospitals, &c., he and Marshal Victor deter-
mined to give battle to the Allies in front, for if they were
defeated, Madrid could be easily protected. General Wel-
lesley, perceiving, from the movements of the enemy, that a:
battle was at haud, placed the Spanish army on the righs.
near the Tagus, betore the town of Talavera, its front
protected by natural and artificial barriers. In this posi~
tion they could hardly be seriously attacked. The British
infantry, on whom the General could depend, occupied
the left of the line, which was open in front, but its ex-
treme left rested upon a steep hill, which was the key of
the whole position. The whole line extended in length
about two miles. On the 27th of July the French moved
from S. Olalla, erossed the river Alberche, drove in the
British outposts, and attacked two advanced brigades of the
English, which fell back steadily across the plain into their
assigned position in the line.*

Victor next attacked the British left, while Sebas‘iani
made a demonstration against the Spaniards on our right,
several thousands of whom, after discharging their loxded
muskets, fled panic-stricken to the rear, followed by their
artillery, and creating a terrible confusion among the bag-
gage, Tetainers, mules, &ec.; and it was with difficulty that
the rest of the Spanish troops were prevented from follow-
ing this pernicious examiple. Thanks to Sir Arthur Wel-
lesley, the Spaniards, when once rallied, found that their
position could not be seriously attacked; it afforded in
abundance those covers under which they, in modern times
at least, had always been found to fight best; the ground
was covered with olive trees, and riuch intersected by thick
mud walls and ditehes; there was a strong old church with
a heavy battery in front of it, and along the whole of their
part of the line were redoubts, walls, banks, and abatties, or
parapets, made of felled trees. The French, finding the
Spaniards so well placed, made no further attack on that
side, but directed their efforts against the British left, which,
under Lord Hill, occupied the eminence. For a moment
the enemy succeeded, turning our left and ascending the
hill. ‘The sun hzd set, and the short twilight of the south
was gone.

“Darkling they fight and anly know
if chance has sped the fatal blow,
Or, ty the trodden corse below,

ér by the dying groan:

* A Vieussenx—resumd of ¢ Dispatohes.
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Furious they strike without a mark,

Save now and then the sulphurons spark

Tilumes some visage grim and dark,
That with the flash is gone,”*

Attacking them with the tayonet, Hill regained possession
of that key to our position, and drove the French down the
steeps. At the dead of night Victor repcated the attack
on this point, on which everything depended; but Hill was
now reinforced, and Sir Arthur himself rode to the spot,
ordering up more artillery. Another terrible conflict, in
the dark, took place; but the assailants were again hurled
back into the valley, and again left the level ground on the
hill top thickly strewed with dead bodies and wounded men.
There, side by side, lay 1,000 French and 800 British. Of
the survivors, the French returned to their bivouacs, and
the English stretched themselves on the hill-top.

¢ And wearied all, and none elate,
With equal hope and doubt they wait
, A fiercer, bloodier day.” 4

Ay daylight on the morning of the 28th, Victor hurled
two more strong divisions of infantry against the fatal
height; but the Englishmen there had been told by Sir
Arthur that they musf maintain that position. Hill lost
many brave officers and soldiers, and was himself wounded ;
but he soon had the satisfaction of seeing the two French
columns reel from before his British bayonets, and roll
down the steep, after losing entire brigades.

Another long pause ensued ; but about the hour of noor
the French renewed their attack, spreading it along the
whole part of the line occupied by the British. Heavy
columng of French infantry twice attacked our right, under
General Campbell, which joined the Spanish forces, but
cach time they were repulsed; and a Spanish cavalry regi-
ment charging on their flank at the same time, obliged them
to retire in great disorder. In these attacks the French
columns lost ten guns and a great number of men. Mean-
while, a strong French division, supported by two regiments
of cavalry, advanced to turn the British left, and here a
cavalry fight occurred, in which our 23rd light dragoons lost
one-half of their number. But some corps of Spanish in-
fantry and English and Spanish cavalry, properly posted by

* ¢The Battles of Talavera.” This patriotic, spirited, and correctly
descriptive poem, published anonymously in 1809, is now the avowed
production of the Right Honourable John Wilson Croker.

1 ¢The Battlcs of Talavera,’
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General Wellesley, checked all further advance on this side.
Victor, failing on onr left, made a desperate attack on our
centre. His men went close up to our line with stubborn
resolve, but they had to reel back in disorder under a great
discharge of musketry. But the English guards there
placed wcre too hot and rash in pursaing the retreating
foe. The supporting columns and dragoons of the French
advanced ; the French, who had been repulsed, rallied and
faced again, and some French batteries hammered the flank
of the guards, who in their turn drew back in disorder.
At the same time our German legion, on the left of our
guards, being hard pressed by the French, got into confu-
sion. In fact, our centre was broken. This was the critical
moment of the battle—the “agony of fame” to Sir Arthur
Wellesley. But our great Captain was on the stern hill-top
on the left of the position, and had a clear view of the whole
field. He knew what was to be done, and knew how to do
it. Instantly, he ordered the 48th regiment, which was on
the hill, to descend and advance in support of the centre,
and at the same time he gave the word “forward” to Gene-
ral Cotton’s light cavalry. The advance of the 48th foot
was a sight to see; they moved in beautiful order amidst
the retiring crowds, and, whecling back by companies, let
them pass through their intervals; and then resuming line,
they marched against the pursuing columns of the French,
plied them with destructive charges of musketry, and then,
closing upon them with a pace firm and regular as if they
were on parade, checked all forward movement. Our guards
and our German legion quickly rallied, and Cotton and his
brigade of light cavalry coming up at a trot, the ¥French
began to.waver, and at last they fairly gave way and made
a run for it. Sir Arthur Wellesley’s own force, now re-
duced to less than 14,000 men, and exhausted by fatigue,
were unable to give pursuit, and the Spaniards, who (with
the exception of a little cavalry) had scarcely been en-
gaged at all, were utterly incapable of making any evolu-
tions ; and thus, about six in the evening, on the second day
of combat, all fighting and firing ceased, each army retain-
ing the position which it had occupied in the morning. The
guards and the French reserve of that timid and very pseudo
king, Joseph Buonaparte, had not been engaged during the
day, and had Napo!con been there he would—at that period
of his life—have tried a last effort against our lines with
these two uninjured, untouched corps. But Joseph, Jour-
dan, and Victor had by this time quite enough of Talaveras
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their troops were evidently disheartened, having been re-
pulsed at all points, and baving lost two generals in killed.
besides 7,000 men in killed and wounded, and seventeen
of their guns. On the side of the British, two generals, Mack-
enzie and Langworth, were slain, with 800 men; and three
generals and above 4,000 men were wounded. The battle,
or rather the battles, of Talavera (for there were two of
them) were like the ‘“battles of giants.” I would only call
attention to the size and dimensions of the contending giants.
Counting, as I do, the Spaniards for next to nothing, the
English Briareus had, at the beginning, 20,000 arms, while
the Freneh giant had 50,000.%

The next morning, at daybreak, the whole French army,
who had begun crossing that river in the dead of night, were
on the other side of the Alberche, and taking up a position
on the heights of Salinas. Except at Albuhera, the French
never again fought so well throughout the rest of the
Spanish war; and yey France confessed, in a hurried night
retreat, that she had been beaten and humiliated.

“Far from the field where late she fought—

The tents where late she lay—

With ra)id step and humbled thought,
All night she holds her way ;

Leaving to Britain’s conquering sons

Standards rent and ponderous guns, |
T'he trophies of the fray ;

The weak, the wounded, and the slain,

The triumph of the battle-plain,
The glory of the day.”

In the course of the same day—the 29th of July—
General Robert Craufurd reached Sir Arthur’s camp from
Lisbon, with the 43rd, 52nd, and 95th (rifles). The re-
inforcement altogether amounted to nearly 3,000 men. This
was the light brigade, which was ever after in advance
during the Peninsular campaigns, and which acquired mili-
tary ielebrity for its gallantry and quickness of move-
ment.

Ha;ing retreated before 14,000 British, the French were
not at all disposed to return and renew the combat with
17,000. “ La sanglante journée de Talavera avait repandue

* ¢Wellington Dispatches,” vol. iv. pp. 530-9.—A. Vieusseux.—Col.
Leith Hay.—Napier.—M. Sherer, &c. &e.

4 ¢ The Battles of Talavera.’

3 André Vieusseux’s Military Life.’ This gentleman served for soms
tims with the light brigade.



64 MEMOIR OF THE DUKE.

Teffroi dans Darmée Francaise /”* They felt that British
troops could stand and fight against double their numbers.
¢ There is nothing,” wrote Buonaparte to his generals,
“that is dangerous in Spain except the English; all the
rest is canaille that can never keep the field.”+ Sir Arthur
Wellesley passed the 29th and 30th in establishing his
hospitals in the town of Talavera, and endeavouring to get
provisions, as his men were nearly starving. In this he was
not at all assisted by the Spanish authorities or the Spanish
inhabitants. * We are miserably supplied with provisions,”
thus he wrote to Lord Castlereagh, on the 1st of August,
from Talavera; *the Spanish armies are now so numerous
that they eat up the whole country. They have no ma-
gazines, nor have we; nor can we collect any, and there is a
scramble for everything. I think the battle of the 28th is
likely to be of great use to the Spaniards; but I do not
think them in a state of discipline to contend with the
French. * * * The French in the late battle threw
their whole force upon us, and although they did not sue-
ceed, and will not succeed in future, we shall lose great
numbers of men, which we can but ill afford. I dare not
attempt to relieve ourselves from the weight of the attack
by bringing forward the Spanish troops, owing to their
miserable state of discipline, and their want of officers pro-
perly qualified. These troops are entirely incapable of
performing any manceuvre, however simple. They would
get into irretrievable confusion ; and the result would pro-
bably be, the loss of everything.” §

The intrusive King Joseph, with the 4th corps and the
reserve, moved on the 1st of August fartherback, to Illescas,
between Madrid and Toledo, in order to oppose the army
of Andalusia, under General Venegas; and Victor, with the
first corps, retreated likewise along the Madrid road, through
alarm at the movements of Sir Robert Wilson on his flank,
But Soult was now advancing from the north with no less
than three corps, and with one of these corps he entered
Placencia on the Ist of August, while Ney was steadily
moving on from Salamanca in the same direction. Soult
found Placencia deserted by most of its inhabitants, and he
could gather no infelligence of the position of the British
and Spanish armics under Wellesley and Cuesta; he only

* The bloody day of Talavera had spread terror in the French army.
These zre the words of Sarrazin, a French general and writer on war,

1 J. Belmas, ¢ Journaux de Sieges,’ &, Paris, 1836.

3 ¢ Dispatches,” vol. iv. p. 554,
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heard vague rumours of a terrible battle having been fought
a few days before. This ignorance of each other's move-
ments was a common occurrence in the Spanish war, and is
to be accounted for by the nature of the country, the diffi-
culties of communication, the thinness of the population,
and the incurious indolent habits of the people. There
were cases where a great battle was fought in one valley,
and not known behind the mountains which divided it from
another valley ; and when more was learned of what was
ypassing, it was seldom that any great pains were taken by the
Spaniards to convey information to their friends.* On the
2nd of August, however, Sir Arthur learned that the enemy
had entered Placencia; but that was all he could learn.
Supposing that Soult was alone with his corps, which he
estimated at only 15,000 men, and that his intention was to
join Victor, he determined to encounter him before he could
effect the junction; he therefore marched on the 3rd of
August to Oropesa with the British army, leaving Cuesta at
Talavera, particularly recommending him to protect the
hospitals; and, in case he should be obliged by any advance
of Victor to leave Talavera, to collect carts to move away
the wounded. The position of the hostile armies was now
very singular; they were all crowded along the narrow
valley of the Tagus, from the neighbourhood of Madrid to
the frontiers of Portugal. King Joseph and Sebastiani
were at Illescas and Valdemoro, between Madrid and the
Tagus, while the advanced posts of Venegas were on the left
or opposite side of the river, near Toledo. Victor was lower
down on the right bank, at Maqueda, near the Alberche,
watching Cuesta, who was at Talavera; General Wellesley
was farther down, at Oropesa; whilst Soult was on the
Tietar, on the road from Placencia to Almaraz; and Beres-
ford, with the Portuguese, was said to be moving farther
west along the frontiers of Portugal.t “The allies under
Wellesley and Cuesta held the centre, being only one day’s
march asunder; but their force, when concentrated, was not
more than 47,000 men. The French could not unite under
three days, but their combined forces exceeded 90,000 men,
of whom 53,000 were under Soult; and this singular situa-
tion was rendered more remarkable by the ignorance in
which all parties were as to the strength and movements of
their adversaries. Victor and the king, frightened by Wil-
son’s partisan corps of 4,000 men, were preparing to unite at

* ¢ Pictorial Hist.—Reign of George IIL vol. iv,
¥ André Vieusseux.

F
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Mostoles, near Madrid, while Cuesta, equally alarmed at
Victor, was retiring from Talavera. Sir Arthur Wellesley
was supposed by King Joseph to be at the head of 25,000
British; and Sir Arthur, calculating on Soult’s weakness,
was marching with 23,000 English and Spanish to engage
53,000 French ; while Soult, unable to ascertain the exact
situation of either friends or enemies, little suspected that
the prey was rushing into his jaws. At this moment the
fate of the Peninsula hung by a thread, which could not
bear the weight for twenty-four hours; yet fortune so
ordained that no irreparable disaster ensued.” *

In the evening of the 3rd of August, Sir Arthur learned
that Soult’s advanced posts were at Naval Moral, and con-
sequently between him and the bridge of Almaraz, on the
Tagus, thus cutting his line of communication with Por-
tugal. About an hour after receiving this intelligence, Sir
Arthur got letters from Cuesta, informing him that the
enemy was moving upon his (Cuesta’s) flank, and had
returned to S. Olalla in his front,—that Joseph was coming
back to join Victor,—that Soult must be far stronger than
General Wellesley had supposed,—and that, therefore, and
from the consideration that Wellesley was not strong enough
to check Soult’s corps coming from Placencia, he (Cuesta)
intended to leave Talavera that evening (and to abandon in
it the English hospitals, excepting such men as could be
moved by the means he had already collected), in order to
join the British army at Oropesa, and assist it in repelling
Soult. These reasons did not appear to Sir Arthur quite
sufficient for giving up so important a post as Talavera, for
exposing the combined arms to an attack in front and rear
at one and the same time, and for abandoning his sick and
wounded. He wrote one of his short and earnest letters to
the wilful old man, imploring him to stay where he was, or
to wait at least until the next morning, in order to cover the
removal of our hospitals. But before this letter could reach
him, Cuesta, who was evidently afraid of staying at Tala-
vera without Wellesley, had begun his march; and, on the
next morning, the rising sun shone upon his dirty, ragged
troops, marching into Oropesa. This was the 4th of August.
About 2,000 of the British wounded had been brought
away, but about 1,500 had been left at Talavera to be made
prisoners.t

Cuesta's retreat must almost immediately bring Marshal

* Napier’s ¢ History of the Peninsular War,’ book ix.
+ ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. iv. . 561,
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Victor and Joseph Buonaparte upon Sir Arthur, who by
this time had ascertained, through intercepted letters, that
Soult’s force was indeed much stronger than he had reckoned.
The English General was now placed between the mountains
and the Tagus, with a French army advancing upon each
flank, and with his retreat by the bridge of Almaraz com-
pletely cut off. After the experience he had had of Cuesta
and his Spaniards, he could not rely upon them in an open
field of battle; and he could not, with 17,000 British,
fatigued and famishing, hope to fight successively two
French armies, each nearly three times stronger than his
own. Before this moment of real jeopardy, he had ex-
pressed and repeated his opinions that, with their present
commanders and officers, and in their present state of dis-
cipline, the Spaniards were next to useless in the open
country, and that everything would be lost by the British if
an%reliance were placed upon them.*

hese, be it observed, in justice to the memory of a brave,
good man, were precisely the same convictions that were
entertained by Sir John Moore when he began his retreat
upon Corufia; and yet our diplomatist, Mr. Frere, insisted
at the time, and Mr. Southey and other friends of Mr.
Frere, and romantical admirers of the people of the coun-
try, continued to repeat, many years afterwards, that, with
the assistance of Spanish generals and Spanish troops, Sir
John Moore and his little army ought to have driven the
French beyond the Pyrenees. I take the opinion of our
great Captain as a perfect refutation of such nonsense.

But, hemmed in as they were, there was still one—and
only one —line of retreat left open to the British; for, a
little below Talavera the Tagus was crossed by the bridge
of Arzobispo; and by this route, and by this bridge, Sir
Arthur determined to retire immediately, before the enemy
should have time to intercept him. He communicated his
designs to Cuesta, who, according to custom, opposed them.
The perverse, silly old man wanted, forsooth, to stop and
fight the French at Oropesa! Wearied out with his ab-
surdities, Sir Arthur sternly told him that he might do as
he liked, but that, for his own part, being responsible for
the British army, he should march forthwith. And accord-
ingly, on that same morning, before Cuesta’s disorderly rear
reached Oropesa, the British filed off towards Arzobispo.
It was a blessing that the Spaniards, who generally de-
#roved what they ought to iave left standing, and left

* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. iv. p. 561. e
4
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standing what they ought to have destroyed, had not blown
up the only bridge open to us. The 2,000 wounded, the
artillery, the stores, were all carried safely over the Tagus.
Before evening, Sir Arthur took up an excellent position
behind the right bank of that river, and then the British
army was safe. ‘I hope,” wrote our General to Viscount
Castlereagh, “that my public dispatches will justify me
from all blame, ezcepling that of having trusted the Spanish
general in anything.

That insensate commander was not mad enough to stay
when Sir Arthur was gone. He, too, crossed the bridge of
Arzobispo, but in so slovenly a manner that the French,
who closely followed him, took a good part of his artillery,
and would have taken it all if General Wellesley had not
sent British troops to the rescue. Here ended the fighting
campaign of the British for 1809. Sir Arthur moved his
head-quarters to Jaraicejo, on the high-road to Badajoz,
leaving a strong rear-guard to prevent the enemy from
passing the Tagus. The bridge of Almaraz had alread
been broken by the Spaniards, but Sir Arthur left Britis
troops to guard the strong pass of Mirabete, which faced
the broken bridge of Almaraz; and he caused all the Spa-
nish artillery that was left to be dragged up the mountain
of Meza d’Ibor, another very strong position. The line of
defence of the allies was thus skilfully re-established. ¢ All
is now safe,” wrote Sir Arthur, “and I should feel no
anxiety on any subject if we had provisions; but we are
almost starving.”

Meantime Joseph Buonaparte recalled a corps which had
crossed the Tagus at Talavera, and ordered it to join Sebas-
tiani against Venegas, who was now at Almonacid, near
Toledo. Marshal Ney, on the other side, whom Soult had
directed to ford the Tagus below the broken bridge of
Almaraz, could not discover the ford. Soult now proposed
the bold plan of marching with his three corps by Coria and
Abrantes, and reaching Tisbon by the right bank of the
Tagus before the English; but Ney, Jourdan, and Joseph
opposed the scheme, and soon after a despatch came from
Napoleon forbidding any further offensive operations till
the great reinforcements, which his successful termination
of the Avetrian war now placed at his disposal, should have
time to march from the Danube to the Tagus, or to be
actually in Spain.

Napoleon, since he had assumed the imperist crown,
trusted almost entirely to superiority of numtsis, and to
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those overwhelming masses which he recruited so cheaply by
means of the conscription. The proportion of cavalry and
artillery in his armies in Spain was beyond all precedent,
« How different from the adventurous general of the Army
of Ttaly, who with 35,000 men encountered and defeated
three Austrian armies, each stronger than his own, in 1796.
But he was now bloated with success, and war must be with
him a sure game. He had already 200,000 men in Spain,
and yet he did not think them enough. His generals had
adopted the same views:—*‘It is large masses only, the
strongest that you can form, that will succeed.” Thus
wrote Soult to King Joseph before the battle of Talavera.
It is worthy of remark that Sir Arthur Wellesley, writing
about this time, said—‘I conceive that the French are
dangerous only when in large masses” Such was the
character of the wars of the French empire. And yet, with
all his tremendous masses, and a proportionate waste of
human life, Napoleon failed in the end.”*

Soult’s army now went into cantonments in Estremadura
and Leon, near the borders of Portugal. Sebastiani having
defeated Venegas at Almonacid, in the month of August,
drove him back upon the Sierra Morena—Joseph Buona-
parte, cursed by the people, was again residing as a rot
Jainéant at Madrid. French moveable columns, not unlike
the infernal columns which had formerly devastated the
Vendée, now traversed various parts of Spain; a bloody
guerilla warfare was waged by the Spaniards in many
distant provinces and districts; some towns on the eastern
coast, in Catalonia and Valencia, were taken by the French,
while others held out, costing the besiegers an enormous
sacrifice of life. When covered by a few old walls, and
when trusting to their own instinet, without relying on
pedantic officers, the Spanish burghers and peasauts fought
like heroes.

The violent opposition party at home, which never ceased
predicting his defeat, ruin, and disgrace until he stood a
conqueror on the crest of the Pyrenees, and poured his in-
vading columns into France, had been very busy in criticis-
ing this campaign, and were at their invidious work while
Sir Arthur was engaged at Talavera.

“QOh, heart of honour, soul of fire,
Even at that moment fierce and dire,
Thy agony of fame !
* André Vieusseux’s ¢ Military Life of the Duke. I doutt whether
Buonaparte’s great secret has ever been so well told in so few words.
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When Britain’s fortune dubious hung,

And France tremendous swept along,
In tides of blood and flame;

Even while thy genius and thy arm

Retrieved the day and turned the storm,

Even at that moment factious spite,

And envious frand essayed to blight
The honours of thy name.”’*

put the good old King, the Duke of York, the Duke of
Clarence, Lord Castlereagh, with every member of the
cabinet, and with large majorities in both houses of Parlia-
ment, took a very ditferent view of the campaign, as did,
most assuredly, the mass of the British nation. On the 4th
of September 1809 shortly after receipt of the news of his
remarkable battle, Sir Arthur was raised to the peerage
with the titles of Baron Douro of Wellesley and Viscount
‘Wellington of Talavera. In announcing this elevation to
our hero, the Duke of Portland said—* Long may you enjoy
that honour, and be placed, for the advantage and honour
of your country, in those situations which may enable you
to add to your own.” The hearty Amen, the “so be it,”
then pronounced by every true English heart, has been
more than responded unto. The “so be it” has been and s

On the 20th of August, before receiving his well-merited
honours, Sir Arthur removed his head-quarters to Badajoz,
and placed his army in cantonments on the line of the Gua-
diana. His chief motive was the neglect of the Spanish
authorities in supplying his army with provisions, which
obliged him to draw near his magazines in Portugal : and
another reason was, the impossibility of co-operation with
the undisciplined Spanish armies. An unpleasant corre-
spondence took place on the subject between the Spanish
Supreme Junta and the English ambassador at Seville. In
the autumn the British troops suffered greatly from the
malaria-fever, which prevails at that season near the banks
of the Guadiana.

“The handful of troops whom Sir Arthur now com-
manded,” says one of his gallant companions in arms, ¢ was
composed of second battalions, of mere youths, both officers
and men. . . . . Indeed, the (Guards, the Buffs, the 48th
and 61st, with the light division, which had lately joined,
under Craufurd, were the only portions of the army which
at other periods would have been regarded as fit for active
service. Of the cavalry, again, it is impossible to speak in
higher terms. They were dropping off daily; and both

* Right, Hon. John Wilson Croker, ¢ Battles of Talavera.’
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men and horses suffered from sickness, to a degree even
more appalling than that which befel the infantry.”* The
Spaniards would furnish nothing to our sick troops, and
their generals in the field arrogantly and insolently rejected
all advice, and refused all co-operation. I wish,” said his
lordship, “ that the eyes of the people of England were
open to the real state of affairs as mine are. . . . . . The
Spaniards have neither numbers, efficiency, discipline,
bravery, nor arrangement, to carry on the contest.”t To
Lord 1gastlereagh he wrote —“ Their practice of running
away, and throwing off arms, accoutrements, and clothing,
is fatal to everything, excepting a reassembly of the men
in a state of nature; who as regularly perform the same
manceuvre the next time an occasion offers. Nearly 2,000
ran off on the evening of the 27th from the battle of Tala-
vera (not a hundred yards from the place where I was
standing), who were neither attacked nor threatened with
an attack, and who were frightened only by the noise of
their own fire ; they left their arms and accoutréments on
the ground; their officers went with them, and they and
their fugitive cavalry plundered the baggage of the British
army which had been sent to the rear. Many others went
off, whom I did not see. Nothing can be worse than the
officers of the Spanish army; and it is extraordinary that
when a nation has devoted itself to war, as this nation has,
by the measures it has adopted in the last two years, so
little progress has been made in any one branch of the
military profession by any individual, and that the business
of an army should be so little understood. They are really
children in the art of war.”} Without Spaniards on his
hand, Lord Wellington was quite sure that he could main-
tain Portugal against the French.

In October his lordship repaired to Lisbon, and pro-
ceeded to reconnoitre the whole country in front of that
capital, for it was then that he resolved upon the con-
struction of the celebrated lines of Torres Vedras, which
enabled him to baflle all the efforts of the French in the
following year. I can only refer the reader to the
“Memorandum” which he wrote at Lisbon on the 20th of
October for Lientenant-Colonel Fletcher, of the Engineers,
in which he clearly points out the double line of position,
the entrenchments and redoubts, the number of men re-

* Marquis of Londonderry’s Narrative.

+ Letter to Mr. Huskisson, Secretary to the Treasury,
1 ¢ Dispatehes,” vol. v. pp. 82-90,
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quired at each post, &c., as if the whole were already in
existence before his eyes. This paper, so remarkable, con-
sidering the epoch and circumstances in which it was written,
is a most striking evidence of Wellington's comprehensive.
mind, his penetration, and foresight.* Of his plan, how-
ever, nothing was said or even whispered at the time.

He returned to his head-quarters at Badajoz, from whence
he made an excursion to Seville, where he conferred with
his brother, the Ambassador, whom he accompanied to Cadiz.
On the 11th of November he returned to his head-quarters
at Badajoz. At the same time another fatal blunder was
committed by the Spaniards.

About the middle of November the Supreme Junta
ordered the army of Andalusia, joined by the greater part
of the army of Estremadura, to advance suddenly upon
Madrid, and this without any previous communication with
Lord Wellington, who was at Badajoz, or with the Duke
del Parque and other Spanish commanders in the north of
Spain. Venegas, the general of the army of Andalusia, had
been superseded by Areizaga, an inexperienced young officer,
who was in favour with the Junta. Old Cuesta had also
retired, and made room for Eguia in the command of the
army of Estremadura. These two armies, which constituted
the principal regular force of the Spaniards, and which,
posted within the line of the Tagus and along the range of
the Sierra Morena, protected, and might long have pro-
tected the south of Spain, were thrown away upon a foolish
errand. Areizaga, with nearly 50,000 men and sixty pieces
of artillery, advanced into the plains of La Mancha, and was
attacked on the 16th November, in the open fields of Ocana,
by the two French corps of Mortier and Sebastiani; and,
although his men fought with sufficient courage, yet he was
completely routed, with the loss of more than one-half ot
his army, and all his baggage and artillery, with the ex-
ception of fifteen guns. Not deterred by this awful catas-
trophe, the Duke del Parque, with 20,000 Spaniards in the
north, advanced from Salamanca against Kellerman, but he
was beaten and driven to the mountains of Pefia de Francia.
The French north of the Tagus were thus left at liberty to
attack Ciudad Rodrigo and the frontiers of Portugal. “I
lament,” thus Lord Wellington writes from Badajoz on the
news of these mishaps,—* [ lament that a cause which pro-
mised so well a few weeks ago should have been so com-
pletely lost by the ignorance, presumption, and mismanage-

* ¢ Dispatclies,’ vol. v. p. 234-9-
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ment of those to whose dircctior. it was entrusted. I declare
that, if they had preserved their two armies, or even one of
them, the cause was safe. The French could have sent no
reinforcements which could have been of any use; time
would have been gained; the state of affairs would have
improved daily; all the chances were in our favour; and in
the first moment of weakness, occasioned by any diversion
on the Continent, or by the growing discontent of the
French themselves with the war, the French armies must
have been driven out of Spain. But no! nothing will
answer except to fight great battles in plains, in which the
defeat of the Spanish armies is as certain as is the com-
mencement of the battle. They will not credit the accounts
I have repeatedly given them of the superior number even
of the French; they will seek them out, and they find
them invariably in all parts in numbers superior to them-
selves. I am only afraid, now, that I shall be too late to
save Ciudad Rodrigo, the loss of which will secure for the
French Old Castile, and will cut off all communication with
the northern provinces and leave them to their fate. I
wonder whether the Spanish officers ever read the history of
the American war, or of their own war in the Dutch pro-
vinces, or of their own war in Portugal.”

A storm now gathering in the north-east was sure to
burst upon Portugal. Accordingly, -Lord Wellington re-
tired from Spanish ground altogether, and moving through
Alemtejo with the mass of his army, in December he
crossed the Tagus at Abrantes; and marching thence to
the Mondego, ‘he fixed his head - quarters at Viseu in
January 1810, having his outposts along the Portuguese
frontiers towards Ciudad Rodrigo, and having left General
Hill's division, south of the Tagus, to protect the Alemtejo.
In the mean time, both he and Beresford laboured might
and main to raise the Portuguese regular army to a state of
efficiency in numbers, armament, and discipline. Too much
praise could hardly te bestowed on Beresford for the part
he took in these endeavours. Most happily the Portuguese,
whom the Spaniards always affected to despise, were far
more modest and tractable than their neighbours.

Campaign of 1810.—Lord Wellington, in maintaining
that the defence of Portugal was a practicability, never
meant that he should be able to defend the whole frontier
of that country, the frontier being too extensive and open
on too many points. His assurance was, that he could secure
Lisbon the capital. and the other strongholds, and the
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mountains and fastnesses, so as to keep his footing in the
country, and tire and famish out the invaders. As leng as
the British kept Portugal, the French tenure of Spain must
be insecure. Buonaparte knew this well, and was, there-
fore, so anxious to dispel the English from Portugal.
Months before the storm burst, Lord Wellington had
written to the Earl of Liverpool—* I do not think that the
French will succeed in getting possession of Portugal, with
an army of 70,000 or even of 80,000 men.” This was now
to be proved.

The French armies in Spain had received during the
winter great reinforcements from Germany, in consequence
of the peace which their emperor had been enabled to
dictate to Austria under the walls of Vienna. Junot and
Drouet, with two fresh corps, had crossed the Pyrenees,
followed by a part of the Imperial Guards. It was reported
that Napoleon himself was coming. Ney, Kellerman, and
Loison, in Old Castile and Leon, pressed on the Portuguese
frontier with 60,000 men, and seemed, in the month of
April, to be quite ready for an attack. To open the way for
it, they had besieged and taken Astorga from the Spaniards,
and were making preparations for the sicge of Ciudad Rod-
rigo. Soult was now in the south of Spain, with Victor
and Mortier under his orders, and was displaying his activity
and administrative abilities in organising his military re-
sources, and establishing French authority in Andalusia.
General Regnier was in Jistremadura, ready to co-operate in
the invasion of Portugal by either bank of the Tagus. But
Regnier’s movements were watched by General Hill, with
about 12,000 British and Portuguese, whom Lord Welling-
ton had stationed on the frontiers of Alemtejo. At the south
extremity of Spain, Cadiz, strong by its natural situation,
was garrisoned by a British force of 7,000 men, under
General Graham, in addition to some Spanish troops; and
the French, under Marshal Victor, were blockading that
place. In the north, the Spaniards remained in possession
of Gallicia and Asturias, but were not in condition to effect
any powerful diversion. In the east of Spain, Valencia and
Murecia still held out, but Catalonia was the only province in
which the Spaniards kept up a regular, active system of
warfare against the French. O'Donnell, the best of the
Spanish generals, commanded the Catalonians, and was
favoured by the nature of the country, by the numerous
fortresses which were in it, and by part of an Inglish fleet
which kept along that coast. The Catalonians had also an
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organised and a daring militia, known by the naines of
Somatenes and Miguelets,—a force far more eflicient than
any reguiar army which the Spaniards had, as yet, on foot.
But the struggle in Catalonia was too remote to have much
influence on the operations in Portugal.

About the middle of May, Marshal Massena arrived at
Valladolid, having been sent by Buonaparte to take the
command of the army assembled on the frontier of Portugal.
Massena's force, disposable for the invasion, exceeded 72,000
men. To this number was afterwards added, in the course
of the campaign, about 18,000 men, under General Drouet.
Lord Wellington’s force, in regular troops, counting both
Portuguese and English troops, did not exceed 54,000.
There was, indeed, a considerable Portuguese militia, but
this was employed mostly in garrisons, and in the provinces
beyond the Douro. Massena had this advantage; he could
concentrate his whole force for the attack on the north of the
Tagus, while Lord Wellington was obliged to leave part of
his army to the south of that river, to guard against the
French army of Andalusia, which was more than 60,000
strong, and a part of which might advance into the Por«
tuguese province of Alemtejo. Moreover, let this be
marked,—Massena’s immense host was composed chiefly
of old soldiers, while Lord Wellington could rely con-
fidently only upon the British part of his army, which did
not exceed 25,000 men, the Portuguese regular troops being
as yet untried, and the militia being a militia, and no
more.

That the campaign would open with the siege of Ciudad
Rodrigo was the general expectation. Earziy in June,
Massena’s French invested that place, almost in sight of the
British advanced division; but Lord Wellington could not
risk his army for the relief of that Spanish fortress, his
object being to defend Portugal, and above all, Lisbon. On
the 10th of July, Ciudad Rodrigo capitulated. Our great
Captain retained his position on the left bank of the Coa.
The French advanced to that river, and near a bridge
were encountered by General Craufurd, who inflicted upon
them a loss of about 1,000 men. Craufurd’s engaging was
against Wellington's order; but it gave Massena a striking
specimen of the stern resistance that he had to encounter on
his march to Lisbon.

The French marshal issued a proclamation, abusing the
¢ insatiable ambition” of England; sneering at Lord Wel-
lington, recommending the Portuguese population to remain
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quiet, and assuring them of protection for their persons and
property. How this last promise was kept, was stated by
our Commander-in-chief, in a counter-proclamation, dated a
few weeks after the entrance ot Massena :—*The time which
has elapsed during which the enemy have remained upon
the frontiers of Portu gal has fortunately afforded the Por-
tuguese nation cxperience of what they are to expect from
the French. The people had remained in some villages
trusting to the enemy’s promises, and vainly believing that,
by treating the enemies of their country in a friendly man-
ner, they should conciliate their forbearance, and that their
properties would be respected, their women would be saved
from violation, and their lives would be spared. Vain
hopes! The people in these devoted villages have suffered
every evil which a cruel enemy could inflict. Their pro-
perty has been plundered, their houses and furniture burnt,
their women have been ravished, and the unfortunate in-
habitants whose age or sex did not tempt the brutal violence
of the soldiers, have fallen the victims of the imprudent
confidence they reposed in promises which were only made
to be violated. The Portugucse now see that they have no
remedy for the evils with which they are threatened, but
determined resistance. Resistance, and the determination to
render the enemy’s advance into their country as difficult as
possible, by removing out of his way everything that is
valuable, or that can contribute to his existence or frustrate
his progress, are the only and certain remedies for the evils
with which they are tbreatened. The army under my com-
mand will protect as large a proportion ot the country as
will be in their power; but it is obvious that the people can
save themselves only by resistance to the enemy, and their
properties only by removing them. The duty, however,
which I owe to his Royal Highness the Prince Regent, and
to the Portuguese nation, will oblize me to use the power
and authority in my hands to force the weak and the indo-
Ient to make an exertion to save themselves from the danger
which awaits them, and to save their country ; and I hereby
declare that all the magistrates or persons in authority wh
remain in the towns or villages after receiving orders from
any of the military officers to retire from them, and all
persons of whatever description who hold any communication
with the enemy, and aid and assist them in any manner, will
be considered traitors to the state, and shall be tricd and
punished accordingly.”*
* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. vi. pp. 229, £30.
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Marshal Massena, a very low-bred soldier of fortune,
found he could not move quite so rapidly as he had an-
ticipated. In one of those inflated papers which disgraced
the French during all the Buonaparte period, he had given
himself only three months to achieve the conquest of Por-
tugal, and drive Lord Wellington into the sea; but he
passed nearly one entire month inactively on the line of the
Coa, ere he commenced the siege of Almeida. It was the
15th of August when he began to break ground before that
place. Then Lord Wellington moved part of his army to
the front, to take advantage of any opportunity for relieving
the place. Almeida was defended by a Portuguese garrison,
commanded by an English officer. Lord Wellington ex-
vected that it would hold out well ; but on the night of the
¢7th of August, under French fire, a magazine blew up,
~hich contained nearly all the powder, and by the explosion
a good part of the town and its defences were destroyed ;
and this obliged the governor to capitulate. Disappointed
and vexed —for he reckoned on the place detaining the
%rench until the rainy season set in—Wellington then fcll
back with the main body of his army to the valley of the
Mondego. Soon, however, he had the consolation of know-
ing {vractically, and to a certainty, that Massena was not
entitled to the reputation which revolutionism and Buona-
partism had conferred upon him. The marshal lost many
more days; and it was on the 15th of September, when the
rain was pouring down, as from hogsheads, that he really
began his march along the valley of the Mondego, by the
right bank of that river, taking the direction of Coimbra,
through our old quarters at Viseu. It was no laughing
time ; but our great Captain could not help indulging in
a smile at Massena’s monstrous mistake. ¢ There are,
certainly,” said he, “many bad roads in Portugal, but
the enemy has taken decidedly the worst in the whole
kingdom.,” *

Lord Wellington, who had retired by the left bank of °
the Mondego, now crossed the river, and took up a strong
position in front of Coimbra, along the memorable ridge of
Busaco. He was joined in good time (on the morning of
the 26th) by General Hill, g‘om the south, who had left
some of his troops on the left bank of the Mondego, to bar
the road to Lisbon on that side. The position at Busaco
was grim to look at; but on the evening of the 26th of
August, the French were at its foot, and began skirmishing

* ¢ Wellington Dispatcnes.’
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“Nothing,” says a British officer present, *“could be con-
ceived more enlivening, more interesting, or more varied
than the scene from the heights of Busaco. Commanding a
very extensive prospect to the eastward, the movements of
the French army were thence distinctly perceptible. . . . . .
Rising grounds were covered with troops, cannon, or equis
pages - the widely-extended country contained a host moving
forward, or gradually condensing into masses, checked in
their progress by the grand natural barrier.” * ;

In the course of the night, 70,000 men, formidable for
their discipline and the long habit of conquest, were at the
foot of that ridge, under conduct of three marshals of France,
the chief of whom, Massena, was renowned by a life of great
military- successes. On the top of the ridge, or, rather, a
little upon the backward slope of the Serra—in order that
their disposition and numbers might be masked from the
enemy—lay 25,000 British soldiers, and a like number of
Portuguese.

As early as two in the morning of the 27th, the sentinels
on our picket-posts could hear the stir of preparation in the
French camp; and the British line stood silently to arms.
In the order of battle, Hill occupied the right, with Leith
upon his left, and the Lusitanian legion in reserve. Next in
order stood the 3rd division, under fiery Picton. Our 1st
division was formed near an old convent, at the very top of
the Serra, with the brigade of Pack posted considerably in
advance on the descent. The light division was formed on
the left of Pack, and, in like manner, upon the descent from
that lofty culm where the convent stood. A swell of earth
and rock concealed their line from the enemy; while, at
some distance behind their posts, a brigade of German
infantry stood exposed to full view, as if it were the only
body to oppose the French. Our 4th division, under General
Cole, held the extreme left of the ridge, covering a road
which led into a flat country, on which the British cavalry
were drawn up in reserve. The DBritish and Portuguese
artillery was distributed along the front, at those points
where it could be employed with the best effect.t

The grey mist of early dawn hung 1?‘ret upon the moun-
tain; and it was but a doubtful light when the enemy
quitted their camp. But as they advance, column upon
column, the sun shone forth on their multitudinous array.

= Colonel Leith Hay. + Captain Moyle Sherer.
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“ And is it now a goodly sight,
Or dreadful to behold,
The pomp of that approaching fight,
‘Waving ensigus, peunons light,
And gleaming blades and bayonets bright,
And eagles winged with gold.” *

I have been told by a brave English officer—then a young
ensign, and going, for the first time, into battle—that the
sight took away his breath, and that our soldiers, on the
ridge of Busaco, gazed for a time at it, motionless and silent.
But this was soon over —the French moved up the hills.
« Two columns, under Regnier, pressed up to the assault of
the third division; and three, under Ney, moved rapidly
against the convent. These points of attack were about
three miles asunder. The firing first opened in front of
Craufurd’s division ; but, despite its earnest loudness, at the
first faint report of guns from the right, Wellington, antici-

ating the object of Massena, rode thither, and found, as
Ee had expected, that the main effert of the enemy was to
possess themselves of the road which traverses the Busaco,
from St. Antonio de Cantara, and to turn his right. They
were ignorant of the presence of Generals Hill and Leith,
and considered themselves engaged with the extreme right
of the British. But, from the sumnmit of that rocky brow,
which they had ascended, through a storm of opposing fire
with astonishing resolution, and for which they were still
contending, though vainly, with the brave division of Picton,
they beheld the strong and steady columns of those generals-
moving swiftly to the scene of action. The right of the
third division had been, in the first instance, borne back :
the 8th Portuguese had suffered most severely; the enemy
had formed, in good order, upon the ground which they
had so boldly won, and were preparing to bear down to
the right, and sweep our field of battle. Lord Wellington
arrived on the spot at this moment, and aided the gallant
efforts of Picton’s regiments, the fire of whose musketry was
terrible, by causing two guns to play upon the French flank
with grape. Unshaken even with tgis destruction, they still
held their ground, till. with levelled bayonets and the shout
of the charge, the 45th and 88th regiments British, most
gallantly supported by the 8th Portuguese, rushed for-
wards, and hurried them down the mountain side with a
fearful slaughter.” ¢

But there was another column of the enemy, wkich had

* ¢ The battles cf Twlavera.” F Captain Moyle Sherer.
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gained a height beyond the line of Picton's division. Upon
this column, Colonel Edward Barnes's brigade of General
Leith's corps, headed by the 9th regt.,under Colonel Cameron,
made a rust ; and the French, though defending themselves
with a fierce fire of musketry, were borne over the rocks by
the bayonets of the brave 9th. Another hopeless assault
was made on General Craufurd, in front of the convent.
The French advanced with great ardour, in spite of the
musketry of our light troops and the bullets of our artillery,
whieh made great havoc in their columns as they ascended
the steep ; but they had as yet no footing on the swelling
vidge which masked the 43rd and 52nd regiments, when, at
:he given word, those gallant regiments ran upon them at
*he charge step, overthrew them with the bayonet, and then
poured such a murderous fire upon the fuyards, that their
ine of retreat was strewed a long way down the hill with
vheir dead and disabled.

After this lesson, the French marshals would not think of
renewing the combat on the grim Serra de Busaco. They
had lost one general and about 1,000in killed, two generals
and about 3,000 in wounded; while one general and several
hundred men had been made prisoners—in all nearly §,000.
The loss of the allies did not exceed 1,300, whereof 578 were
Portuguese — being their full proportion, and a convincing
proof that they had stood to their work like soldiers.

The conduct of the Portuguese was, indeed, worthy of
their ancient, but long obscured, fame. By the victory of
Busaco they were inspired with a confidence in Wellington,
and with a confidence in themselves, which never after-
wards forsook them. Their gallant bearing was, to Marshal
Beresford especially, and to all the Dritish officers serving
under him (who had helped to turn ¢“a lawless rabble”
into a fine army), a very high honour, and a well-earned
reward.*

“This movement,” says Wellington, *has brought the
Portuguese levies into action with the enemy, for the first
time, in an advantageous situation ; and they have proved
that the trouble which has been taken with them has not
been threwn away, and that they are worthy of contending,
in the same ranks with British troops, in this interesting
cause, which they afford the best hopes of saving.” {

One great object of Lord Wellington, in fighting the
battle of Busaco, was to give time to the population of the
* Captain Moyle Sherer, ¢ Military Memoirs of the Duke.’

+ ¢ Wellington Dispatches,” vol. vi. p. 475.
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country in his rear to get out of the way of the enemy with
their goods and provisions, especially from Coimbra, a popu-
lous and rather wealthy town; but the orders he had given
to that effect were ill obeyed, and, in many instances, totally
neglected until the French marauders were in the towns and
villages. North of the ridge of Busaco, there was the pass
of Boyalva; and thither Massena now directed the heads
of his formidable columns. Lord Wellington had directed
Colonel Trant to occupy the Boyalva pass with a Portu-
guese division ; but Trant missed the direct road, and arrived
too late; and the French descended through the pass into
the maritime plains, seizing on the road leading from Oporto
to Coimbra. Massena had thus turned Lord Wellington's
position, and got in his rear. But, facing about, the allies,
on the 29th, quitted the ridge of Busaco, crossed the Mon-
dego, and began their retreat towards Lisbon—with full
confidence that Massena was not to plant his eagles there
this time.

On the 1st of September, the British rear-guard, after
some skirmishing with the French, evacuated Coimbra,
accompanied by nearly all the remaining inhabitants, who
now ran away with whatever moveable property they could
carry, not knowing whither they were going, or by whom
they were to be lodged and fed. The sick, the aged, and the
children were put upon carts, mules, and asses ; but respect~
able men and delicate women were seen walking slowly and
painfully on foot, under heavy burdens, and encumbering
the road, while the French cavalry was hovering on our
flank and rear. “It was a piteous sight,” says an officer
present, “and one which those who saw it can never forget.”
The French entered the forsaken city of Coimbra, where
they found ample stores of provision, which the soldiers
pillaged and wasted, instead of husbanding them for the
future necessities of their army. Massena halted three
days in the town, and then pursned his march, leaving
5,000 sick and wounded behind him. Three days after his
departure, Colonel Trant rushed into Coimbra, with a body
of Portuguese militia, and captured these 5,000 French,
together with some effective soldiers who had been left to
protect the hospitals. Other bodies of militia and of
organised peasants acted also upon the encmy’s rear in co-
operation with Trant; and every town or post which the
French evacuated as they advanced towards Lisbon, was
taken immediate possession of.

As the English and Portugucse pursued their leisurely

G
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march in echellons of divisions, by the two roads of Espin-
hai and Leiria, they found the villages deserted, the mill in
the valley motionless, the mountain cottages open and un-
tenanted, the bells of the monastery silent, and the white
churches empty. The flank of our columns were now literally
covered with the flying population. It was like the up-
rooting and sweeping away of the population of whole pro-
vinces, with their flocks and their herds, their household
goods and gods, and everything that was theirs: it was a
scene such as Europe might have presented at the first
irruption of the Huns.

It is to be remarked, however, that great as might have
been the sufferings of this forced emigration, the people
must have suffered infinitely more if they had remained in
their homes during the French advance, and the infernal
retreat which followed it. And better had it been for the
general cause in the Peninsula, if Lord Wellington’s pro-
clamation had been in all instances more strictly obeyed.

Meanwhile, Massena followed our columns, and talked
as loudly as before of driving the English into the sea.
When intelligence of these movements reached England, the
political party which had always represented the glorious
struigle as a:{]opeless one, said that Wellington had gained
another victory only to commence another retreat ; and that
it was one of the wildest flights of human presumption to
think of defending a country like Portugal against the vast,
victorious armies and surpassing genius of Buonaparte.
They, too, anticipated that our 25,000 British must flee to
their ships if they could only escape the ignominy of a capitu-
lation ; but no such raven croaked over the tent of our
great Commander. The plan of defence which he had
formed and matured was still unbroken and entire, and so
were his own hopes. Writing to our admiral in the Tagus,
during the retreat, be said,—*“1I have very little doubt of
being able to hold this country against the force which has
now attacked it. There will be a breeze near Lisbon, but I
know that we shall have the best of it.” And writing to
his brother Henry,* now ambassador in Spain, he said,—
“'We shall make our retreat to the positions in front of
Lisbon without much difficulty or any loss. My opinion is,
that the French are in a scrape. They are not a sufficient
army for the purpose, particularly since their late losses,
end since the Portuguese have behaved so well ; and they

* Henry Wellesley, afterwards Lord Cowley.
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will find their retreat from this country a most difficult and
dangerous operation.”*

His own retreat from Busaco, a distance of nearly 200
miles, was performed without loss or irregularity, although
the van of Massena’s immense column was several times near
enough to skirmish with our rear-guard. On the 7th of
October, the French came in sight of the chain of hills
behind which, at the distance of twenty-four miles, lay the
city of Lisbon. And now up Lines of Torres Vedras, and
show the lion in the middle path!}

But those lines were already up; and everything was
prepared to keep the French at bay.

This grand defensive scheme had more or less occupied
the mind of Wellington ever since the campaign of 1808.
It had been indispensable to conceal the great project, and
to mystify the French ; and this had been done with aston-
ishing address. Even when most actively engaged in
directing the construction of the works, our great Com-
mander had the art to make not only the enemy, but also
the people of the country, believe that he intended nothing
serious there; and it is said, that, in order to keep up the
illusion, he sometimes spoke of the plan, even to officers of
his own army, as a thing which had flitted through his
head, but which had been abandoned; and even when he
received better information, Massena remained in the belief
that the works thrown up were little more than field-works,
which might easily be turmed or overpowered by his own
batteries, and that so extensive a line was not defensible by
such a force as Wellington commanded, but must have
several weak points, at one or two of which a concentrated
sustained attack, costing, perhaps, a few thousands in killed
and wounded, must eventually succeed. But along the whole
line there was not one weak point; nor was there an open-
ing or interstice through which a mountain goat could pass
but was blocked up or guarded. Down the hollows in
which the roads ran, were pointed the black muzzles of
numerous guns, projecting from batteries which could main=
tain a fire in front, and a crossing fire from the flanks.
While Massena had been waiting at Coimbra and Sobral,
stupendous exertions had been made to give the last
finish to these grand defences. To complete the bar-
riers, palisades, platfcrms, and planked bridges leading inte

* <Dispatches,’ vol. vi.
% ¢ But in the middle path a lion lay.’
Sir Walter Scott, ¢ Vision of Don Roderic.’
a2
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the works, 50,000 trees were placed at the disposal of
the engineer department. There was no lack of hands to
do the necessary work ; 3,000 artillery men and officers of
the country were on the spot; 7,000 Portuguese peasantry
were employed as labourers; and the British engineers,
artillery-men, and artificers, were aided by our soldiers of
the line who had been left to garrison Lisbon, and who
found a pleasant excitement and much amusement in the
occupation. From Torres Vedras to Lisbon, the whole
country was covered or constantly traversed, like an ant-
hill in an autumnal evening. By night and by day, people,
cars, mules, horses, and donkeys, were bringing up ma-
terials and implements; and every daly, every hour, the
position was gaining strength from all this unremitting
labour. The roads leading up to the position were de-
stroyed ; and as Wellington had gained time, and brought
down the French just as the rainy season was setting in,
they found an inundated country and a swawmp to give
them damp welcome. A finer field for manceuvring than
that which our troops had behind the ridges of Torres
Vedras could scarcely be desired or conceived. One of
Wellington’s bravest and most illustrious comrades, says,—
“T cannot proceed further without desiring to draw the
attention of my brother soldiers in a particular manner, not
only to the subject (Torres Vedras) of which I am now
speaking, but to the whole plan of this campaign, because I
am sure that a British army never took part in one better
adapted to instruct it in the art of manceuvring on a grand
scale, nor, consequently, so well calculated to make efficient
officers of those who shared in it, or are disposed to take the
trouble of studying it asit deserves.”*

I was at Torres Vedras in the spring of 1815, when the
works might be traced, and the whole plan easily under-
stood. For a complete notion of the lines, the reader must
consult militarg and scientific books, and Wellington's own
despatches. The following is an outline sketch by an officer
who served behind those lines with the 60th Rifles :—

“The line of defence was double. The first, which was
twenty-nine miles long, began at Alhandra, on the Tagus,
crossed the valley of Armia, which was rather a weak
point, and passed along the skirts of Mount Agraga, where
there was a large and stroni redoubt ; it then passed across
the valley of Tibreira, and skirted the ravine of Runa to the
heights of Torres Vedras, which were well fortified; and

* Marq -ess of Londonderry, ¢ Memoir of the War in the Peninsula.
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from thence followed the course ot the little river Zizandre
to its mouth on the sea-coast. The line followed the
sinuosities of the mountain tract which extends from the
Tagus to the sea, about thirty miles north of Lisbon. Lord
Wellington’s head-quarters were fixed at Pero Negro, a
little in the rear of the centre of the line, where a telegrapn
was fixed corresponding with every part of the position.
The second line, at a distance varying from six to ten miles
in the rear of the first, extended from Quintella, on the
Tagus, by Bucellas, Monte Chique, and Mafra, to the mouth
of the Iittle river S. Lorenco, on the sea-coast, and was
twenty-four miles long. This was the stronger line of the
two, both by nature and art, and, if the first line were
forced by the enemy, the retreat of the army upon the
second was secure at all times. DBoth lines were secured by
breastworks, abattis, stone walls with banquettes, and scarps.
In the rear of the second line there was a line of embarka-
tion, should that measure become necessary, enclosing an
entrenched camp and the fort of St. Julian. More than
two redoubts or forts, and 600 pieces of artillery, were
scattered along these lines. Lord Wellington had received
reinforcements from England and Cadiz; the Portuguese
army had also been strengthened, ard the Spanish division
of La Romafia, 5,000 strong, came from Estremadura to
join the allies; so that the British commander had about
60,000 regular troops posted along the first and second lines,
besides the Portuguese militia and artillery (which manned
the forts and redoubts and garrisoned Lisbon,) a fine body of
English marines which occupied the line of embarkation, a
powerful fleet in the Tagus, and a flotilla of gun-boats
flanking the right of the British line.* It was altogether a
stupendous line of defence, conceived by the ilitary genius
of the British commander, and executed by the military skill
of the British engineer officers.” {

The highest praise was due and was given by Lord
Wellington to these engineer officers, whose labours were
directed at first by Colonel Fletcher, and afterwards by
Captain J. T. Jones, both of the Royal Engineers.

Another officer says,—*“ Indeed, it was rather a mighty
and impregnable fortress than a camp. Here the faces of
mountains were scarped — there rivers dammed to make
defensive inundations ; while, upon the lines of defence, a
griple chain of redoubts was most skilfully disposed. . . . .

* <Dispatches,’ vol. vi. p. 682,
+ A. Vieussenx, ¢ Military Life of the Duke.’
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The communications within the works were excellent, and
all the roads and positions free for the movement of our
troops.”*

On the 8th of October, the allied army began entering
these lines, each division taking up its assigned quarters as
quietly and orderly as if it were marching into a garrison-
town of its own; and by the 10th, our entire force was col-
lected on those heights, leaving the French, in the wet plain
below, to gaze at our positions,

¢ As famished wolves survey a guarded fold.”

Massena's astonishment was equalled only by his mor-
tification! For three days he did nothing but stare at the
lines, and examine them through a telescope. He then
emﬁloyed several days in reconnoitering them, and in
making demonstrations in order to induce the British gene-
ral to show out his forces—a thing which Wellington never
did, or would do, until the moment when it was absolutely
necessary and unavoidable.

“ On the 14th of October the French made an attack on a
detachment of the 71st regiment, which was in advance of
the lines near the town of Sobral, but they were repulsed
with the bayonet and driven back into Sobral. Another
skirmish occurred near Villa Franca, in front of the right of
the line, in which the French General St. Croix was killed
by the fire of the English gun-boats. After this, no further
demonstrations were made. Massena put the second and
eighth corps partly in the villages and partly in bivouacs in
front of the right and centre of the British position, leaving
the sixth corps at Otta in his rear. He established his
depot and hospitals, and commenced forming magazines at
Santarem, and for this purpose sent moveable columns to
scour the eountry for provisions, for he had entered Por-
tugal without magazines, every soldier carrying fifteen
days’ bread, which many, however, threw away or wasted on
the road. The country had been partly stripped by the
inhabitants, who had retired to the mountains or within the
lines, and the devastation of the French foraging parties
destroyed what was left, so that for many leagues in rear of
the French the country became a perfect desert. To add to
this, the Portuguese militia, under Trant, Miller, and Wil-
son, came down from the north and cut off all communica-
tion between Massena’s army and the Spanish frontier.” }

* Captain M. Sherer, ‘ Military Memoirs of the Duke.’

Sir Walter Scott, ¢ Vision of Don Roderic.”
A, Vieusseux, *Military Life,’ ¢ Wellington Dispatches.’
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Toward the end of October, Massena sent 2,000 men
across the Zezere in order tc re-open a communication with
Spain by way of Castellobranco ; and General Foy proceeded
with a strong escort by way of Penomacor to Ciudad Rod-
rigo, from whence he hastened to Paris to inform Napoleon
of the real state of affairs in Portugal. If Foy told the
truth, he had a sad tale to tell. The French, who had
entered Portugal 70,000 strong, had lost 15,000 men; they
had become very sickly in consequence of privations,
bivouacking in low grounds, and being exposed, with little
or no shelter, to heavy rains and inclement weather.

Massena had now given up all idea of attempting to force
the lines unless he received immense reinforcements. On
the 15th of November, he began a retrograde movement,
with great caution, for the purpose of placing his army in
cantonments for the winter. There were terrible discontent-
ments among his officers as well as among his men.

On the 17th, the French second corps was established
at and near Santarem, in a very strong position; the eighth
corps at Pernes, and the sixth corps at Thomar, farther in
the rear. Massena's head-quarters were fixed at Torres
Novas. The British light divisions and cavalry followed the
French movements, and took some prisoners, but nothing of
importance occurred. Lord Wellington, leaving part of his
troops in the lines, moved forward the remainder towards
the Rio Mayor, which separated him from the French
position at Santarem. Hill's division was placed on the left
bank of the Tagus, opposite Santarem. Weliington’s head-
quarters were fixed at Cartaxo. Thus ended the campaign
of 1810.*

As the French had advauced by the valley of the Mondego
and the country west of the Istrella ridge, the people of
that tract of country had in great measure deserted it, and
carried off the provisions; but the population east of the
mountains had remained in fancied security, so that when
Massena withdrew his army to that quarter, he found the
towns of Thomar, Pernes, Torres Novas, and Golegdo in-
habited and untouched. Cattle and corn were procured,
and the French were supplied at least for part of the
winter. By a scandalous remissness, a number of boats had
been left behind at Santarem, on the right bank of the
Tagus, by means of which the enemy had the power of
crossing the river whenever he liked. This annoyed Lord
Wellington more than anything else, and he expressed him-

* ¢ Dispatches,” vol, vi.
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self strongly concerning the Portuguese regency for not
having enforced the necessary orders for removing every-
thing out of the reach of the enemy, as he had urged them
to do months before. ¢ The French could not have stayed,
if the provisions had been removed. . . . . All our
military arrangements are useless, if they can find subsistence
on the ground which they occupy. . . . . Then the
boats are left at Santarem in order to give the enemy an
opportunity of acting upon our flanks. . . . . Itis
heartbreaking to contemplate the chances of failure from
such obstinacy and folly.” *

A perverse spirit had manifested itself in the Portuguese
regency ever since the fall of Almeida, absurd men having
taken up the notion that Lord Wellington ought to have
risked his entire army in an attempt to save that fortress.
By degrees, a violent faction was formed by Principal Souza
and the Patriarch (formerly Bishop of Oporto), who wanted
to control and direct the operations of our great Commander.
As his lordship would not submit to their dictation, they
thwarted him in every way. While yet in the field, and on
his retreat before Massena, Wellington had written to Mr.
Charles Stuart, our ambassador at Lisbon, to denounce the
practices of this faction, and the meddling, insolent spirit
of a set of priests: — “In order to put an end at once
to these miserable intrigues, I beg that you will inform
the Portuguese Government that I will not stay in the
country, and that I shall advise the King's Government
to withdraw the assistance which his Majesty affords them,
if they interfere in any manner with the appointments
of Marshal Beresford's staff, for which he is responsible; or
with the operations of the army ; or with any of the points
which, under the original arrangement with Marshal Beres-
ford, were referred exclusively to his management. I pro-
pose also to report to his Majesty’s Government, and refer
to their consideration, what steps ought to be taken if the
Portuguese Government refuse or delay to adopt the civil
and political arrangements recommended by me, and cor-
responding with the military operations which I am carry-
ing on. (This refers to the measure of destroying, or rather
rendering useless, the mills, by removing the sails, &c.)
But it appears that the Portuguese Government have lately
discovered that we are all wrong; they have become im-
patient for the defeat of the enemy, and, in imitation of the
Central Junta of Spain, call out for a battle and early suc-

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. vi, rp. 615, 521, 570.
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eess. If T had had the power I would have prevented the
Spanish armies from attending to this call.”*

In another letter, dated Rio Mayor, October 6, addressed
likewise to Mr. Stuart, Lord Wellington says—* You will
do me the favour to inform the regency, and above all the
Principal Souza, that, his Majesty and the Prince Regent
having intrusted me with the command of their armies, and
likewise with the conduct of the military operations, I will
not suffer them, or anybody else, to interfere with them;
that I know best where to station my troops, and when to
make a stand against the enemy; and I shall not alter a
system formed upon mature consideration upon any sug-
gestion of theirs. I am responsible for what 1 do, and they
are not; and I recommend them to look to the measures
for which they are responsible, and which I long ago recom-
mended to them, viz., to provide for the tranquillity of
Lisbon, and for the food of their own army and of the
people, while the troops will be engaged with the enemy.
As for Principal Souza, I beg you to tell him from me, that
1 have had no satisfaction in transacting the business of his
country, since he has been a member of the government ;
that, being embarked in a course of military operations, of
which I hope to see the successful termination, I shall con-
tinue to carry them on to the end, but that no power on
earth shall induce me to remain in the Peninsula for one
moment after I shall have obtained his Majesty’s leave to
resign my charge, if Principal Souza is to remain either
a member of the government or to continue at Lisbon.
Either he must quit the country, or I will; and if I should
be obliged to go, I will take care that the world, or Por-
tngal, at least, and the Prince Regent, shall be made ac-
guainted with my reasons. From the letter of the 3rd,
which I have received from Don Mignel Forjaz, I had
hoped that the Government was satisfied with what I had
done, and intended to do, and that, instead of endeavour-
ing to render all further defence fruitless, by disturbing the
mnds of the populace of Lisbon, they would have done
their duty by adopting measures to secure the tranquillity of
the town; but I suppose that, like other weak individuals,
they add duplicity to their weakness, and that their ex-
pressions of approbation, and even gratitude, were intended
to convey censure. . . . I have but little doubt of suc-
cess ; but as I have fought a sufficient number of batiles to
know that the result of any one 1s not certain, even with the

® ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. vi. p. 412.
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best arrangements, I am anxious that the Government should
adopt preparatory arrangements, and take out of the enemy’s
way those persons and their families who would suffer if they
were to fall into their hands.”*

On the 1st of November, being then at Pero Negro, his
lordship wrote a still more remarkable letter to our am-
bassador. Beginning with a cutting sarcasm on the priests,
he said, “I may have mistaken the system of defence to
be adopted in this country ; and Principal Souza and other
members of the Regency may be better judges of the capa-
city of the troops, and of the operations to be carried on,
than T am. In this case, they should desire his Majesty and
the Prince Regent to remove me from the command of the
army. But they cannot doubt my zeal for the cause in
which we are engaged ; and they know that there is not a
moment of my time, nor a faculty of my mind, that is not
devoted to promote it ; and the records of the Government
will show what I have done for them and their country. If,
therefore, they do not manifest their dissatisfaction and want
of confidence in the measures which I adopt, by desiring
that I should be removed, they are bound, as honest men
and faithful servants to their prince, to co-operate with me
by all the means in their power, and thus should neither
thwart them by opposition, nor render them nugatory by
useless delays and discussions. . . . . The truth is, that,
notwithstanding the opinion of some of the Government,
every Portuguese into whose hand a firelock is placed, does
not become a soldier capable of meeting the enemy. Expe-
rience, which the members of the Government have not had,
has taught me this truth, and in what manner to make use
of the different description of troops in this country ; and it
would be very desirable if the Government would leave,
exclusively, to Marshal Beresford and me, the adoption of
all military arrangements.” { ’

It has been truly said, that the perusal of this correspon-
dence is absolutely necessary to enable a person to have a just
idea of the difficulties which Lord Wellington had to contend
with, and of the strength of mind which enabled him to rise
superior to them. There was not another general officer in
the army whose patience wouid have stood the enormous
draughts made upon it. As for fiery Picton and impetuous
Craufurd, it may be seriously doubted whether they would
not have shot patriarch and principal, and involved us in &
war with our allies.

* ¢Dispatches,” vol, vi. p. 404. + €187 vol, vii. pp. 573-4:
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Campaign of 1811.—During the months of January and
February, the hostile armies in Portugal remained in the
same respective positions; the French knowing that the
English would not be driven from the lines of Torres
Vedras, and the English not knowing what movements the
French intended to make.

A dear old friend and travelling companion has favoured
me with the following amusing and characteristic anecdote:~

“ There is one circumstance which I have never for-
fotten, though it occurred forty years ago. I was staying
at head-quarters at Cartaxo during the winter of 1810—11.
My superior officer and friend, Captain H——, was invited
one day to dine at the Commander-in-chief’s; for Lord
Wellington occasionally invited regimental officers, and even
young subalterns, if they attracted his notice or brought
any introduction to his lordship. T remember a Tyrolese
officer, one of Hofer’s sacred band, who had found his way
to Portugal; he obtained a commission in a Portuguese
regiment, and was killed soon after, in our advance. He
had letters for Lord Wellington, presented them, and was
asked to dinner the same day. Being a blunt, honest Ger-
man, and speaking very little English, he must have afforded
some entertainment to his noble entertainer and staff. But
to return to Capt. H——. He dined with Lord Wellington
some day either at the end of January or the beginning of
February 1811, and when he came back to our quarters at
night I asked him—of course with some degree of curiosity
and anxiety—if anything had been said at table concerning
our prospects in the ensuing campaign. Lord Wellington, as
may be supposed, never spoke upon military operations
before company ; but it so happened that, that evening,
some one among the guests, perhaps an officer high in rank,
ventured to say,—*‘Il wonder what Massena will do next.’
Zooking at the guest, his lordship said, in a hurried man-
ner,—*‘They will march in March,’ and said no more.
These were the words that Captain H repeated to me
that evening, at least a month or five weeks before the break-
ing up of the French from Santarem, which, sure enough,
took place in the month of March, when they began their
retreat to the frontiers of Spain. But at the time the words
were uttered we had no idea in the army that the French
would be gone sc soon; we knew that Massena was being
reinforced, and the opposition papers at home were loud in
their forebodings of a formidable renewed attack upon us in
the spring.”
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Meanwhile, Buonaparte’s 9th corps, under Drouet, had
entered Portugal by the valley of the Mondego, with a
large convoy of provisions from Spain, and had reinforced
Massena’s army. At the same time, Marshal Soult, who
commanded the army of Andalusia, received orders from
Napoleon himself to act in concert with Massena, by attack-
ing Portugal south of the Tagus; and a new French army,
under Marshal Bessitres, was formed in the north of Spain,
consisting of about 70,000 men, this Marshal being ordered
to support the army of Portugal. Buonaparte was intent
on his favourite scheme of crushing by immense masses.
“ Make a bridge across the Tagus,” said he, “and let
Massena and Soult form a junction; meantime keep the
English in check, and make them lose men every day by
engagements of the advanced guards; their army is small,
and they cannot afford to lose many men; besides, people
in London are much alarmed about their army in Portugal ;
and when the season becomes favourable let the main opera-
tions be carried on on the south bank of the Tagus.”*

Such were the gigantic efforts made by the master of half
of Europe to crush an English army of 30,000 men, whilst
Lord Wellington, after urgent applications to ministers at
home, received reinforcements to the amount of from 6,000
t0 7,000 men only in the beginning of March. DBut yet a
horrible disaster for the French was at hand. DMassena was
waiting for Soult to appear on the left bank of the Tagus
opposite to his position, but Soult was obliged to maintain
the blockade of Cadiz, in which there was a British garrison
of 6,000 men; he was obliged to leave Sebastiani on the side
of Granada and Murcia to keep in check the Spanish armed
parties, and he could not therefore dispose of more than
20,000 men, with whom he durst not enter Alemtejo, leav-
ing the Spanish fortress of Badajoz in his rear. He there-
fore began by attacking the fortress of Olivenga, which he
took on the 22nd of January, and then marched to Badajoz.
On the 19th of February he defeated a Spanish force of
nearly 12,000 men under General Mendizabal, which was
posted on the river Gebora, an affluent of the Guadiana, and
then sat down to bésiege Badajoz.

“You will observe,” wrote L.ord Wellington to his brother
Henry, * the fate of Olivenga for want of provisions, and 1
am sadly afraid that Badajoz is not much better off. The

* Letters from Berthier, at the head of the war department in Paris, to

Massena and Sonlt, in Arpendix to vol. iii, of Napier’s ¢ War in the
Peninsuia.’
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Spaniards have had the whole province of Estremadura
open to them since the beginning of last July; and it was
particularly settled between the Marques de la Romafa
and me, not only that the abundant harvest of Estremadura
should supply his garrisons, but that a large magazine
should be formed for my army. To form these magazines,
however, required arrangement, foresight, and activity, and
there our allies invariably fail us. If it be true that there
are no provisions in Badajoz, the French will undoubtedly
get that place, if they only approach it ; and then there will
be a fine breeze.”* Badajoz, being better supplied than he
had anticipated, detained Soult for some time.

In the mean while, Massena remained in his position at
Santarem, waiting for Soult’s appearance on the Tagus, till
he became so distressed for provisions that he could wait no
longer. All the means of collecting provisions by violence
were exhausted, large moveable columns had been sent at
different times both on the side of Castellobranco and on
that of the Mondego, which scoured the country and carried
away cattle and provisions, committing horrible excesses,
which were retaliated by the infuriated peasantry upon the
French stragglers and wounded. The discipline of the army
was broken by this barbarous system of warfare; they had
no less than 10,000 sick, no news from Spain, and no more
provisions left than would serve the troops during their
retreat to the frontiers. In the beginning of March, Massena
moved his sick and baggage by degrees to the rear, and after
demonstrations in various directions, the divisions of his
army filed off in the direction of Pombal. Santarem was
evacuated in the night of the 5th, and next morning it was
entered by the English. Massena, however, had gained two
days march, and his army was not overtaken by the Eng-
lish till the 10th, when it was concentrated on a table-land
before Pombal, presenting a front of resistance. There was
some skirmishing with the light division, whilst Wellington
brought up his other divisions, but the French, having
gained time for their baggage to file off, retreated on the
11th through the town. A detachment which Ney had left
in the castle of Pombal was driven away with some loss by
the English, and in the night Massena continued his retreat.
On the12th, the English advance found Ney with the French
rear-guard posted on a high table-land in front of the village
of Redinha, when another skirmishing took place. As the
French seemed disposed to stand their ground, and made a

* ¢Dispatohes,’ vol. vii. p. 166.
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show of considerable force, Lord Wellington formed his
army in line and moved on to the attack, when, after a
general discharge from the French battalions, which hid
them in smoke, the French were again in full retreat
through the village, and joined that evening the main body
at Condeixa, where one road leads to Coimbra and another
ascends the valley of the Mondego. Massena's intention
was to seize Coimbra and, if possible, Oporto, and there to
wait for reinforcements from Spain, and he had sent a divi-
sion under Montbrun to secure the bridge of Coimbra.
Wellington bad foreseen his intention, and had ordered
Wilson and Trant, with the Portuguese militia, to look to
the security of the important town of Oporto, and to aban-
don the line of the Mondego, which river was fordable in
many places, and retire across the Douro. Coimbra was
thus exposed to attack. But it fortunately happened that
Trant lingered behind at that town with a small force, and
having destroyed one arch of the bridge and placed guards
at the fords, he determined to defend the place, calculating
that, if he could parry a coup-de-main, Marshal Massena,
with Lord Wellington at his heels, would not stay long on
the left bank of the Mondego. On the 11th, Montbrun
appeared in the suburbs, and on the 12th, making an attempt
to force the bridge, he was repulsed with grape-shot. Upon
this, Massena relinquished the idea of crossing the Mondego,
and determined to retreat by Ponte de Murcella and the left
bank. Thus Coimbra was saved from French fury. If
he could have crossed the river he would have found sup-
plies, but the country through which he was now to move
was quite exhausted.

Massena resumed his retreat on the 13th in rather a con-
fused manner, being on the point of having his left turned
by Picton’s division, which had taken a short cut by a
* rugged path across the mountains of Ancido. Ney, with
the rear-guard, set fire to the town of Condeixa, in order to
stop the passage of the British artillery and powder-waggons.
But our light division rushed througn the burning town,
and followed the flying enemy as fast and close as obstacles
prepared on the road would permit. With part of his
column Picton overtook their rear, cut in between their
columns, separated them from one another, and nearly made
Ney prisoner. The darkness of night saved the French
from further disasters. They scrambled over the mountains
in that darkness, and got together again. The English
must alsp have marched in the night, for on the morning
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of the 14th, when the fog which enveloped the mountains
began to clear, Marshal Ney was discovered posted on a hill
near Casal Nova. The most advanced part of our light
division engaged immediately,and the 52nd regiment suffered
some loss ; but Picton’s and Cole’s divisions soon appeared
on the left flank of the enemy and compelled them to renew
their retreat. This Marshal Ney did with admirable skill
and precision, moving from ridge to ridge, until he gained
the strong defile of Miranda de Corvo, where the main body
of the French was already posted. In the night, Massena,
fearing that some of our divisions would get in his rear, set
fire to the town of Miranda and passed the river Ceira, an
affluent of the Mondego, destroying a great guantity of his
baggage and ammunition, and leaving Ney to cover the
passage of the river, without, however, risking an action.
But Ney remained on the left bank of the river, in a rugged
and defensible position, near the village of Fons d’Arronce.
Here Lord Wellington found him at four o’clock in the
afternoon on the 15th, and amusing his right with a feint
attack, vigorously charged his left, while a battery of horse
artillery, being advanced rapidly to a favourable point,
opened hotly upon the French battalions, which were soon
driven upon the river in such confusion, that many were
drowned in attempting to discover the fords, and many were
trampled to death on the bridge. In this panic the French
lost at the least 500 men. Night put an end to the combat,
but not to the confusion; for, as the French baggage and
other encumbrances were pressing along the bridge, another
panic spread among their troops, who, in the midst of the
disorder, darkness, and a torrent of rain, fired upon one
another. This affair on the Ceira was by far the moss
serious engagement that had yet taken place during the
French retreat. In the night Ney blew up part of the
bridge, and moved on his corps, keeping a rear-guard on
the right bank the whole of the following day. The allies
halted on the left bank that day (the 16th), partly because
the river, swollen by the heavy rains, was not fordable, and
partly because they were sadly in want of provisions, the re-
gency at Lisbon having again neglected to collect supplies for
the march. By his vigorous and skilful movements, Lord
Wellington had succeeded in confining the army of Massena
to one narrow line of retreat along the twice ravaged country
between the mountains and the Mondego ; but he had te
llow in the same famine track, and to march through
segions utterly bare of provisions and forage. While there
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was abundance in Lisbon, some of the Portuguese brigades
in the field with us were actually starving; many of their
men {ell off and died, and to save the rest the British sup-
plies were shared with them. The British commissary-
general's means were thus overlaid, and the movements of
the army impeded. In anindignant yet quiet letter addressed
to the Earl of Liverpool on this very day (the 16th of
March}, Wellington said—* Marshal Sir William Beresford
and I had repeatedly urged the government of this kingdom
to adopt measures to supply the troops with regularity, and
to keep up the establishments while the army was in canton-
ments. Our representations were not attended to; and when
the army was to move forward, the Portuguese troops had
no provision: nor any means of conveying any to them.
They were to move through a country ravaged and
exhausted by the enemy; and it is literally true that
General Pack’s brigade and Colonel Ashworth’s had nothing
t> cat for four days, although constantly marching or en-
gaged with the enemy.” His lordship expected provisions
to be brought round by sea in English vessels; and it
appears some arrived during this busy day (the 16th), on
the night of which a bridge upon trestles was thrown over
the Ceira by the staff corps. On the morning of the 17th,
our army crossed the bridge, and went in pureuit, the French
having, according to their practice, withdrawn in the night.
Wellington soon found his old adversary Massena at rest, and
expecting a secure repose, for some time, behind the Alva, an-
other affluent of the Mondego, the waters of which were swol-
len by the rains, while the two bridges which traversed it
at Pombeiro and Ponte Murcella had been destroyed by
his people, to prevent the passage of the English. So confi-
dent was the French marshal of a good breathing time,
that he had sent out his foragers in strength to hunt for

rovisions. e moved three divisions on Pombeiro,” says
EVellington, “and this put themall in a bustle.” Disturbing
the Marshal by a strong demonstration and a lively can-
nonade, his Lordship then menaced his left and rear by
marching three divisions by the mountains of Quiteria to
Arganil, on the Upper Alva, upon which Massena aban-
doned the Lower Alva, and continued his retreat by Moita
towards Celorico, abandoning his foraging parties, who, to
the number of 800, were taken by the English and Portu-
guese. The mass of our army, having crossed the Alva by
a flying bridge, went in pursuit; but was obliged to halt at
Moita for the old and cruel want—the want of provisions.
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Again destroying much of his baggage and ammunition for
want of cattle to drag it on, Massena distanced the allics ;
being, however, followed and watched by the light division
of our cavalry until the 21st, when he reached Celorico and
Guarda, and reopened his communications with the captured
fortress of Almeida, and with the French on the frontier of
Spain.

PThe retreat of Massena, properly speaking, may be consi-
dered as having terminated Eere. It had lasted a fort-
night, during which the Marshal and his infuriated soldiers
displayed a ruthless spirit. An eye-witness says :—* I pass
over the destruction of Redinha, Condeixa, Miranda d:
Corvo, and many villages on the route; the burning of
those towns covered the retrograde movements of the army,
and something must be attributed to the disorder which
usually attends a forced retreat ; but the town of Leiria and
the convent of Alcobaga were given to the flames by express
orders from the French head-quarters; and, although the
laws of war, rigorously interpreted, authorize such examples
when the inhabitants take arms, it can only be justly done
for the purpose of overawing the people, and not from a
spirit of vengeance when abandoning the country. Butevery
horror that could make war hideous attended this dreadful
march. Distress, conflagration, death in all modes! from
wounds, from fatigue, from water, from the flames, from star-
vation! On every side unlimited violence, unlimited ven-
geance! I myself saw a peasant hounding on his dog to
devour the dead and dying,—and the spirit of cruelty, once
unchained, smote even the brute creation. On the 15th, the
French general, to diminish the encumbrances of his march,
ordered a number of beasts of burthen to be destroyed ; the
inhuman fellow charged with the execution hamstrung 500
asses, and left them to starve, and thus they were found by
the British army on that day. The mute but deep expression
of pain and grief visible in these poor creatures’ looks, won-
derfully roused the fury of our soldiers, and so little weight
has reason with the multitude when opposed by a momen-
tary sensation, that no quarter would have been given to any
prisoner at that moment. Excess of feeling would have led
to direct cruelty. This shows how dangerous it is in war to
listen to the passions at all, since the most praiseworthy
could be thus perverted by an accidental combination of
circumstances.”*

* Napier, *Hi ; I iii. pp. 471-
Editionpogrl,a?,gmory of the War in the Peninsu'a, vol. iii. pp. 471-2
L
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Lord Wellington, habitually sober and measured in the
expression of his sentiments, assumed even a more decided
and indignant tone. While following up Massena, he wrote
to the Earl of Liverpool:—“I am sorry to be obliged to say
that the conduct of the French throughout this retreat has
been marked by a barbarity seldom equalled, and never sur-
passed. Even in the towns of Torres Novas, Thomar, and
Pernes, in which the head-quarters of some of their corps
had heen for four months, and in which the inhabitants
had been invited, by promises of good treatment, to remain,
they were plundered, and many of their houses destroyed,
on the night the enemy withdrew from their position, and
they have since burnt every town and village through
which they have passed. The convent of Alcobaga (a
splendid structure) was burnt by orders from the French
head-quarters. The bishop's palace, and the whole town of
Leiria, in which General Drouet had had his head-quarters,
shared the same fate; and there is not an inhabitant of
the country, of any class or description, who has had any
dealing or communication with the French army, who has
not had reason to repent of it, and to complain of them.
This is the mode in which the promises have been performed,
and the assurances have been fulfilled, which were held out
in the proclamation of the French commander-in-chief, in
which he told the inhabitants of Portugal that he was not
come to make war upon them, but, with a powerful army of
110,000 men, to drive the English into the sea. It is to be
hoped that the example of what has occurred in this country
will teach the people of this and of other nations what value
they ought to place on such promises and assurances; and
that there is no security for life, or for anything which
makes life valuable, excepting in decided resistance to the
enemy.””*

Though it had not been starved out, the Spanish garrison
of Badajoz had made but a feeble and disgraceful resistance.
By signals and otherwise, the governor of that place had
been informed that Massena was in full retreat; that he
might expect English assistance as soon as it could be sent
him; and that Lord Wellington expected he would hold
out till the last extremity. His Lordship had made all the
arrangements for detaching a force on Badajoz; and Sir
William Beresford, with a considerable Portuguese force,

“was actually on his march, when the place surrendered to a
corps of Soult’s army numerically weaker than the garrison.
* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol, vii. p, 358.
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It appears that on the 9th of March the French had made
a breach in the place about eighteen feet wide ; but which
was by no means practicable. On the same day the Spanish
governor acknowledged, by signal, the receipt of the message
which Lord Wellington had sent him; yet on the 10th %e
suspended hostilities, and on the 11th Ivle threw open his
gates to become, with all his people, a prisoner of war. That
inexplicable rogue or idiot, the governor of Badajoz, had
been urged by Wellington to keep secret the intelligence of
Massena’s retreat, lest, by means of deserters, it should reach
the enemy, whom his Lordship was in hopes to find engaged
in the siege. But the governor published the intelligence
as soon as he received it, stating at the same time that he
did not believe it. He did more, he communicated the
intelligence to the French general.* Verily these Spanish
officers were enough to craze or disconcert any man co-
operating with them, But Wellington calmly wrote,—* It
is useless to add any reflection to these facts. The Spaniards
have lost Tortosa, Olivenca, and Badajoz, in the course of
two months, without sufficient cause; and in the same
period, Marshal Soult, with a corps never supposed to be
more than 20,000 men, has taken (besides the last two places)
or destroyed above 22,000 Spanish troops!t

“ However unfortunate the Spanish armies have been
in the field, the defences which they have made of several
places were calculated to inspire confidence in the exertions
of the troops at Badajoz; particularly considering that they
had plenty of provisions and ammunition, that their cannons
were still mounted on the works; and, above all, that they
were certain of being relieved. This confidence has, how-
ever, been disappointed. . . . It is useless now to specu-
late upon the consequences which would have resulted from
a more determined and protracted resistance at Badajoz.
Sir William Beresford is at Portalegre, and his troops will
be collected there on the 22nd. Soult cannot remain north
of the Guadiana, even under existing circumstances. If
Badajoz were «till in the possession of the allies, we might
expect to free from the enemy, not only Estremadura, but
also Andalusia. ¥

His Lordship had not recalled Beresford on learning the
fall of Badajoz, it being necessary that that general should
be on the Guadiana to watch Soult, and manceuvre on his
right. And on the 18th of March, while yet at Pombeiro,
on the Alva, his Lordship had written to Beresford :—* Lose

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. vii. p. 371 + Id. p. 361, b gi p. 881,

H
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po time in moving up, and attack Soult, if you can, at

Campo Mayor. I will come to you, if I can; but if I

cannot, do not wait for me. Get Castanos to join you, from

]l;]stremoz, with any Spanish troops he can bring with
im,”*

Soult was kept in check by Beresford, and Wellington was
still delayed for want of forage and provisions and draught
cattle. Onthe 25th of March, the French abandoned Celorico,
but retained possession of Guarda, which Massena was un-
willing to give up, because he expected every hour to hear of
Soult’s advance, and dreaded the responsibility of abandoning
Portugal altogether, without orders from hisemperor. Warm
and passionate discussions took place between him and Mar-
shal Ney, who urged the necessity of an immediate march
upon Almeida. Ney gave up his command in disgust, and
went to Salamanca, and Massena gave Ney’s corps to
Loison. It appears that Massena, in his present position at
Guarda, still calculated on being able to open a communica-
tion with Soult, and by his co-operation to maintain himself
on the skirts of Portugal till he could get reinforcements and
resume the offensive. This dream was dissipated on the
morning of the 29th of March, by the sudden and simul-
taneous appearance of five of Lord Wellington’s columns of
attack ascending the Guarda mountain by five different
roads or paths. This position, one of the strongest in the
country, was abandoned by the French with much precipi-
tation ; without one effort for its defence, they hurried down
the only road open to them, and crossed the Coa. Upon
this river they halted till the 3rd of May. By a good dis-
position of his forces, Massena held command of some passes
to the south, communicated with Almeida, guarded the
bridges and fords on the Coa, and presented two bold
fronts, covered by the river, and connected by the strong
and convenient point of Sabugal. At daylight on the 3rd,
Wellington put his men in motion : our light division passed
the Coa on the left of the French, and drove in their light
infantry ; but the main body of the French advanced, and a
rain-storm coming on at the moment, the men of our light
division could not see that they were pushing too far. When
the weather cleared up, the French, perceiving that only a
small force had crossed the river, attacked it in ¢olumns
with cavalry and artillery. Three times the 43rd and 52nd
regiments were driven back towards the river, and three
times they rallied and beat back their foes. Colonel Beck-

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. vii. p. 379.
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with, who was foremost in these fights, displayed as much
ability as heroism. Taking advantage of a small stone
enclosure, he made it good against all assaults, The combat
was maintained with great fury by the French; but at last,
seeing that Picton’s division had crossed the Coa, and that
our 5th division was pouring across the bridge of Sabugal,
their whole army retreated upon Alfayetes having sustained
considerable loss in men and also in baggage. This was
called the combat of Sabugal, in which our light division,
which did nearly all the work, lost about 200 men. Lord
Wellington recorded it in his dispatches as *one of the
most glorious actions that British troops were ever engaged
in.” On the 4th, the French were on the extreme frontier
of Portugal, and on the 6th they crossed the Agueda into
Spain, not without a serious loss inflicted on their rear by our
light cavalry and horse artillery. Thus terminated their
third and last invasion of Portugal. They left a garrison in
Almeida, which was blockaded by the English immediately.
The horn of ¢ the spoiled child of victory,” as Massena was
called in the French army, was sadly lowered; and our
great General had effected his purpose and delivered Portu-
gal. ‘Nevertheless,” says Captain Sherer, “those public
men and public prints at home, whose patriotic care it was
to disparage the exploits of Wellington, and to exalt the
generalship of the French, described the retreat of Massena
as ‘a mere change of position from the Zezere to the Agueda,’
as a manceuvre to lead the allies to a distance from their
resources, and to approach his own. Thus spoke the oppo-
sition, both in and out of Parliament; but the people of
England held very different language.” *

Considerably more than half of the invading army had

ierished. On the 9th of April, Wellington wrote to Lord
iverpool :—¢ The enemy’sloss in this expedition to Portugal
is émmense ; 1 should think no less than 45,000 men, includ-
ing the sick and wounded "+
again quote from an officer, who was an eye-witness of
most of the horrors attendan* upon Massena's retreat :—

“ A great part of the loss of the French in killed was
from the hancs of the Portuguese peasantry, who revenged
themselves for the injuries which had been inflicted on their
countrymen during the six or seven months that the French
had remained in Portugal, by killing every straggler whom
they could lay their hands upon before the heads of the
British columns came up. They killed those who fell be-

* ¢ Military Memoirs of the Duke.” + ¢ Dispatches.” vol. vii p. 448.
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hind from sickness, as well as those who straggled for thu
purpose of marauding or seeking for food ; they killed the
wounded who were left behind for want of means of trans-
port, as well as those who dropped down from weakness
and fatigue; they killed them with their knives, or dashed
out their brains with stones, or with the long knobbed sticks
which the Portuguese peasantry carry on their shoulders.
The appearance of the British advance (for the British
army always protected the prisoners) made the Portuguese
leave their work of death at times unfinished, and they left
their victims, whom they generally stripped stark naked,
to die in the fields right and left of the line of march.
The writer of this article, then a very young man, speaks
from recollection. It was on the 10th of March, on the
‘rgad from Payalva to Pombal, that he saw the first dismal
‘traces of the disastrous retreat of the French : bodies of dead
soldiers, carts broken down on the road, carcasses of horses and
mules ; and from that day till be arrived at Celorico, on the
29th of March, there was hardly a day on which he did not
see numbers of dead bodies scattered about the fields right and
left of the road, generally naked, most of whom had no marks
of wounds from firearms, and had either died of disease, of
which many of them bore evidence, or had been finished
by the peasantry in the manner described. One day he
remembers counting them; and in a few hours of the march
he reckoned between 100 and 200, till he felt too sick to
reckon any more. He became at last familiarized with the
sight, for men become used to any sight, however offensive,
by continual repetition of it. Some of the poor creaturey
seemed to have crawled or been dragged out of the road to
die behind the loose stone-walls with which the fields are
enclosed; and, on looking over the stone-walls into the
fields, they were seen lying in’ clusters of three or four or
more, in all sorts of positions. A few were still breathing.
{t was a horrid sight. He also remembers once or twice
seeing Portuguese villagers, men and women, insulting and
kicking the bodies of dead Frenchmen on the road, when
they were properly reproved and driven away by a British
non-commissioned officer. A Portuguese farmer in the
Jistrella showed him the uniforms of four or five French-
men whom he had surprised singly, and Kkilled in his
neighbourhood during the winter. It was chiefly in the
mountains of ‘the Estrella that the work of destruction had
been carried on during the winter of 1810-11. The French
marauding parties went hunting for provisions in those
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sequestered valleys, and when they fell upon a hamlet or
farmhouse they showed no mercy to the inmates. Some-
times in the mountains they pounced upon several families
huddled together in a cave, with a provision of Indian corn
or pulse to last them for the winter. The males were soon
despatched, the females spared for a time, but not in mercy.
It happened, however, at times that these marauding
parties were small, and they were overpowered by the
peasantry, who gave no quarter.

“ A body of two or three hundred men, of General Foy's
escort, on his return from France, were crossing the Estrella
summit by Covilhao, in the midst of the winter, when they
were benighted ; some died of cold, and the rest, being
attacked in the morning by the Portuguese peasants, could
not use their arms, as their fingers were benumbed, and
they were all killed. General Gardanne, with a body of
about 3,000 men, advanced, in November 1810, from the
frontiers of Spain with a supply of ammunition and other
necessaries for the army of Massena; he took the road by
Sabugal and the Lower Beira as far as Cardigos. They
were within a few leagues of Massena’s outposts on the
Zezere, when, alarmed at their own situation, being nearly
surrgatided by the Portuguese militia, and being afraid of
not meeting with Massena at last, they retired into Spain
with ‘considerable loss. In the latter part of the following
December, Massena sent a body of 2,000 men, cavalry and
infantry, to forage, or, in other words, to plunder the district
of Castellobranco. The town of Castellobranco was a con-
siderable place, and as its situation was remote from the
actual scene of warfare, the people were off their guard,
On Christmas-eve, whilst most of the inhabitants were in
the churches, the French rushed in, and a scene of outrage
and bloodshed ensued, which is easier to imagine than to
describe. Next morning, some order being restored, the
officer who commanded the division demanded of the local
magistrates a supply of stores, shoes, clothes, &c., for the
army, which being complied with, in a few days the French
quitted the place.”*

This will give the reader some idea of the system of war
carried on by Buonaparte’s armies, according to his once
applauded principle—* Let war support war.” It was, in-
deed, a principle of the Tartar kind! The French general,
Foy, himself, says, “ Like the avalanche rushing down from
the summit of the Alps into the valley beneath, our in-

* André Vieusseux, ¢ Military Life o” the Duake.
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numerable armies, by their mere passage, destroyed, in a few
hours, the resources of a whole country. They habitually
Yivonacked, and where they halted our soldiers demolished
souses which had stood for half a century, in order to con-
struct with their materials those long night-lined villages
which were frequently destined to last but for a day.
‘When forest timber was not at hand, fruit-trees of the most
valuable kind, such as the olive, mulberry, and orange-trees,
were felled for fuel. Had they waited- for food till the
administration of the army served them with rations, they
might have starved. The young conscripts, transported by
a magic power from their homes to the extremities of
Europe, intermingled all at once with men of all countries,
and irritated by want and danger, contracted a moral in-
toxication, of which we cared not to cure them, because it
prevented their sinking under unparalleled fatigues. . . . .
This disorder being considered inevitable, it was not possible
to fix its limits: it attached itself to the war of invasion
like a consuming cancer. The scourge became still more
fearful when exasperated passions put arms into the hands
of men who were not called by their condition in life to
bear them. The war between army and people partook of
the nature of civil war, in which crimes are perpetrated
on both sides which excite neither disgust nor horror. Our
soldiers, generous in their relations with other warriors,
were inexorable towards the patriot who had taken up arms
to defend the fruit of his garden, or the honour of his
daughter : the tool concealed beneath the garb of labour
seemed to them the poniard of the disguised assassin. The
military reports now presented nothing but a series of
villages plundered, and towns taken by assault; and if it
happened that the ministers of a God of peace transformed
themselves into leaders of insurrection, one cannot be
surprised that young soldiers, though accustomed to re-
ligious practices, threw aside their former habits, and vio-
lated churches, convents, and even the asylum of the grave.”*

Knowing what I know of the French soldieliy, and of the
temper and outrageous infidelity of those times, I much doubt
whether any part of Massena’s army was, in the slightest de-
gree, “accustomed to religious practices.” But the conclusion
of all General Foy's remarks is, that whenever a people are
determined not to submit to the invader, a war of extermi-
nation must ensue. We regret to see this sentiment nearly
sharcd by a gallant English officer ; who is at the same time

* Foy, ¢Histoire de la Guerre de la Peninsule.”
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an accomplished and eloquent English writer. Napier,
the historian of our Peninsular war, would never have the

opulation of a country take up arms against a regular
invading army : he would have people trust for their pro-
tection solely to such regular forces as their governments
may have in the field. Seeing what the armies of their
country were, it was well that the Spaniards had no concep-
tion of Napier’s system.

But let me now quote Lord Wellington’s talm observa-
tions to those who asked why he could not make war like
the French, and go on with his army, as the French troops
did, without pay, provisions, or magazines. *The French
army is certainly a wonderful machine; but if we are to
form such an one, we must form such a government as
exists in France, which can with impunity lose one-half of
the troops employed in the field every year, only by the
privations and hardships imposed upon them. Next, we
must compose our army of soldiers drawn from all classes of
the population of the country; from the good and middling,
as well in rank as in education, as from the bad; and not
as other nations, and we in particular do, from the bad only.
Thirdly, we must establish such a system of discipline as the
French have; a system founded upon the strength of the
tyranny of the government, which operates upon an arm
composed of soldiers, the majority of whom are sober, well-
disposed, amenable to order, and in some degree educated.
When we shall have done all this, and shall have made
these armies of the strength of those employed by the French,
we may require of them to live as the French do, viz., by
authorized and regular plunder of the country and its inha-
bitants, if any should remain ; and we may expose them to
the labour, hardships, and privations which the French sol-
dier suffers every day; and we must expect the same pro-
portion of loss every campaign, viz., one-half of those who
take the field.”*

On the 10th of April, when the last of the French had
cleared out of the country, his lordship issued a proclamation
to the Portuguese nation, in which, among other things, he
said :—* The Portuguese now know by experience, that the
Marshal-General was not mistaken either in the nature or
the amount of the evil with which they were threatened, or
respecting the only remedies to avoid it; viz., decided and
resolute resistance, or the removal and concealment of all

¢ Tetter to the Marquis Wellesley. ¢ Dispatches,” vol. vii. p. }95,
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property, and of everything which could tend to the subsis.
tence of the enemy, or to facilitate his progress.

“ Nearly four years have now elapsed since the tyrant of
Europe first invaded Portugal with a powerful army. The
cause of this invasion was not self-defence ; it was not to
seek revenge for insults offered, or injuries done by the
benevolent sovereign of this kirgdom; it was not even the
ambitious desire of augmenting his own political power, as
the Portuguese government had, without resistance, yielded
to all the demands of the tyrant; but the object was, the
msatiable desire to plunder, the wish to disturb the tran-
quillity, and to enjoy the riches of a people who had passed
nearly half a century in peace.

“The same desire occasioned the invasion of the northern
provinces of Portugal in 1809, and the same want of plun-~
der the invasion of 1810, now happily defeated; and the
Marshal-General appeals to the experience of those who
have been witnesses of the conduct of the French army
during these three invasions, whether confiscation, plunder,
and outrage are not the sole objects of their attention, from
the General down to the soldier.*

“ Those countries which submitted have not been better
treated than those which have resisted. The inhabitants have
lost all their possessions, their families have been dishonoured,
their laws overturned, their religion destroyed, and, above
all, they have deprived themselves of the honour of that
manly resistance to their oppressor of which the people of
Portugal have given so signal and so successful an example.”

He warned the people of Portugal, that, although the
danger was removed, it was not entirely over—that Buona-
parte might yet endeavour to force them to submit to his
iron yoke.

“They should be unremitting in their preparations for
decided and steady resistance; those capable of bearing
arms should learn the use of them; and those whose age
or sex renders them unfit to bear arms should fix upon
places of security and concealment, and should make all the

* I know, upon many unquestionable authorities, that during this
retreat, and on other occasions, Frenchmen, holding the rank of general
officers, meanly plandered the people in whose houses they had quartered
themselves. The late Sir George Murray told me that he was once
quartered in the house of a respectable Portuguese family, which had
been vacated the day before by a French General, who had carried off
every thing that was worth taking, evea down to a little silver ornament
in which the family had served his Excellency the General with toothpicks
w=in the Portugucse fashion—after dinner.
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arrangements for their easy removal to them when the
moment of danger shall approach. . . . . Measures
should be taken to conceal or destroy provisions which can-
not be removed, and everything which can tend to facilitate
the enemy’s progress; for this may be depended upon,—
the enemy’s troops seize upon everything, and leave nothing
for the owner. By these measures, whatever may be the
superiority of numbers with which the desire of plunder and
of revenge may induce, and his power may enable the tyrant
again to invade this country, the result will be certain.”*

The people of Beira and Portuguese Estremadura, who
had Mt]ggrawn from the open country upon the advance of
Massena after the battle of Busaco, had caused a vast influx
of population within or rather behind the lines of Torres
Vedras. A part of this living stream had flowed down to
Lisbon, and another had crossed to the south bank of the
Tagus, entering districts which were safe from the French,
and had not been devastated. These people were assisted
partly by their own countrymen and partly by a gift of
100,0004, voted by Parliament, and by voluntary subscrip-
tions raised in England. They came in for a share of the
cares, toils, and troubles which —apart from his duties
as a military commander—constantly beset Lord Welling-
ton; and it may safely be said that, but for his exertions
and moral influence, many of those poor people must have
perished for want. After the exit of Massena they returned
to their homes, where the poorer classes received further
agsistance during the remainder of the year and in the
following spring.

Having placed his army in cantonments between the Coa
and the Agueda, his lordship set out for the south in order
to see the state of affairs on the Guadiana. For a long time
Soult had had his own way i1 that quarter ; but the defeat
of Marshal Victor at the ba.tle of Barrosa, in Andalusia,
by General Graham (the lat: veteran and venerable Lord
Lynedoch), the advance of Beresford, and other incidents,
had compelled Soult to return to Cadiz. Mortier, who
succeeded Soult in command in Estremadura, laid siege to
Campo Mayor, a weak place within the frontiers of Portu-
gal, and very weakly garrisoned. The Portuguese com-
mandant was obliged to surrender at last. Marshal Beres-
ford, having been reinforced from the north by Lord
Wellington, was advancing at the head of 22,000 men ; and
¢ his appearance, on the 25th of March, the French, evacu-

* ¢“Wellington Dispateles,’ vol. vii. pp. 455-6-7,
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ating Campo Mayor, withdrew to Badajoz, after a warm
skirmish with some of the British cavalry. Beresford had
reccived orders from Wellington to invest Badajoz before
the enemy should have time to provision and repair that
fortress which they had so recently taken. Crossing the
Guadiana, Beresford advanced into Spanish Estremadura—
Mortier having retired before him—and placed his army in
cantonments to cover the siege of Badajoz. He began by
besieging and capturing Olivenga. Affairs were at this point
when, on the 20th of April, Lord Wellington arrived from
the north, reconnoitred Badajoz, and ordered Beresford to
push on the siege with vigour. Until that place should be
recaptured, the allied armies could not safely penetrate into
Spain, while the French- could command an easy entrance
into the southern provinces of Portugal, to which Badajoz
was the key. While arrangements were making for the
siege, his lordship was recalled to the north by Massena’s
movements ; and, on the 28th of April, he was back again
to his main army, and fixed his head-quarters at Villa
Fermosa, near the Coa.

Having recruited his army to a considerable extent at
Salamanca, and having obtained a reinforcement of cavalry
from Marshal Bessieres, Massena moved from Ciudad Ro-
drigo, and crossed the Agueda with 40,000 infantry, 5,000
horse, and about 30 pieces of artillery, for the purpose of
relieving the French garrison in Almeida. Expecting
every day to be superseded in his command, he wished,
before returning to Paris, to make one eflort more for the
sake of his own military character. To face him Lord
Wellington could muster no more than 32,000 men, of
which force only 1,200 were cavalry. His lordship, how-
ever, determined to fight rather than give up the blockade
of Almeida. He drew back his army half-way between
the Agueda and the Coa, and placed it in an extended
line on a table-land between the two parallel rivers,
Turones and Das Casas, which are both affluents of the
Agueda ; his left, leaning on Fort Conception, covered the
blockade of Almeida; his centre lay opposite the village
of Almeida, and his right was at Fuentes de Onoro, a fair
village, and extended towards the hill of Nava d’Aver,
on the road to Sabugal : the whole length of the line was
about seven miles. The river Coa flowed in our rear, and
there was only one bridge whereby to cross it in case of
a retreat, the bridge of Castello Bom. The ground was
open on the side of Fuentes de Onoro, which village soon
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merited the name of ‘ The Fountains of Honour,” and
there Massena resolved to attack in force, hoping to gain
the village, turn Lord Wellington's right, push it upon
its centre, and then drive the whole of that army back
upon the Coa and its one narrow and perilous bridge. To-
wards evening, on the 3rd of May, the French left, under
cover of a hot cannonade from a ridge which commanded
the village, made a resolute assault upon Fuentes de Onoro.
They carried the lower part of the village, and drove the
English to the upper part, where the defence was, for a time,
confined to a few strong houses and a chapel, which stood
upon a rock. But Wellington, at the opportune moment,
sent down a fresh brigade, and the French were driven
back at the point of the bayonet. Massena fed his columns
of attack with more and more reinforcements, and the
struggle in the narrow streets of the village was awful.
Repeatedly bayonets were crossed (that very rare occurrence
in war), the French and English being occasionally inter-
mixed. But no French troops ever yet stood such a contest
with the British ;and the assailants were soon driven out of
the lower part of the village, and across the Das Casas river.
Completely foiled in this desperate effort, Massena passed
all the following day in reconnoitering, and in making plans
of attack, which were all forescen by Wellington and pro-
vided for. In the course of that day (the 4th of May)
Marshal Bessieres, who had come up and joined Massena -
with a body of Buonaparte’s Imperial Guards, reconnoitered
also, declaring to his impatient and irritated colleague, that
great caution and circumspection would be necessary against
a commander so skilful and troops so steady as those now
before them. On the morrow (5th), as early as three
o’clock in the morning, the French columns were in motion,
and at about six Massena made a grand attack on the British
right with the greater part of his army, including the
entire mass of his cavalry. Some irregular Spanish cavalry,
under Don Julian Sanchez, which Wellington had placed on
the hill of Nava d’Aver, at his extreme right, were very
soon swept away ; and our 7th light division, and other
troops on our right, had to sustain the whole force and fury
of Massena’s columns. Our men formed into squares; but
the numerous French cavalry fell upon the 7th division
before it could effect that formation. The troops, however,
stood firm ; and although some were cut down by Montbrun’s
heavy horse, the enemy was checked by the steady fire of
the Chasseurs Britanniques, a foreign regiment in the
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ritist  service, and of the other regiments of the 7th
uvisi-n.  Lord Wellington, however, considering his posi-
wn too far extended to the right, gave up the ground
rear Nava d’'Aver and his communication with Sabugal,
and ordered the 7th and light divisions to retire across
the plain, and the 1st and 3rd divisions to wheel back and
take up a new alignement on a steep ridge which runs
“rom the Das Casas to the Turones. Such a movement, in
vhe midst of a battle, is, at all times, difficult, and never to be
ottempted except with the steadiest troops. At this time
the. movement was well executed, though under very critical
circumstances, for the British squares had to cross a vast
o pen plain, exposed to the charge of that numerous French
cavalry, supported by artillery, the British cavalry being
too weak to give much protection. The non-combatants,
who had gathered behind the first British line for pro-
tection, were hurrying away in panic and with loud lamen-
tations, being driven and goaded by the French horsemen
across the plain. It was a dawgerous hour for England!
and a most trying one for her greatest general !

“The whole of the vast plain, as far as the Turones, was
2overed with a confused multitude, amidst which the squares
appeared pbut as specks; for there was a great concourse,
wmposed of commissariat followers of the camp, servants,
baggage, led horses, and peasants attracted by curiosity, and,
finally, the broken piquets and parties coming out of the
woods. The 7th division was separated from the army by
the Turones; 5,000 French cavalry, with fiftecen pieces of
artillery, were close at hand impatient to charge ; the infantry
of the 8th corps wasin order of battle behind the horsemen
the wood was filled with the skirmishers of the 6th corps;
and if the latter body pivoting upon Fuentes, had issued
forth, while Drouet’s divisions fell on that village, while the
8th corps attacked the light division, and while the whole of
the cavalry made a general charge, the loose multitude
encumbering the plain would have been driven violently in
upon the 1st division, in such a manner as to have intercepted
the latter’s fire, and broken their ranks. No such effort, how-
ever, was made ; Montbrun's cavalry merely hovered about
Craufurd’s squares, the plain was soon cleared, the cavalry
took post behind the centre, and the light division formed a
reserve to the right of the 1st division, sending the riflemen
among the rocks to connect it with the 7th division, whi h had
arrived at Freneda, and was there joined by Julian Sanchez.
At the sight of this new frout, so deeply line with troone.
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the French stopped short, and commenced a heavy cannon-
ade, which did great execution, from the closeness of the
ailied masses; but twelve British guns replied with vigour, and
the violence of the enemy’s fire abated; their cavalry then
drew out of range, and a body of French infantry attempt-
ing to glide down the ravine of the Turones, was repulsed by
the riflemen and light companies of the guards.”*

By the movement which had been effected, the village
of Fuentes de Onoro was now the left of our position, and
Freneda beyond the Turones was our right. All the time
of the combat on the ridge, and the movement across the
plain, a fierce battle had been going on at Fuentes.

Massena had directed Drouet to carry the village as soon
as Montbrun’s cavalry should turn our right. But the village
was again defended as stoutly as it had been on the 38rd.
Again, there seemed different shiftings and changes of for-
tune: early in the contest that noble Highlander, Colonel
Cameron, was mortally wounded, and three brave regiments
(the 24th, 71st, and 79th) were driven from the lower parts
of the village, by an attacking column of tremendous strength.
At one time the very chapel on the rock, in the upper part
of the village, was abandoned. The upper part of the village
was, however, stiffly held; and the rolling of the musketry
was there incessant. Lord Wellington, having all his re-
serves in hand, detached considerable masses to the support
of the regiments in Fuentes; and Massena sent mass after
mass to reinforce General Drouet. Having got the 71st
and 79th into good order, and having joined the 88th to
those two regiments which had severely suffered, Colonel
Mackinnon turned upon the French with his infuriated
brigade :—

¢ Wild from the plaided ranks the yell was given!”

and the Highlanders rushed to take vengeance for the fall
of noble Cameron. The entire village was recovered; and,
cleared of all the French, save their dead and their badly
wounded. The battle was prolonged round the village,
and on the banks of the stream till the fall of night, when
Massena’s column crossed the river, and retired to the distance
of a cannon-shot from its banks. The French generals had
committed various and gross blunders, scarcely to be ex-
pected from officers who had obtained so much celebrity ;
but on the British side there does not appear to have been
# single mistake. Qur total loss from the beginning of the

* Napier, ¢ Hist. of War in the Peninsula,” vol. iii, p. 514.
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fighting on the 3rd, was 235 killed, 1,234 wounded, and 317
missing or prisoners. The loss of the French was far greater;
400 of their dead were counted in the village of Fuentes
alone, strewing the streets or piled upon one another; many
prisoners were taken, and intercepted letters showced that
from 3,000 to 4,000 had been wounded either in the attacks
on the village on the 3rd, or in this more general affair of
the 5th,

The battle of Fuentes de Onoro was of importance in the
eyes of the world, and to the military fame of our country,
by being a regular pitched battle, fought by the British in
a position (forced upon Wellington, unless he left Almeida
open to Massena) of no particular strength, and, indeed, weak
at one point, and fought with a very inferior force. A good
part of the disciplined Portuguese were away in the ‘south
with Beresford, so that the great majority of the troops
engaged were British-born soldiers. Two of our divisions,
the 5th and 6th, were posted far on the left to protect the
blockade of Almeida, and, being observed all the time by a
superior French force, they could take no part in the engage-
ments. There were only four British divisions of infantry,
one Portuguese brigade, and about 1,000 horse actually
engaged against three entire corps of infantry and nearly
5,000 cavalry ; for Montbrun, expecting to decide the battle
by that one coup, moved with all his squadrons when the
British were traversing the open plain* The Portuguese
engaged appear to have done their duty manfully, although
they had received no pay for months, and had been left by
their government on their usual low diet.

Massena avowedly fought the battle of Fuentes de Onoro,
for the purpose of relieving Almeida; and in that purpose
he completely failed. The French army remained quiet
throughout the 6th and 7th. Lord Wellington, expecting a
renewal of the struggle, threw up some works in the upper
village, and upon the position behind it. But upon the 8th
the French testified that they would fight no more there, by
withdrawing from their ground; and upon the 10th, they
crossed the Agueda into Spain.

Buonaparte, before this, had come to the conclusion
that Massena was not the man to drive Wellington out of
Portugal, and he had sent Marshal Marmont, a younger
officer, to supersede him. The order by which the former
¢ Favourite of Fortune " was ordered to give up the com-

* « Wellington Dispatches,” Napier, ¢ Hist. of War in the P:uinsula.”
8herer, ¢ Military Memoirs.” A. Vieusseux, ¢Military Life of the Duke,
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mand, was harsh, ungenerous, and unfeeling ; but Massena
had slight claims to the sympathy of any one, and this
measure was what Buonaparte meted to nearly all his unsuc-
cessful generals. Massena was allowed to take with him to
Paris only his son, and one aide-de-camp. He had finished
his last act, and played out its last scene in defeat and dis-
grace : he appeared no more on the stage where he had first
presented himself as a common sergeant, a deserter, and a
traitor.*

Nearly at the same time Marshal Ney, General Junot,
and General Loison repaired to Paris,whitg’er Joseph Buona-
parte had gone before them. They all left behind them
evil names, and carried with them hatreds, jealousies, and
fierce recriminations of one another. La guerre d’Esp gne,
a word of ill omen before their return, took a more sinister
sound and signification when Massena, Ney, Loiscn, and the
very r;amsh and talkative Junot had been a week in the French
capital.

Lord Wellington had frequently occasion to report the
humanity and gencrosity of his British soldicrs. A few
days after the battle of Fuentes de Onoro, in a letter ad-
dressed to Mr. Perceval, then our prime minister, thanking
him for attending to his charitable recommendation in favour
of the distressed Portuguese people, his lordship said,—* My
soldiers have continued to show to them every kindness in
their power, as well as to the Spaniards. The village of
Fuentes de Onoro having been the field of battle the other
day, and not being much improved by this circumstance,
they immediately and voluntarily subscribed to raise a sum
of money, to be given to the poor inhabitants as a compensa-
tion for the damage which their properties had sustained in

* Massena was a native of Nice and a subject of the King of Sardinia,
whose flag he deserted to join the French Republican Army, at that time
preparing for the invasion of Italy.

Oun his homeward jonrney through Spain, Massena narrowly escaped
falling into the avenging hands of Mina, and the fierce guerillas led by
that famous chief,

In Navarre, Mina, the most active and able of the guerilla leaders (with
the exception, perhaps, of Porlier), defeated, on the 22nd of May, at 1he
Puerto d’Arlaban, near Vittoria, 1,20C men, who were escortinz a cov=
voy of prisoners and treasure to France. Massena, whose bagguge was
captured, was to have travelled with this escort, but, Gisliking tl.e mannes
of the march, he had remained in Vittoria to wait a better opportunity,
and so escaped. These guerilla bancs were almost always merciless ; after
the fight they murdered in cold blood six Spanish ladies who, in defiance
of patriotism, had attached themselves to French officers.—Napier, ¢ IHlist,
of War iu the Peninsular.

24
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the contest.”* At the same time the wounded and the sick
Portuguese soldiers, having no Lospitals of their-own, were
taken into our hospitals, where our men shared with them
whatever little comforts they could procure.

A few days after Massena’s retreat, the French garrison in
Almeida evacuated the place, blew up some of the works,
fled by night, and getting across the Agueda, joined their
main army, though not without the loss of 400 men, the
third part of their entire force, and the loss of their
artillery, ammunition, baggage, and everything except
the ragged clothes on their backs, their side-arms, and
muskets. But for some negligence on the part of our
blockading divisions scarcely a man of that garrison
could have escaped. Lord Wellington was exceedingly
annoyed; and he did not fail to express his sentiments
to some of the commanding officers, who ought to have been
better prepared for the sortie of the French, seeing that
they had no alternative but to make a desperate attempt to
fly by night, or surrender at discretion.

Marmont had been ordered to take the command of the
army of Portugal with a firm hand ; but this marshal, find-
ing that he could do nothing more than continue the re-
treat which Massena had commenced, retired to Salamanca,
and put the disheartened, half naked, and half starving
army into cantonments.

Lord Wellington set out once more for the south. But
before he could arrive on the Guadiana, great events had
taken place in that quarter. By the 4th of May—the day
which intervened between the two conflicts at Fuentes—
Beresford had invested Badajoz. But Soult was now
marching back from Seville to relieve and then reinforce
the garrison of that important place. The departure from
Madrid of Joseph Buonaparte,}l)'nad left disposable a consi-
derable body of French troops, which that timid usurper
had considered necessary for the protection of his own per-
son and flitting ephemeral government; some troops, too,
had been drawn from the corps of General Sebastiani, so
that Soult, the best or most skilful of the French marshals,
was bringing a great accession of strength to the army,
which he had been compelled to leave two months before by
the daring movements of General Graham in Andalusia. In
the same interval, however, some Spanish generals and a
Spanish army bad gradually collected in Estremadura, to
co-operate with Beresford in pressing the sieze of Badajoz

® ¢ Dispatches,” vol. vii.
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If Marshal Beresford had been properly supplied with the
materiel and means of pushing the siege vigorously, he
might—as the French had then had but little time for pre-
paration—have possibly breached and taken Badajoz before
Soult could getnear it ; but Beresford had hardly any-
thing that was needful except courage and good will ; he
had scarcely any entrenching tools ; his train of artillery
was contemptible, his cannon balls did not fit the breaching
guns which had been sent to him, the howitzers were too
small for hig shells, and it should seem that he had with
him no very skilful artillery or engineer officer. The soil
was hard and rocky, and Beresford’s people, besides being
insufficient in number, were but little accustomed to trench-
ing, mining, and the other ~perations of sieges. In these
particalars the whole British n=my was defective, for it had
not at the time a siugle corps of seppers and miners. [If
the Government had only thsoght of sending out from
England a few hundred of the men called navigators, with
their proper tools, our siege work wourd have been done in
perfection, and with a rapidity which no soldiers, or
sappers and miners, or labourers of any other class or
country could have equalled.] Very little progress had
been made in the siege when Beresford received intelligence
that Soult was rapidly advancing. This was on the night
of the 12th of May; and on the following morning our
General, far too weak to attend to two objects at once,
raised the siege and prepared to fight Soult in a pitched
battle, and on an npen field.

Having removed their artillery, &e., the allies took post
on the memorable ridge of ALBUERA : they were between
7,000 and 8,000 British infantry,several of the Portuguese
brigades, which Beresford had so admirably disciplined, the
Spanish corps of Blake and Castafios, and about 2,000
cavalry—in all about 27,000 men. But the Spaniards, who
forraed more than 10,000 of this total, had scarcely been
disciplined at all, and were hut little to be depended upon.
Another Spanish brigade, under Don Carlos d’Espaifia,
arrived at Albuera on the 14th ; and on the evening of the
15th (while Lord Wellington was still on the Coa), after a
aay of heavy rain, Sonlt came up with about 19,000 chosen
infantry, about 4,000 cavalry, and 50 guns. Asat Fuentes
de Onoro, the ground was very favourable for cavalry. The
Fremch marshal immediately reconnoitred our position,and
determined upon anattack,1n force, on theright ﬂaznk,which

I
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was occupied by Blake’s Spanish corps, the British holding
the centre, and the Portuguese the left.

At eight o’clock on the following morning, the French troops
were seen in full motion, dense masses of infantry and clouds
of cavalry rolling towards Blake's division, while two heavy
columns of infantry and some horse, marching out of a
woad, pointed towards the front of the allied position, as if to
attack the bridge and the unroofed, ruined village of Albuera.
Other demonstrations were made, as though Soult intended
to attack the British centre in front ; but Beresford saw that
this was but a feint, and he immediately sent the alert Colo-
nel Hardinge to request that Blake would change his front
80 as to face the French, who assuredly meant to attack the
Spanish right. The Spanish general refused, doggedly in-
sisting that the real attack of Soult was against the centre,
by the bridge of Albuera. The truth appears to have been
that Blake knew very well that if he attempted, with his
undisciplined rabble, to change front, or to make any other
evolution in the presence of an active and highly-disciplined
enemy, they would fall into irremediable confusion, and either
throw down their arms and ask for quarter, or fly—to be
pursued and cut to pieces. But when the attempt to manceuvre
had become infinitely more difficult than it was when Colonel
Tlardinge gave Blake hisorder to change front—when the
French were actually appearing on the table-land on hisright,
and getting ready to enfilade nearlythe whole position of the
allies—that presumptuous, self-willed man proceeded to make
the evolution with pedantic slowness. Andforthwith,attacked
by the French, the Spaniards gave way in disorder, leaving,
for a moment, the British centre entirely exposed, and too
truly telling the English soldiers what little assistance they
were to expect from such allies. The day might have been
considered by a less brave man than Beresford as already
lost. “Two-thirds of the French were in a compact order
of battle on a line perpendicular to his right, and his army,
Jisordered and composed of different nations, was still in the
difficult act of changing its front. . . . . The Spaniards
were in disorder at all points, and Soult, thinking the whole
army was yielding, pushed forward his columns, while his
reserves also mounted the hill, and General Ruty placed all
the batteries in position.”*

As the heights the enemy had gained raked and entirely
commanded our old position, it became necessary to make
every effort to retake and maintain them ; and a noble eflort

* Napier.
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was made by the brigades of the 2nd British division, The
1st of these brigades (General Colborne’s), while in the act
of deploying on the ascent of the hill under a heavy fire of
French artillery from the ridges which Blake and his
Spaniards ought to have held, was attacked in front and
rear by the French cavalry and the fierce Polish lancers,
who, concealed by a heavy storm of rain and the thick
smoke from the firing, passed round the flank of the hill,
and committed dreadful havoc. Wherever these Poles had
served the French—whether in Italy, Egypt, Germany,
Spain, or Portugal,—they had distinguished themselves by
their savage ferocity as much as by their bravery and their
address as light cavalry. On the present, as on other
occasions, these lancers, with their blood - red pennons
shaking under the heads of their lances, rode madly over
the field to spear the wounded and finish them where they
fell. The tremendous slaughter made upon Colborne's
brigade would, however, have been still greater, if thcse
Poles had not thus lost time in gratifying their unsoldier-
like appetite for bleod and death ; or if, instead of scattering
theuiselves over the hill, they had kept together with the
French dragoouns, and pursued their first advantage, which
had been chiefly owing to surprise. Two British regiments
were almost annihilated ; but the 31st, (the left of Col-
borne’s brigade of three regiments) which fortunately
had not begun to deploy, escaped the cavalry charge
and manfully kept its ground under Major I'Estrange.
While this stern fighting was in progress on the hill, some
Spanish corps, regardless that their fire was falling fast,
not upon the French, but upon the English ranks, kept up
a mad, blind, unabating fusilade; but when ordered to
advance, and succour men who were perishing through the
celerity with which they had rushed to cover and assist
them, no power could move them forward. At one time
Beresford seized a Spanish ensign and dragged him forward
with the colours, hoping that the useless regiment would be
inspirited to follow. Not a man stirred, and the standard-
bearer flew back to his herd, as soon as the marshal relaxed
his grasp. Houghton’s brigade, the next of the two brigades
which had been sent forward to recover possession of theridge,
soon reached the summit, joined the immoveable 31st, and
maintained a most desperate struggle against an immensely
superior force, and against all arms — artillery, infantry,
cavalry, both light and heavy. When we shall see a well
wutbenticated instance of the troops of any other nation
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gaining and keeping such a position against such odds, then we
may qualify, or waver in, our national faith that the British
infantry is the best in the world.* Ioughton’s men, how-
ever, fell fast, and his ammunition, expended in a rapid,
sustained fire, began to fail. At the same moment another
and a fresh French column appeared moving round the
right flank of the hill. Marshal Beresford now thought of
retreat, and it is said that orders were on the point of being
issued to commence it. But there was a young, quick-sighted,
noble-hearted officer on the field, who saw that the battle
might yet be won. This was Colonel, now General Vis-
count Hardinge, who had shown the greatest intrepidity,
activity, vigilance, and address in Sir John Moore's unfor-
tunate campaign, who had been at the side of that general
on the hard fought field of Corufia when he received his
death-wound, who had raised the dying veteran from the
ground, tried to stop the effusion of blood with his sash, and
then assisted in carrying him to the rear, displaying the deli-
cate tenderness of a woman united with the fortitude of a
Christian warrior. Colonel Hardinge, who was now acting
as deputy quarter-master-general to the Portuguese troops,
without waiting for Marshal Beresford’s orders, hurled
General Cole’s division against the French. With this
division, which consisted only of the English fusilier
brigade and of one Portuguese brigade, Cole moved for-
ward. It was this British fusilier brigade that restored
the fight, and saved the allied army from a fearful catas-
trophe. While the Portuguese brigade, under General
Harvey, moved round the shoulder of the hill on the
right, and some troops under Colonel Abercrombie moved
round on the left, Cole himself led the matchless fusi-
liers straight up the fatal hill, which was now completely
crowned by the French masses and their artillery. Two
or three flags of regiments and six British guns were
already in the enemy’s possession, and the whole of Soult’s
reserve was coming forward, en masse, to reinforce his
columns on the ridge, from which the 31st and Houghton’s
thinned brigade seemed, at last, on the point of being swept.
On the ridge and on the slopes the ground was heaped with
dead bodies, and the Polish lancers were riding furiously
about the captured English guns. But General Cole, at the
head of his fusiliers, moved steadily onward and upward,
dispersed those savage lancers, recovered our six guns, and
appeared on the summit of the hill and on the right of
* ¢ Pict. Hist” Reign of George IT1.
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Houghton’s brigade just as Abercrombie took post on ita
left. The military historian of these exciting events has
given a most animated and perfect picture of the scene which
followed. His description has often been quoted ; but it
would savour of presumption in any man to attempt to write
another.

“ Such a gallant line, issuing from the midst of the
smoke, and rapidly separating itself from the confused and
broken multitude, startled the enemy’s heavy masses, which
were increasing and pressing onwards as to an assured victory :
they wavered, hesitated, and then, vomiting forth a storm of
fire, hastily endeavoured to enlarge their front, while a
fearful discharge of grape from all their artillery whistled
through the British ranks. Sir Willam Myers was killed,
Cole, and the three colonels, Ellis, Blakeney, and Hawk-
shawe, fell wounded, and the fusilier battahons, struck by
the iron tempest, rceled and staggered like sinking ships.
Suddenly and sternly recovering, they closed on their ter-
rible enemies, and then was seen with what a strength and
majesty the British soldier fights. In vain did Soult, by
voice and gesture, animate his Frenchmen; in vain did the
hardiest veterans, extricating themselves from the crowded
columns, sacrifice their lives to gain time for the mass to
open out on such a fair field; in vain did the mass itself
bear up, and, fiercely arising, fire indiscriminately upon
friends and foes, while the horsemen, hovering on the flank,
threatened to charge the advancing line. Nothing could
stop that astonishing infantry. No sudden burst of un-
disciplined valour, no nervous enthusiasm, weakened the
stability of their order; their flashing eyes were bent on
the dark columns in their front ; their measured tread shook
the ground ; their dreadful volleys swept away the head of
every formation ; their deafening shouts overpowered the
dissonant cries that broke from all parts of the tumultuous
crowd, as foot by foot, and with a horrid carnage, it was
driven by the incessant vigour of the attack to the farthest
edge of the hill. In vain did the French reserves, joining
with the struggling multitudes, endeavour to sustain the
fight ; their efforts only increased the irremediable con-
fusion, and the mighty mass, giving way like a loosened
cliff, went headlong dewn the steep. The rain flowed
after in streams discoloured with blood, and 1,500 unwounded
men, the remnant of 6,000 unconquerable British soldiers,
stood triumphant on the fatal hill.” *

* Napier, ¢ Hist., of the War in the Peninsula,’ vol. iii. p. 546,
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“ Tt was observed,” wrotc Beresford to the Commander-
in-chief, “that our dead, particularly the 57th regiment,
werc lying, as they had fought, in ranks, and that every
wound was in front.” *

The aay was now won as Hardinge had seen it might be,
and Beresford ordering the Portuguese and Spaniards to
advance, the French retreated in dismay and confusion
across the Albuera river. At 3 o'clock in the afternoon,
*he firing, which had begun hotly at about 9 o’clock in the
morning, ceased. The allies had lost, in killed and wounded,
about 7,000 men, of whom more than two-thirds were
British.  The French were computed to have lost not less
than 9,000 men, including two generals killed and three
generals wounded.

Beresford warmly thanked Colonel Hardinge for the abili-
ties he had displayed, and for the exertions he had made,
and properly praised the heroic conduct of Major-General
‘W. Stuart, Major-General Cole, Colonel Colborne, Major
I'Estrange, and nearly all the distinguished officers who
survived the murderous conflict, making especial mention of
General Lumley, who did wonders with the comparatively
weak cavalry under his command. }

The fighting had not been entirely on one point, for the
French General Godinot, had made some efforts on our left
and on the village of Albuera, from which he had been
fcreed to desist by a threatened charge from Lumiey's
cavairy. In every crisis of the fight, and on every part
of the field, Marshal Beresford was seen conspicuously : and
if he committed errors as a general, his bravery asa man
ought to have commanded the respect of many who have
since treated his arrangements with unsparing severity.}

But if censure was showered upon his head for his manage-
ment of this battle, and for his fighting it at all, it was cer-
tainly not by his considerate and generous minded Com-
mander-in-chief. Wellington praised Beresford for having
raised the siege of Badajoz without loss of ordnance or
stores, and he did not hesitate to call the battle of Albueraa
signal victory, gained by the marshal and his British sole
diers in the most gallant manner. As soon as he heard of

* ¢ Dispatch to Lord Wellington,” dated Albuera, 18th of May.

+ When the Polish lancers were on the hill-top butchering our two
unfortunate regiments, and preparing to charge the 31st, Lumley rode at
a gallop to the rescue. The British cavalry charged nobly. The lancers
were in their turn taken in the rear; and numbers of these desperadoes

fell beneath the sabres of Lumley’s horsemen!
3 ¢ Victories of the British Army.*
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the battle, his lordship wrote to Beresford—¢ Your loss,
by all accounts, has been very large.... You could not be
successful in such an action without a large loss; and we
must make up our minds to affairs of this kind sometimes,
or give up the game.” * His lordship joined to his admira-
tion of the battle, his cordial concurrence in the favourable
reports made by Beresford to the Government, of the good
conduct of all who had been engaged in it. When he
became acquainted with the facts, he attributed the great
sacrifices which the battle had cost us, and the unmolested
condition of the French after they had crossed the river, to
the right cause.—“It was owing to the Spaniards, who
could not be moved.” “T should,”. said his lordship, * feel
no anxiety about the result of any of our operations, if the
Spaniards were as well disciplined as the soldiers of that
nation are brave, and if they were at all moveable ; but this
is, I fear, beyond hope! All our losses have been caused
by this defect. At Talavera, the enemy would have been
destroyed, if we could have moved the Spaniards; at
Albuera, the natural thing would have been to support the
Spaniards on the right with the Spaniards who were next
to them; but any movement of that body would have
created inextricable confusion; and it was necessary to sup-
port the right solely with British, and thus the great loss
fell upon our troops. In the same way, I suspect, the diffi-
culty and danger of moving the Spanish troops was the
cause that General Lapefia did not support General Graham
at Barrosa.” T

On the evening of the 16th, the day which had witnessed
one of the most murderous conflicts of modern times, consi-
dering the number of troops engaged, Beresford improved
his position; his freshest troops were placed in front, and
some hundreds of spears and flags, taken from the Poles,
were planted in defiance along the crest.; On the morrow,
the 17th of May, the two armies remained in their respec-
tive positions, Beresford fully expecting to be attacked
again. But the morning passed, and the afternoon, and the
evening, and the night, without any movement on the side
of Souft; and on the 18th, Kemmis’s brigade of 1,500 Eng-
lish came up and joined Beresford on the ridge of Albuera,
and then, late at night, Soult began to move off his
wounded, and to prepare for his retreat upon Seville, which
he commenced on the morning of the 19th, leaving behind

* ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. vii. p. 573. + 1d. vel. vii. p. 59%

¥ Southey, ¢ Hist. of the Peninsular War.
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him 800 soldiers, severely wounded, to the generosity and
humanity of the English. The French marshal had ne
doubt heard of the approach of Lord Wellington. On tke
very next day his lordship arrived at Albuera with two
fresh divisions, and ordered that the siege of Badajnz
should be instantly resumed. Through our deficiency in
cavalry, Soult’s retreat was not so much molested as 1t
ought to have been; but, nevertheless, he lost some hun-
dreds of men, and our weak horse defeated his strong rear-
guard at Usagre.

Trenches were opened before Badajoz, and on the 5th of
June, 2 breach being made, the assault was given. Through
various wants and deficiencies in our siege appointments,
this failed completely, nor did another attempt on the 9th
prove more successful. These two assaults cost our army,
in killed and wounded, 400 of our very best men. On the
10th, his lordship received certain intelligence that Mar-
mont was marching from Salamanca to join Soult with the
whole of his forces, and that Drouet’s corps was advancing
from Toledo, and would probably join Soult that very day.
He therefore fell back, and took up a position on the heights
near Campo Mayor, along the Portuguese frontier. Al-
though the French brought together from 60,000 to 70,000
infantry, and 8,000 horse, while Wellington, counting
Portuguese and some Spaniards, had not more than 56,000,
of which only 3,500 were horse, -the two French marshals
would not venture to attack him on those heights ; and after
losing many days, Marmont, about the middle of July, sepa-
rated from Soult, and marched back upon Salamanca. This
rendered indispensable a corresponding movement to the
northward on the part of Wellington ; and his lordship, leav-
ing General Hill with one British division, and the Portu-
guese troops in the Alemtejo, marched back to his old line of
the Agueda, and established his head-quarters at Fuente
Guinaldo. Here he was at no great distance from Ciudad
Rodrigo, and, aiming at the recovery of that fortress, he
caused it to be watched. Towards the end of September,
Marmont, having received large reinforcements from France,
advanced to the Agueda, and by his superiority of num-
bers, and especially of cavalry, obliged Wellington to with-
draw to his old position on the Coa—whither the French
did not choose to follow him.

Meanwhile General Hill obtained signal successes in the
south. Marshal Soult had gone back again to Seville, and
thence to Cadiz, to have an eye upon the interminable
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lockadz of the latter city. The French gencral, Gerard,
was left near the Guadiana, at Arroyo Molinos; and here,
on the 28th of October, he was surprised, surrounded, and
completely routed by Hill, who took 1,500 men and several
officers of};ank prisoners, and seized the whole of his artil-
lery, ammunition, stores, and baggage. General Hill then
advanced to Merida, where he placed his troops in canton-
ments. In all Spanish Estremadura the French had now
no firm footing except within the walls of Badajoz.

Thus terminated the campaign of 1811. Lord Welling-
ton in the course of this year, besides having firmly esta-
blished his complete possession of Portugal, had, by his
operations within the Spanish frontiers, given employment
to two French armies, and prevented the French from act-
ing with vigour either against Gallicia in the north, or
against Cadiz in the south. He had more than redeemed
his pledge and promise to retain possession of Portugal, and
make it a point d’apput for future operations against the
French in Spain.

The opposition party at home, who would have with-
drawn the army altogether had they been able, complained
loudly of the expense. His lordship, in striking language,
told ministers that it would cost much more to keep up
a defensive army at home.

“J shall be sorry,” he thus wrote to Lord Liverpool,
on the 23rd March 1811, whilst he was following Massena’s
track of devastation, by the light of burning towns and
villages, “ I shall be sorry if Government should think
themselves under the necessity of withdrawing from this
country on account of the expense of the contest. From
what I have seen of the objects of the French government,
and the sacrifices they make to accomplish them, I have
no doubt that, if the British army were for any reason to
withdraw from the Peninsula, and the French government
were relieved from the pressure of military operations on
the continent, they would incur all risks to land an army in
his Majesty’s dominions. Then, indeed, would commence
an expensive contest; then would his Majesty’s subjects
discover what are the miseries of war, of which, by the
blessing of God, they have hitherto had no knowledge ;
and the cultivation, the beauty, and prosperity of the
country, and the virtue and happiness of its inhabitants,
would be destroyed, whatever might be the result of the
military operations. God forbid that I should be a witness,
much less an actor, in the scene ; and I only hope that the
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King’s Government will consider well what I have abeve
stated to Kour lordship, and will ascertain, as nearly as
it is in their power, the actual expense of employing a
certain number of men in this country, beyond that of
employing them at home or elsewhere.”*

The Spanish general, Blake, did not improve in military
skill or wisdom after the battle of Albuera. Risking
another battle by himself near Valencia, he was, of course,
defeated by Suchet. He then shut himself up in the city
of Valencia with his whole army—the last Spanish army
which had remained in the field—and there, in the begin-
ning of January 1812, he capitulated with 18,000 soldiers,
23 general officers, and between 300 and 400 guns. Again,
a loud noise was made by our opposition. ¢ I believe,”
observed Lord Wellington at the time, *there is no man
who knows the state of affairs in that province, and has
read Suchet's account of his action with Blake on the
25th of October, who does not believe, that if Blake had
not fought that action Valencia would have been safe. Are
the English ministers and generals responsible for the blun-
ders of Blake ?"t

Unfortunately, during this year, 1811, the French had
obtained great successes against the unassisted Spaniards on
the distant eastern coast. Under the butcher, Suchet, they
took Tarragona by storm, and committed a massacre on the
unarmed population, without regard to age or sex. Still the
brave Catalonians continued undismayed and firm in their
resistance ; and in the course of the ensuing year they
received the assistance of a powerful armament. On that
eastern coast the loss of the French had been immense ;
and, while they had been capturing towns and fortresses in
Catalonia, the brave Baron d'Eroles, with a flying cclumn,
passed the Pyrenees into France, swept a good part of
Gascony, and returned back to his own mountains with
corn, cattle, and a good round contribution in money.

In the south the French vainly pressed their blockade
of Cadiz. Ballasteros, supported by Gibraltar and the
mountains of Ronda, kept the ficld with about 8,000 parti-
sans, harassing the French with dreadful long marches and
frequent skirmishes, baffling and cutting up a good part of
the pursuing column of Godinot, and causing that French
Egner:ﬁ_ so much mortification, that he went crazy, and shot

imself.

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. vii. p. 392. 1 1d. vol. viii, p 520.
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BOOK IIl

Campaign of 1812.—Lorp WEeLLINGTON, from his head-
quarters at Irenada, had been preparing the means of
recapturing the fortress of Ciudad Rodrigo. These cares
had occupied him ever since he retired before Soult in
the preceding autumn. Great things were done secretly
and without any noise. Under the appearance of repairing
and fortifying Almeida, he had collected there a battering
train, and abundant stores. A portable bridge on trestles
was also constructed in the same place. He also effected the
formation of a commissariat waggon-train, with several
hundred waggons constructed for the purpose, in order to
supersede the rude carts of Portuguese construction which
had been hitherto nsed as a means of transport for the
army, but which would have often proved quite ineffectual
without the assistance of a large body of Spanish mules and
muleteers, which followed all the movements of the divi-
sions of the British army. By the exertions of the engineer
officers, the river Douro had been rendered navigable as far
as the confluence of the Agueda; thatis to say, forty miles
higher than boats had ever before ascended it. All this was
done with so little outward bustle and show, that Marmont
does not seem to have anticipated any attack upon Ciudad
Rodrigo, at least for the remainder of the winter. 'The
French marshal had placed his army, the “ Army of For-
tugal,” in extensive cantonments about Placencia and Tala-
vera, towards the Tagus, and had detached part of it east-
ward towards La Mancha, and two divisions to the north,
to occupy the Asturias. Suddenly Lord Wellington, on
the 6th of January, moved his head-quarters forward to
Gallegos, and on the 8th part of the army crossed the
Agueda, and immediately invested Ciudad Rodrigo. *

That very night an external redoubt, on a hill, called the
Great Teson, was stormed by a party of our light division ;
by the 15th two strongly fortified convents outside the walls
were carried by assault, our second parallel was completed,
and fresh batteries were established. Two practicable
breachés were made on the 19th, and that very evening
orders were given to storm the place. No time was to be
lost, for Marmont was advancing to relieve the garrison.
The assault was made by two breaches and by the gate of
St. Jago, and in less than half an hour the Allies were in

* A,V ensseux, ¢ Military Life.”
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possession of, and formed on the ramparts; and ihen the
F'rench garrison surrendered.* But the fighting had been
awful, and an accident had swelled our great loss, {General
Mackinnon and many of his men having been blown up
by the explosion of a magazine on the ramparts.” General
Craufurd, the gallant commander of the light division, was
mortally wounded, and soon died; General Vandeleur and
Colonel Colborne were wounded less seriously, as was also
Major G. Napier, who led one of the storming parties, and
who was not hit for the first time. The total loss of the
British and Portuguese amounted to about 1,000 killed and
wounded. The loss of the garrison was about the same,
besides 1,700 prisoners. More than 300 pieces of cannon, a
battering train complete, an armoury of small arms, a well-
stocked arsenal, and military stores of all descriptions, were
found in the place. Marshal Marmont had collected
60,000 men, and had advanced as far as Salamanca, nothing
dcubting of success; when, to his astonishment and dismay,
he learned that the British flag was flying on the walls, that
the trenches were filled in, and the breaches already in a
defensible state.

The Spanish Cortes assembled at Cadiz passed unanimously
s vote of thanks to his lordship, and conferred on him the
title of Duke of Ciudad Rodrigo. In England he was
raised to the dignity of an earl of the United Kingdom, and
Parliament, in addition to a vote of thanks to him and his
brave army, annexed to the title an annuity of 2,000/ In
the debate in the Lower Ilouse, when the grant was proposed,
Mr. Canning stated that a revenue of 5,000/ a year had been
granted to Lord Wellington by the Portuguese government
when they conferred upon him the title of Conde de Vimeira
that as Captain-General of Spain, 5,000/. a year had been
offered him, and 7,0001. as Marshal in the Portuguese ser-
vice, all of which he had declined, saying, *he would re-
ceive nothing from Spain and Portugal in their present
state ; he had only done his duty to his country, and to his
country alone he would look for reward.”+

Marshal Marmont retired again to Valladolid, his troops
exhausted by forced marches which had no result, and him-
self unable to comprehend what next objects his dangerous
adversary might have in view.

His lordship's first object of all was to take Badajoz before
Marmont and Soult could unite for its defence. Having
* Letter to Lord Liverpool, ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. viii. p. 549,

4 ¢ Parliamentary Register” ¢ Annual Register for 1812.
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repaired the works of Ciudad Rodrigo, and handed over tke
eommand of the place to a Spanish general on the 5th of
March, he, on the afternoon of the same day, began to move
to the south, leaving one division of his army on the Agueda.
Again his preparations were carried on with all possible
secrecy. The artillery for the siege was embarked at Lis-
on for a fictitious destination, then transshipped at sea into
small craft, in which it was conveyed up the Setubal river
to Alcacer do Sol, and thence by land across the Alemtejo
to the banks of the Guadiana. In this manner fifty-two
heavy guns and twenty-four pounder howitzers, and an
enormous quantity of powder, shot, and shell, were got up to
Badajoz before the French knew anything about it. DBut
the exertions and anxieties all this had cost Lord Wellington,
had nearly broken up even his iron constitution.

On the 16th March our army crossed the Guadiana, and
Badajoz was immediately invested, while several of our divi-
sions advanced to Llerena and Merida to cover the siege.

When Lord Wellington thus sat down before Badajoz, its
garrison consisted of 5,000 effective men, under the command
of a most distingnished engineer, Phillipon, who had already
defended the fortress with success, and who had been labour=
ing for many months to increase its strength and to provide
means of destruction for its assailants. More guns had been
mounted, more retrenchments made, more covered ways
established, more shafts sunk, and more mines formed ; the

lace had been well provisioned and nearly all the Spanish
inhabitants had been expelled from it. Such was the con-
dition of Badajoz when, limited both in time and means
Lord Wellington determined to attack it. Although his
battering train was respectable, he was unprepared to under-
take a slow formal siege. Mortars he had none— his miners
were few and inexperienced—and if his operations were
delayed, an advance of the French armies, or even stormy
weather, must certainly interrupt the investment.*

While getting ready for his first assault on the out-
works, his lordship’s attention was distracted and his spirit
vexed by intelligence from the south. He received a letter
from Don Carlos d’Espafia stating that Cindad Rodrigo was
{:rovisioned for only twenty-three days, that the garrison

ad no money, that the repairs of the works conld not be

completed unless his lordship sent back some English work-

men, and, finally, that if Marmont should only establish a

wiugle division between the Coa and the Agueda, that place,
¥ Maxwell, ¢Life of the Duke,’ vol. ii. p. 449
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whose reduction had cost so much British blood and trea-
sure, must assuredly pass again into the hands of the French.
Lord Wellington, who had reduced hiz own magazines to
provision Ciudad Rodrigo, and who had almost emptied his
military chest by leaving 12,000 dollars to repair the works,
was justly incensed ; and he wrote to the incapable Don,—
“The report which you make of Ciudad Rodrigo distresses
me much. I had hoped that when, by the labour of the
British and Portuguese troops, and at the expense of the
British Government, I had, in concert with General Cas-
tafios, improved and repaired the works of Ciudad Rodrigo,
so that at all events the place was made secure from a
coup-de-main, and had left money in order to complete the
exccution of what our troops had not time to complete, I
should not have been told by your Excellency that, for want
of the assistance of fifteen or twenty British soldiers, who
are artificers, and whose services are required for other
objects essential to the cause of Spain, the whole business is
at a stand. Is it possible that your Excellency can be in
earnest ? Is it possible that Castile cannot furnish fifteen
or twenty stone-cutters, masons, and carpenters for the
repair of this important post? How have all the great
works been performed which we see in your country ?

“ But your Excellency’s letter suggests this melancholy
reflection that everything, as well of a military as of a
laborious nature, must be performed by British soldiers.

. . « In writing this letter to your Excellency, I do
not mean to make any reproach. I wish only to place upon
record the facts as they have occurred, and to show to your
country, and to my country and to the world, that it this
important place should fall, or if I should be obliged to
abandon plans important to Spain, in order to go to its
relief, the fault is not mine,”*

Five days after writing this letter, on the 25th of March,
his lordship ordered an attack to be made on the Picurina,
an advanced post, separated from Badajoz by the small river
Rivillas, That post was bravely carried by storm ; and, on
the 26th, two breaching batteries opened a heavy fire on the
town, in the midst of rainy, deplorable weather.

In the mean time, Soult was collecting his disposable force
at Seville for the relief of the place, and Marmont, in order
to effect a diversion, entered Portugal by Sabugal and Pena-
macor, and ravaged the country east of the Estrella. This

* Dated Camp before Pedajoz, 20th March 1812.—¢ Dispatches,’ vols
viii. p. 668,
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compelled Lord Wellington to accelerate the operations of
the siege. On the 6th of April, three breaches having
become practicable, orders were given for the assault in the
evening. The various divisions passed the glacis under g
tremendous fire from the garrison, which greatly thinned
their ranks; they descended into the ditch, and ascended the
breaches, but here they found obstacles which appeared
insuperable. Planks studded with iron spike-like harrows,
and chevaux-de-frize formed of sword-blades, effectunally
stopped the way, and the ramparts and neighbouring build-
ings were occupied by light infantry, which showered their
volleys upon the assailants Shells, hand-grenades, every
kind of burning composition, and missiles of every sort,
were hurled at them. At last (about the hour of midnight),
Lord Wellington ordered them to withdraw, just as a report
came that General Picton’s division had taken the castle by
ascalade, and soon after General Walker’s brigade also
entered the town by escalade on the side of the Olivenga
gate. The other divisions then formed again for the attack
of the breaches, when all resistance ceased. The French
governor, Philippon, with a few hundred men, escaped across
the Guadiana to Fort San Christoval, where he surrendered
the following morning. Many excesses and outrages were
committed by the soldiers, until severe measures on the part
of Lord Wellington restored order. The prisoners, how-
ever, were s’pared.

¢ Never,” says Colonel Jones,—* probably never since the
discovery of gunpowder, were men more seriously exposed
to its action.”* The loss of the allies had been dreadful :
including the Portuguese, 72 officers and 963 men were
killed, and 306 officers and 8,480 men wounded. Covered
as they were, the French lost from 1,200 to 1,500 men
during the siege and in the assault. Philippon, in surren-
dering with the survivors of the garrison, gave up from
3,000 to 4,000 prisoners, Spaniards, Portuguese, and Eng-
lish, who had been collccted in Badajoz as a safe depot.
Writing to Colonel Torrens, the day after this dearly-
bought triumph, his lordship said,—* Our loss has indeed
been very great ; but I send you a letter to Lord Liverpool
which accounts for it. The truth is, that, equipped as we
are, the British army is not capable of carrying on a long
siege.” This letter to the Earl of Liverpool has not been
found ; but from documents in the Ordnance-office, and
from other sources, it appears that it recommended the

* ¢ Hist. of Sieges.’
x
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immediate formation of a corps of sappers and miners; the
want of such an establishment with the arniy being a chief
cause of the great loss of lives in our sieges.* Qur military
historian has ably vindicated these sieges,. showing the
relation they had with other trausactions, and with nume-
rous and remote. considerations :—¢ Many of Lord Wel-
lington’s proceedings,” he observes, “might be called rash,
and others timid and slow, if taken separately ; yet when
viewed as parts of a great plan for delivering the whole
Peninsula, they will be found discreet or daring, as the cir-
cumstances warranted : nor is there any portion of his cam-
paigns that requires this wide-based consideration more
than his early sieges; which, being instituted contrary to
the rules of art, and unsuccessful, or, when successful,
attended with a mournful slaughter, have given occasion
for questioning his great military qualities, which were,
however, then most signally displayed.”}

It was not until daybreak on the 7th of April, that his
lordship was completcly master of Badajoz. On the 8th,
Soult collected his army at Villafranca, between Llerena
and Merida, at a short distance from Badajoz; but bearing
of the fall of that place, on the morning of the 9th, long
before daylight, he began to retreat once more to Seville.
Again the French were warmly pursued by the British
cavalry, who cut up Soult’s rear-guard at Villa Garcia.

By the 13th, Wellington was again in motion with the
main body of his army, to drive Marmont out of Beira, and
to make sure of Ciudad Rodrigo, which was blockaded b,
one of the marshal’s divisions, and was certainly not safe
with its Spanish garrison. On learning that he was in
motion, Marmont withdrew with all possible speed -into
Spain, and again retreated to Salamanca. His lordship’s
head-quarters were again between the Coa and the Agueda,
at Fuente Guinaldo, where they remained till the middle of
June, nothing of importance occurring in that quarter during
the interval. But Wellington had left General Hill with &
good force in the south, and Hill, by a happy combina-
tion of rapidity, daring, and skill, attacked and carried by
brilliant coups-de-main the strong forts the French had
erected at Almaraz on the Tagusto protect a bridge of boats,
which secured the communications between their armies of
the north and south. By this operation Marmont was cut off

* See Note by Colonel Gurwood in ¢ Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. ix.
4 W. Napier, ¢ Hist. of the Warin the Peninsula.’
$  Dispatches,’ vol. ix.
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from Soult, and Soult from Marmont. Moreover, Hill’s rapid
movements in Estremadura carried consternation among the
French in Andalusia, where nothing could be done against
Cadiz, and where Marshal Victor had been previously foiled
by Colonel Skerrett, and a very weak garrison thrown
into the old Moresque fortress of Tarifa on the Straits of
Gibraltar.

On the 13th of June, Wellington, having completed his
preparations for an advance into Spain, broke up from his
cantonments with ahout 40,000 men, leaving General Hill on
the Tagus, near Almaraz, with about 12,000 more, On the
17th, he appeared before Salamanca, to the surprise of Mar-
mont, who retired on his approach, leaving about 800 French
in some forts, constructed on the ruins of convents, which
commanded the only bridge which crossed the river Tormes
into the town. The allied army forded the river and entered
Salamanca, to the great joy of its inhabitants, who had been
scandalously treated by the enemy. His lordship himself
wrote,—* They have now been suffering for more than
three years, during which time the French, among other
acts of violence and oppression, have destroyed thirteen out
of twenty-five convents, and twenty-two of twenty-five
colleges, which existed in this celebrated seat of learning.” ®
The convent forts, which were found to be of great strength,
were immediately invested by General Clinton’s division s
Marmont retired to Toro on the Douro, and the British
advance took up a position at San Christoval, a few miles inv
front of Salamanca. In a rash attempt to carry the forts
by escalade, Major-general Bowes was slain, and 120 men
were killed or wounded. On the 20th, Marmont, wheeling
round, came in front of our position at San Christoval, and
made a demonstration with his cavalry, which brought on a
skirmish, but nothing more. The French marshal remained
in our front all that night and all the next day, and on the
following night established a post on our mght flank, the
possession of which would have deprived Wellington of an
advantage which might eventually be of importance. Ac-
cordingly, on the following morning, the 22nd, that post
was attacked by the hero of Barrosa, General Sir Thomas
Graham, who drove the French from the ground imme-
diately with some loss.  “ Our troops conducted themselves
remarkably well in this affair, which took place in the view
of every man of both armies”* Marmont retired during
that night; and on the following evening he posted his

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. ix. p. 239. + Id. vol. ix.
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army with its right on some heights, its centre at Aldea
Rubia, and its left on the Tormes. There was no mistaking
his intention,—he wanted to communicate with and aid the
garrisons in the convent forts at Salamanca, by the left
bank of the Tormes. Wellington changed his front, and
extended his troops so as to cover Salamanca completely,
retaining the power of crossing and recrossing the Tormes,
and of concentrating his army on any one point at a short
notice. More than once Marmont made a false move, and
exposed himself to attack ; but, for the present, his adversary
did not think it advisable to avail himself of his opportu-
nities. Every effort that Marmont could make for the
relief of the forts was completely bafiled ; those forts had
all surrendered or been taken by the 27th; and thereupon
the marshal retreated once more. In the beginning of July,
Marmont was in a strong position on the nortkern bank of
the Douro, and Wellington in lines on the southern bank of
that river, the British and Portuguese facing the French.
Marmont, who is taxed with being rather too fond of dis-
playing bis skill in directing the movements of large masses
of men, changed front repeatedly, marched and counter-
marched, and perplexed his own people far more than his
able opponent by numerous and complicated manceuvres. In
the interval, the French marshal was reinforced by Bonnet's
division, which had marched from the Asturias, not without
‘having been harassed by the guerillas. On the 11th of July,
Marmont threw two divisions across the Douro at Toro,
when Wellington moved his army to the left to concentrate
it on the Guarena, an affluent of the Douro. On the same
night, the two French divisions recrossed the Douro where
they had crossed it in the morning, and then Marmont, with
his whole army, ascended the northern bank of the river to
Tordesillas. Here he again crossed over to the southern
bank, and thence, making a forced march, assembled at
Nava del Rey on the 17th. On the 18th, he attempted to
cut off Wellington’s right wing; but his troops were re-
pulsed by the charges of the British and Hanoverian cavalry,
and the smart advance of the Britich and Portuguese light
infantry. By his manceuvres, however, Marmont had now
succeeded in re-establishing his communications with Joseph
Buonaparte and the army of the centre, which was advanc-
ing from Madrid to join him.

The two armies of Marmont and Wellington were now
in line on the opposite banks of the narrow Guarefia. But
on the 20th, the French marshal crossed that stream on
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Wellington's right, and advanced towards the Tormes, in
the design of cutting off his commnunications with Salamanca
and Ciudad Rodrigo. This must not be! Wellington's
columns were in motion as soon as Marmont’s, and during
part of that day’s march, the two hostile armies moved
towards the Termes in parallel lines, and within half
cannon-shot of each other. This striking spectacle has
been described by several British officers who were eye-
witnesses.

¢ A sight more glorious, and more solemn, war does not
often present. Ninety thousand combatants marched side
by side, as it were, without collision, each host admiring the
array of its opponent, all eyes eager in their gaze, and all
ears attent for the signal sound of battle.” *

“ Nothing intervened to obstruct a view of the columns
of enemies that thus continued to pursue their course with-
out the least obstacle to prevent their coming into instan-
taneous cot tact ; for the slightest divergement from either
line of march towards the other, would have brought them
within musketry distance. I have always considered this
day’s march as a very extraordinary scene, only to have
occurred from the generals opposed commanding highly
disciplined armies, each at the same time pursuing an object
from which he was not to be for an instant abstracted by
minor circumstances; the French marshal pressing forward
to arrive first on the Tormes, Lord Wellington following
his motions, and steadily adhering to the defensive, until
substantial reasons appeared to demand the adoption of a
more decided conduct....No spectator would have ima-
gined that the two immense moving columns that filled the
whole country, and seemed interminable—being lost to the
eye in dust and distance—composed two armies, animated
with earnest desires for the destruction of each other, but
who, although possessed of numerous artillery and cavalry,
were persevering on thuir way, as if by mutual consent
refraining from serious hostility, until arrived at the arena
destined for the great trial, to which either was now advan-
cing with confidence and without interruption."t

Wellington’s determinations were to recross the Tormes,
if Marmont should cross it ; to cover Salamanca as long as
e could; not to give up his communication with Ciudad
Rodrigo ; and, above all, not to fight a battle unless under
very advantageous circumstances, or under absolute neces-

* M. Sherer, ¢ Military Memoirs.’

% Colonel Leith Hay, ¢ Narrative of the Peninsular War.?
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sity. He saw that there was not much to be got, or to be
hoped for, by advancing into Castile. The wheat harvest
had not yet been reaped; and even if he had had plenty of
money—which he had not—he could not have procured
anything from the country; for he could not follow the
example of the French, who were laying waste whole dis-
tricts in order to procure a scanty subsistence of uuripe
wheat.* To the British general the keeping open of com-
munications was almost everything; while to the French
general, who had not to look to legitimate or regular sup-
plies, it was next to nothing. Both Soult and Massena had
contrived to live in Portugal for months when all their
communications had been cut off; and now Marmont, for a
certain time, could do as much in Spain. Even at this
moment he had been surrounded for six weeks, and scarcely
even a letter had reached him. ¢But,” said Wellington,
“the system of organized rapine and plunder, and the extra-
ordinary discipline so long established in the French armies,
enable it to subsist at the expense of the total ruin of the
country in which it has been placed, and I am not certain
that Marshal Marmont has not now at his command a greater
quantity of provisions and supplies of every description than
we have. Any movement upon his flank, therefore, would
only tend to augment the embarrassments of our own
situation, while it would have no effect whatever upon that
of theenemy........ . I have invariably been of opinion
that, unless forced to fight a battle, it is better that one
should not be fought by the Allied Army, unless under such
favourable circumstances as that there would be reason to
hope that the Allied Army would be able to maintain the
ﬁeﬁi, while that of the enemy should not. Your lordship
will have seen by the rcturns of the two armies that we have
no superiority of numbers even over that single army im-
mediately oEposed to us; indeed, I believe that the French
army is of the two the strongest, and it is certainly equipped
with a profusion of artillery double ours in number,
and of larger calibres. It cannot therefore be attacked
in a chosen pogition without considerable luss on our side.
To this circumstance add, that I am quite certain that Mar-
mont’s army is to be joined by the king's, which will be
10,000 or 12,000 men, with a large proportion of cavalry,
and that troops are still expected from the army of the
north, and some are ordered fiom that of the south; and it

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. ix. Letter from Lord Wellington to Ear] Bathuzst,
dated near Salamanca, 21st July,
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will be seen that I ought to counsider it almost impossible to
remain in Castile after an action, the circumstances of which
should not have been 8o advantageous as to have left the
Allied Army in & situation of comparative strength, while
that of the enemy should have been much weakened. I
have therefore determined to cross the Tormes if the enemy
should; to cover Salamanca as long as I can, and, above
all, not to give up our communication with Ciudad Rod-
rigo; and not to fight an action unless under very advan-
tageous circumstances, or it should become absolutely ne-
cessary.” *

By advancing even the short distance he had done into
Spain, his lordship had compelled Marmont to abandon the
Asturias, by calling to his aid Bonnet and every French soldier
that wasthere ; he had afforded encouragement to the Span-
iards, and an opportunity of recruiting fresh armies; he had
diverted the attention of the French from several remainirg

rovinces of the kingdom, and had compelled them to leave
giadrid in a very weak state. On commencing his forward
movement, he was justified in calculating upon a chance of
out-manceuvring the French marshal ; and any brilliant suce
cess on his part was almost sure to co:npel Soult to raise the
blockade of Cadiz, if not to evacuate the whole of Anda-
lusia. Moreover, his lordship had been promised the active
co-operation of an Anglo-Sicilian force of from 12,000 to
15,000 men, which was to land on the eastern coast of Spain,
end which might be expected to draw to that distant quarter
some of the French divisions that were now near to him.

On the 21st of July, both Marmont and Wellington
crossed the Tormes, the Allied Army passing by the bridge
of - Salamanca, the French by the fords higher up the river.
Night closed in before this passage was completed; and our
troops had scarcely reached their bivouacs, ere a tremendous
thunderstorm commenced. The rain tellin torrents, the most
vivid flashes of lightning were succeeded by instantaneous
peals of thunder. A more violent crash of the elements had
seldom been witnessed. General Le Marchant’s brigade of
cavalry had halted ; the men, dismounted, were seated or lying
on the ground, holding their horses, which, alarmed by the
storm, snorted and started with such violence that many of
them broke loose, and galloped across the country in all
direcyi‘ons. “This dispersion, and the frightened horses,
passing without riders in a state of wildness, added to the

L1

® ¢ Dispatches,’ vol, ix. p. 206-8,
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awful effect of the tempest ; nor was the situation in which
we were otherwise placed one of great brightness.”*

In the course of this stormy night, Lord Wellington
received certain intelligence that General Clausel had
arrived at Pollos on the 20th, with the cavalry and horse-
artillery of the army of the north; and his lordship was
quite certain that these troops could join Marmont on the
22nd or 23rd at latest. There was, therefore, no time to be
lost; and his lordship determined that, if circumstance or
some lucky chance should not permit him to attack Mar-
mont on the morrow (the 22nd), he would move at once
towards Ciudad Rodrigo, as the great difference in the
numbers of cavalry might render a march of manceuvre,
such as he had been making for the last four or five days,
very difficult, and its result doubtful.t

The storm died away in the night. The rising sun of the
22nd shone upon the two hostile armies in their near posi-
tions, and upon many a brave soldier who was not tosee the
setting of tha&sun. The British general had placed his troops
in a position the left of which rested on the Tormes, below the
ford of Santa Martha, and the right on one of two steep hills
which rise abruptly in the midst of the plain, and from their
similarity and contiguity are called Dos Arapiles. The
French marshal nearly faced him, occupying the heights of
Lapeha, holding the village of Calvarasso de Ariba, and
inclining his left towards the roads leading to Ciudad
Rodrigo. Both armies were still very near the city of Sala-
manca, both were masters of their respective lines, and free
to accept or decline battle, as their commandersnight choose.
Marmont was already at the head of 47,000 good troops, out-
numbering the allies by nearly 5,000 men ; and he had this
additional advantage—a good part of his position was covered
and concealed by thick wood. His experimental manceuvres
to get between the allies and their Ciudad Rodrigo route,
gave Wellington the chance he was looking for, and brought
on the battle.

Soon after dawn skirmishing began, and this was followed
by the advance of a strong French detachment, which
seized the more distant and stronger of the two hills, called
Arapiles. The right of Wellington’s position being thus
rather open to annoyance, his lordship instantly extended
it en potence to the heights behind the village of Arapiles,
wnd ocecupied that hamlet with light infantry. Still per.

® Colonel Leith Hay, “ Narrative.?
t Dispatch to Earl Bathurst, dated July 24th.
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severing in his attempt to turn our right, or make Welling-
ton believe he might turn it, and get on the Ciudad
Rodrigo road, Marmont, after a variety of evolutions and
manceuvres, in which many hours were consumed, began to
extend his troops considerably to his left. This mancuvre—
accompanied with a great display, with a noisy cannonade, and
a cloudy cover of skirmishers—was performed by the mar-
ghal upon some heights, not above have half a mile in front
of the British. No sooner was Wellington fully aware of
the error which Marmont was committing by over-extend-
ing and weakening his line, than he uttered a joyful excla-
mation, and made dispositions for the attack. It was now
two o’clock in the afternoon. Ignorant of our great Cap-
tain’s intention, the French were, at this moment, engaged
in a partial combat with a detachment of our guards, which
held the village of Arapiles, and resisted all efforts to dis-
lodge them. Wellington had disposed his divisions so as
to turn the French left, and to attack them in front at the
same time. ;

Suddenly our 3rd division, under General Packenham,
supported by two brigades of artillery and several squadrons
under d’Urban, rapidly and steadily ascended the ridge
occupied by Marmont’s extreme left, formed line across the
flank of the French, and then moved on towards the centre
of the enemy, driving everything before him. “ Wherever
the French attempted to make a stand, they were charged
with the bayonet; the cavalry at the same time charged
the enemy in front, and the whole left wing of the French
made a disorderly retreat towards their right, leaving many
killed and wounded behind, and about 3,000 prisoners.
Meantime the 4th and 5th divisions, after a very severe
struggle, succeeded in driving in the centre of the enemy,
whose right, however, remained unbroken, when General
Clausel, who, having joined the French army that day,
succeeded to the command in consequence of Marshal Mar-
mont being wounded, withdrew his troops with great skill,
and formed them in a new position, nearly at right angles
with the original one. His cavalry was numerous, and his
artillery formidable. Lord Wellington directed a fresh
attack, and the 6th division, ascending to the enemy’s
position, under a sweeping fire of artillery and musketry,
gained the level ground, when they cﬂarged with the
bayonet, and the 4th division coming up at the same time,
the French abandoned the ground in great confusion, re-
treating towards Alba de Tormes, followed closcly by the
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British, till night stopped the pursuit, whicli was renewed
by the cavalry on the morning of the 23rd. The cavalry
came up with the French rear near La Serna, when three
battalions surrendered, being forsaken by their own cavalry.
Clausel rctired by Pefiaranda to Arevalo, whence he took
the direction of Valladolid. The loss of the French was
very severe; three generals killed, four wounded; .one
general, six field-officers, 130 officers of inferior rank, and
between 6,000 and 7,000 men taken prisoners, besides two
eagles. Their total loss in killed and wounded could not
be ascertained. The Allies had 694 killed, and 4,270
wounded; but the proportion of officers was very great.
General Le Marchant was killed, and Generals Beresford,
Leith, Cole, Cotton, and Spry were wounded. The con-
sequences of the victory of Salamanca were considerable;
but they would have been much greater if the promised
Anglo-Sicilian expedition had been sent in time, and in
sufficient numbers, to the eastern coast of Spain. The
French would then, probably, bave been obliged to with-
draw to the Ebro. But the expedition arrived late, and
then consisted only of 6,000 men, and effected little or
nothing. Yet the ultimate though not immediate results
of the victory of Salamanca were great, and 'a French his-
torian, generally very warm in the cause of Napoleon, does
not hesitate to attribute to the military and political cone
sequences of that battle the ultimate loss of Spain by the
French. — (Thibaudean, Histovre de IEmpire, ch. 83.)
Among the political consequences must be reckoned the
obliteration of any tendency that there might have been
in the minds of some of the influential men in Spain,
and even in the Cortes, to give up the English alliance,
and make their peace with King Joseph, on condition of
his acknowledging the constitution proclaimed by the Cortes
agsembled at Cadiz in March of that year. The author,
just quoted, says, ¢ We are assured that a negociation to that
effect had been entered into, which the battle of Salamanca
broke off for ever’ What chance there would have been
afterwards of Napoleon observing and fulfilling any agree-
ment of the kind alluded to, those who have studied his
character and his course of policy can easily guess. Bu#
the Spaniards, at least those who had something to'lose, were
then 1n the condition of drowning men catching at straws.”*

* A. Vieussemy, ¢ Military Life.” For Lord Wellington’s own clear,
modest, admiratle account of the battle of Salamanca, and of the remark=-
sble movements by which it was preceded and followed, see ¢ Dispatches,’
vol. ix. from p, 204 to p. 328.
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During their flight on the 23rd, the day after the great
battle, the enemy were joined by the cavalry and artillery
of the army of the north, which, through Wellington’s
prompt decision, had joined too late to be of much use
On the night of the 23rd, Clausel's head-quarters were at
Flores de Avila, not less than ten leagues from the field
of Salamanca. Headlong as was their flight, the French
were followed very closely the whole way from Sala-
manca to Valladolid. But for our numerical inferiority in
cavalry, Marmont's so-called Army of Portugal would have
been utterly destroyed on this retreat; as it would have
been on the ficld of battle, but for the setting-in of night.
“ They all agree,” wrote Lord Wellington, * that if we
had had an hour more of daylight at Salamanca. the whole
army would bave been in our hands. Genceral Clausel,
who is wounded, now commands it. The only apprehen-
sion I have, is, that when the army of Portugal and the
army of the king shall have joined, they will be too strong
for us in cavalry. 1 am convinced that thetr infantry will
make no stand."*

Marshal Soult would not yet give up his Cadiz blockade.
Might not the advance of the allies to Madrid oblige him P
His adversary determined to try.

Having crossed the Douro, Lord Wellington reached
Valladolid on the 30th of July, Clausel clearing out of
that city on his lordship's approach, and continuing his re-
treat towards Burgos, with almost in.redible speed. The
British general entered Valladolid amidst the rejoicing of
the people, and there captured seventeen pieces of artillery,
considerable stores, and 800 sick and wounded French. left
behind by Clausel. The priests would have made processions
and have sung Te Deum, as had been done at Salamanca,
but Wellington had no time to spare. Joseph Buonaparte,
with all the troops he could muster at Madiid and pick
up on his road (in all, he had about 20,000 men), had
marched from the Escurial on the 21st of July, the day
before the battle of Salamanca, to join Marmont. On
arriving at Arevalo, Joseph, to his consternation, heard of
Marmont’s defeat; and therenpon he changed his route,
striking off by the right to Segovia to attempt a diversion in
favour of Clausel and the retreating army. Lord Welling-
ton, therefore, quitted Valladolid the day after he arrived at
it recrossed the Douro, and marched against Joseph, leaving

" Letter to Eur! Bathurst, dated July 28th.—* Wellington Dispatches,
voi, 1X,
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w force on the Douro to watch Clausel. His lordship’s
movements were again delayed for want of supplies and
want of money. He wrote to the noble Secretary at War
—¢ We are absolutely bankrupt. The troops are now five
months in arrears instead of being one in advance. The staff
have not been paid since February, the muleteers not since
June, 1811.”* But by great exertions some provisions were
brought up, and on the 6th of August he was enabled to
point the heads of his columns towards Madrid. Joseph
made some eccentric movements, then fell back upon S. Ilde-
fonso, and then continued his retreat towards the capital.
On the 9th, Wellington had his head-quarters at S. Ilde-
fonso ; and on the 10th and 11th, his victorious troops,
defiling by the passes of Guadarama and Naval Serrada,
crossed the mountains and descended into the plain on which
Madrid is situated. Joseph Buonaparte had done little more
than flit through that city ; followed by the French intruders
and their Spanish partisans, he was now flying to the left
bank of the Tagus.

On the 12th of August, Wellington entered Madrid, and
was received with enthusiastic d4cclamations. He rode in-
stantly throngh the town to reconnoitre the defences of the
Retiro palace, where Joseph had left a weak garrison, which
surrendered on the morning of the 14th, and put into his
lordship’s possession 20,000 stand of arms, 180 pieces of
ordnance, and military stores of every description.

Now all was joy in Madrid. I quote from an officer who
was present. “The entire population poured into the streets
and squares ; every tongue was loosened; on all sides were
heard the accents of joy; laurels and flowers decorated the
gay scene; tapestry and carpets were hung from the bal-
conies ; holiday dresses were put on; holiday greetings were
given; and the holiday smiles of men, women, and children
repaid the army for all its toils. But Wellington was more
especially the object of their praise and honour : wherever
he appeared, cries rent the air of ‘Long live the Duke of
Ciudad Rodrigo ! "—* Long live Wellington !’ Green boughs,
and flowers, and shawls were strewn before his horse’s feet.
Here it should be recorded, that when, upon the 22nd of
August, the new council waited upon him with all the
ceremonies of state to offer to him a congratulatory address as
Duke of Ciudad Rodrigo, conceived in those glowing terms
which are fitting towards a deliverer, Wellington replied

]‘.Letter to Earl Bathurst, dated 18th of July 1812.~¢ Dispatchies,
vol, ix.
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with simple dignity and unaffected modesty; nor did he
notice in his reply their proud and swelling enumeration of
his great successes, further than by one line :—* The eveuts of
war"are in the hands of*Providence.” In this spirit he looked
back upon his past achievements; in this spirit he contem-
plated the severe trials and arduous duties which coming
events might yet impose on him.”*

The municipal authorities gave a grand bull-fight in his
honour, and when he appeared in the amphitheatre on the
seat which had been usually occupied by royalty, the air
rang with the prolonged shouts of more than 12,000 spec-
tators. “ He could not walk abroad by daylight, because
of the pressure of the multitudes who gathered round him ;
even in the dark, when he went into the Prado, though he
and his suite were dressed in blue greatcoats in hopes of
escaping notice, they were generally recognised and followed
by crowds, the women pressing to shake hands, and some
even to embrace them.”i?

In consequence of Wellington's bold advance to Madrid,
Marshal Soult raised the blockade of Cadiz, destroying the
works which the French had constructed with an enormous
expenditure of money and labour, and abandoning the whole
of Western Andalusia, he concentrated his forces in Granada.
But the French abandoned these famed lines with so much
haste, that they could not destroy the half of their stores
and other materials ; thirty gun-boats and some hundred of

ieces of ordnance, including some cannon of portentous
ength, which had been cast expressly for the siege of Cadiz,
fell into the hands of the Spaniards, and were found to be in
good part but little injured.f Soult’s retreat was very dis-
astrous; his rear-guard was attacked by an allied force of
English and Spanish, who issued from Cadiz, drove it
from San Lucar, and took Seville by assault, although
eight French battalions had been left to maintain that city.
In his march to Granada by Cremona, Soult suffered fur-
ther loss from excessive heat, fatigue, scarcity, and the occa-
sional attacks of armed bands of peasantry. At Granada,
Soult concentrated his army. General Hill at the same time
advanced from the banks of the Guadiana to the Tagus, con-
necting his operations with those of the main body of Lord

* Captain M. Sherer, ¢ Military Memoir.’ 1 Southey.

% In the summer of 1815, just after we had received authentic intelli-
gence ot the Duke’s crowning victory at Waterloo, I saw some of these
fine, long French guns lying on the sands at the edge of Cadiz Bay. For
turee years the lazy Spauiards had left them there to spoil.
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Wellington’s army. On his approach, King Joseph abag-
doned Toledo, and fell back to Almanza, in Murcia, to keep
himself in communication with Soult and Suchet. A great
part of southern and central Spain was thus freed from
the French, who never after retook Seville. By the close of
August, Hill occupied Toledo, Ypez, and Aranjuez, thus
covering the right of the allied main army; and guarding
all the roads which led from the south to Madrid.

The situation of Lord Wellington at Madrid was, how-
ever, critical. Ciausel’s army in the north had been largely
reinforced, and Soult, and Suchet, and King Joseph, by
forming a junction, might advance from the south, and thus
the Allies would be attacked by a combined force nearly treble
in number to their own. The Anglo-Sicilian expedition
on the eastern coast was a disappointment and a failure;
instead of 12,000 or 15,000 men, only 6,000 came from Sicily;
of these a good part were unreliable foreign auxiliaries, and
now the whole force was cooped up in Alicante, and could
not effect any powerful diversion. There was no Spanish force
of any magnitude upon which Lord Wellington could depend
for field operations. The Gallician army under Santocildes,
which was the most effective Spanish corps, after taking
Astorga, bhad advanced towards Zamora, but was driven
back by Clausel. Ballasteros, who commanded a Spanish
force in Andilusia, refused to be directed by Lord’ Wel-
lington, and O’Donnell had been defeated in Valencia by
Suchet, and driven into Murcia. In Castile and at Madrid,
Lord Wellington heard many expressions of good-will, but
no active exertions were made in the common cause. The
country was exhausted, the people appeared disheartened,
and the British commander-in-chief could not realize at
Madrid, upon drafts on the British treasury, a sum of money
adequate to his most pressing wants.

othing was heard of General Castafios, who had promised
to join his lordship soon after the battle of Salamanca.
Before he had been twelve days in Madrid, Wellington
wrote: —“ I do not expect much from their exertions;
notwithstanding all we have done for them. They cry
Viva, and are very fond of us, and hate the French¢
Yut they are in general the most incapable of useful exer-
tion of all the nations ghat 1 have known: the most vain,
and at the same time the most ignorant, particularly of
wilitary affairs, and, above all, of military affairs in their
own country.” The constitution made]g'y the Cortes at
Cadiz had been proclaimed in Madrid, as in the other libe«
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rated cities; a regency, restricted by parliamentary votes, had
been formed ; and the affairs of government were supposed
to be conducted on constitutional principles; but it was not
found that government appointments were made upon purer
motives, or that better men were named than under the old
absolutism of the Bourbon monarchs. His lordship re-
peatedly complained that the appointments to offices, and
great situations and military commands were given to in-
efficient persons and to men without character. * What,”
said he, “ can be done for. this lost nation? As for raising
men or supplies, or taking any one measure to enable them
to carry on the war, that is out of the question. Indeed,
there is nobody to excite them to exertion, or to take advan-
tage of the enthusiasm of the people, or of their enmity
against the French. Even the guerillas are g tting quietly
into the large towns, and amusing themselves, or collecting
plunder of a better and more valuable description ; and
nobody looks forward to the exertions to be made, whether
to improve or to secure our advantage.

“This is a faithful picture of the state of affairs, and
though I still hope to be able to maintain our position in
Castile, and even to improve our advantages, ? shudder
when I reflect upon the enormity of the task which I have
undertaken, with inadequate powers myself to do anything,
and without assistance of any kind from the Spaniards, or,
I may say, from any individual of the Spanish nation......

“1 am apprehensive that all this will turn out but ill for
the Spanish cause. If, from any cause, I should be over-
powered, or should be obliged to retire, what will the world
say ?  What will the people of England say ? What will
those in Spain say? That we had made a great efiort,
attended by some glorious circumstances; and that from
January 1812 we had gained more advantages for the cause,
and had acquired more extent of territory by our operations,
than had ever been gained by any army in the same period
of time against so powerful an enemy; but that, being un-
aided by the Spanish officers and troops, not from disinclina-
tion, but from inability, on account of the gross ignorance
of the former and the want of discipline of the latter, and
from the inefficiency of all the persons selected by the
Government for great employment, we were at last overe
powered, and comypelled to withdraw within our own frontier.

“What will be Lord Castlereagh’s reply to the next pro-
position for peace? Not that we will not treat if the gc-
vernment of Joseph is to be the guaranteed government : but
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he will be too happy to avail himself of any opportunity of
withdrawing with honour from a contest in which it will be
manifest that, owing to the inability of those employed to
carry it on on the part of the Spaniards, there is no pros-
pect of military success. Thus, this great cause will be
lost, and this nation will be enslaved for the want of men at
their head capable of conducting them.”*

To other annoyances at this crisis of the war to which
his lordship was exposed, the following must be mentioned
—The Portuguese Government had an old money-claim
upon the Spanish Government; and, instead of providing
funds for the maintenance of their own troops, they made
an arrangement to take provisions in lieu of cash; the
Spaniards were to support the Portuguese troops ; and, when
their own armies were half-starved, they undertook to feed
another! If the Portuguese army had been left to depend
upon this precious bargain, it must have been disbanded.
But Lord Wellington, with his habitual promptness and
firmness, ordered the suspension of the subsidies which Eng-
land was paying to Portugal, and this brought the regency
at Lisbon to their senses.

In every sense, for Wellington to remain at Madrid was
impracticable; he must either advance to the north against
Clausel, or to the south against Soult, and he determined on
the first of these movements, for the purpose of striking a
blow at Clausel before the French in the south and east
could advance to his support. Leaving two divisions at
Madrid, he marched with the remainder, on the 1st of Sep-
tember, for Valladolid, which he entered on the 7th, and,
continuing his march towards Burgos, was joined at Valencia
by the Spanish army of Gallicia, which scarcely mustered
10,000 men, undisciplined and deficient in equipment. On
the 19th, the Allied Army entered Burgos, and the French,
under General Souham, who had assumed the command in
the north, fell back to Briviesca, leaving 2,000 men, under
General Dubreton, in the Castle of Burgos, strong by its
position, which had been fortified with care.

The possession of that fort was necessary for the security
ot the Allied Army in its present advanced and exposed
position, and Lord Wellington directed it to be invested
forthwith, though he was ill furnished with siege-artillery.
A horn-work on a hill, which commanded several of the
works of the castle, was carried by assault. The fort itself

* Letter to the Right Honourable Henry Wellesley, dated Madrid,
23rd of August 1812,—* Wellington Dispatches,’ vol. ix. pp. 372-6.
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was battered, but with little effect, and sapping was then
resorted to. On the 29th, a breach being effected in the
outer wall by the explosion of a mine, an attempt was made
to storm it, but failed. Another breach was effected in like
manner on the evening of the 4th of October, and bein
stormed with success, the besiegers were established within
the exterior line of the works of the castle. The garrison
made two sorties, by which thez materially injured the works
of the Allies, and occasioned them great loss. Want of am-
munition greatly retarded the operations of the siege. A
breach at last being effected, by mining, in the second line on
the 18th, orders were given to storm it. A detachment of
the King's German Legion carried the breach, and a de-
tachment of the Guards succeeded in escalading the line; but
the enemy brought such a fire upon them from the third line
and from the body of the castle, and attacked them with num-
bers so superior before they could be supported, that they were
obliged to retire with considerableloss. General Dubreton had
made a brave stand and a skilful resistance, but no bravery or
skill could have saved the castle in the face of so bold and per-
severing an enemy. But now the French army of the north
advanced with evident intention to raise the siege; and at
the same time Lord Wellington learned from General Hill
that the armies of the south and centre, which, being united,
mustered 70,000 strong, were advancing from Valencia
towards the Tagus, and that the Spanish General Ballas-
teros had not assumed a position in La Mancha which the
Spanish Government, at Lord Wellingivn s suggestion, had
directed him to take, in order to intercept the enemy’s move-
ments. The British commander was therefore under the
painful necessity of abandoning the siege of Burgos, and of
effecting a retrograde movement in order to draw near to
General Hill, who, at the approach of Soult, abandoned
Madrid, and retired slowly towards Salamanca. On the
21st of October the siege of Burgos was raised, and Lord
‘Wellington retired in good order to Valencia, and was
joined by a brigade from England under Lord Dalhousie,
which had landed at Corufia. The French, under Souham,
repeatedly attacked the rear-guard of the Allies until they
reached the Douro at Tudela, when Soubam halted, wait-
ing to be joined by Soult from the south. Lord Wellington
continued his retreat to the Tormes, being joined on the 3rd
of November by General Sir Rowland Hill.*

* A. Vieusseux, ¢ Military Life of the lluke, and ¢ Dispatches,’ vol

. from p. 390 to p. 510,
L
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~ After getting across the Douro, and effecting his junction
with Hill, his lordship congratulated himself on his suce
cess. “I assure you,” he wrote to the Secretary at War,
* that, considering the numbers of the enemy (among whom
iy’ Caffarelli’s infantry, as well ag his cavalry), and considering
the state of the Spanish troops, the great proportion of foreign
troops in the divisions which I have with me, and their general
weakness, and the weakness of our cavalry, I think I have
escaped from the worst military situation I was ever in.” *
On the 8th of November, the Allies took up their old
position on the heights of San Christoval, in front of
Salainanca. On the 10th, Souham and Soult joined their
forces, which amounted to 75,000 infantry and 12,000
cavalry, whilst Lord Wellington's army did not exceed
48,000 infantry and 5,000 cavalry. On the 14th, the French
crossed the Tormesin force near Lucinas. Lord Wellington
took position at the Arapiles, being the ground of his former
victory ; but as the enemy, through his superiority of num-
oers, and especially of cavalry, was in motion to intercept
his communications with Ciudad Rodrigo, he withdrew
through Salamanca, and continued his retreat towards the
Agueda. The French niight have given battle at Salamanca
—and did not. As hemoved from the Arapiles, Wellington
taw them still fortifying the position they had taken up—
50 cautious had they been rendered by his lordship’s skill
and successes, and by their own defeats and reverses.
Putting the Allied Army in march in three columns, and
crossing the Zurguen, which Sir Edward Paget had guarded,
and then turning'and passing the enemy’s left flank, his lord-
ship encamped the night of the 15th on the Valmuza. On
the following day, the 16th of November, the French fol-
lowed his movements with immense masses of cavalry and
& considerable body of infantry ; but they did not attempt
to press upon his rear. On the 17th, they took advantage
of the ground to cannvnade our light division, which formed
the rear- guard, and was now commanded by General Alten,
on its passage over the river, and caused 1t some loss. In
the course of the same day, General Sir Edward Paget, who
had ridden to the rear to discover the cause of some delay in
the march of the 7th division of infantry, was surprised,
when on the top of a hill, with a spy-glass in his hand, and
was taken prisoner by some Italian cavalry which issued
from a wood. I was well acquainted with the officer who

"* Dispatch to Earl Bathurst, dated Rueda 81st October.—* Wellingtoa
Dispatchss,” vol. ix. p. 6526,
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had the principal share in this capture. It was Don Mare
Antonio Colonna, son of the Prince of Stigliano, a branch of
the most ancient and noble family of the Colonna, long
settled in the kingdom of Naples. He discovered, with his
glass, an English general officer on the top of a hill, and,
galloping to the spot, surrounded the base of the hill. I
have often heard him give a graphic and touching account
of the behaviour of the stately and gallant veteran, who had
already lost an arm, and was very short-sighted. Sir Edward,
upon first seeing the dragoons, put spurs to his horse, and
would have galloped down the hill, but Colonna cried out
that it was surrounded, that escape was impossible, that the
attempt might lead to destruction; and, as he closed upon
him with several troopers, Sir Edward presented his sword
and surrendered. Upon learning the capture, Lord Wel-
lington wrote the following considerate, delicate, warm-
hearted, and nobly characteristic letter :—
¢« Head-quarters, 19th Nov. 1812.
“ My pDEAR PaGET,—

%1 did not hear of your misfortune till more than an hour
after it had occurred, nor was I certain of it till the enemy
attacked our rear-guard, and the firing had continued fot
some time, and I found you were not on the field ; and you
will judge of my concern by the sense which I hope you feel
I entertain of the cordial assistance which I received from
you during the short time that you have been with us.

%1 cannot account for your misfortune, excepting that
you were alone, and could not see the approach of the
enemy's cavalry.

*That which must now be done, is to endeavour to ob-
tain your exchange.

“ [ have no French general officer in the Peninsula ; but
I beg you to make it known to the king a#l to the Duke

of Dalmatia, that I will engage that any general officer
they will name shall be sent from England to France in

exchange for you. If you should find that there is any
prospect of your being exchanged, I recommend to you to
endeavour to prevail upon the king not to send you to
France. It is not necessary to enter into the reason for
giving you this advice. If the king or the Duke of Dal-
matia * will not name an officer to be exchanged for you,
the sooner you are sent to France the better.

“1 send you some money—£200. I will take care of
your friend Morley. You cannot conceive how much I

* Marshal Soult.
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regret your loss. This is the second time I have been de-
rived of your assistance, at an early period after you had
joined us, and I am almost afraid to wish to have you again;
but God knows with what pleasure I shall hear of your
being liberated, and shall see you with us.
** Believe me, &c.
(Signed) “ WELLINGTON.

“ Lieut.-General the Hon. Sir E. Paget, K.B.

P. S.—“ Let me know your wishes on any subject, and
they shall be carried into execution.” *

On the 18th, the day after losing brave Paget, Lord
Wellington, without let or hindrance, established his head-
quarters at Ciudad Rodrigo, the French having kept at a
cautious distance all that day. Soult, in fact, after he had
crossed the Tormes, made no serious movement, being called
upon by Joseph to send some troops into old Castile. «I
believe, too,” said his lordship, * that the enemy require
repose as much, if not more, than we do; and that their
immense numbers are rather embarrassing to them in a
country already exhausted. But I am not quite certain
that they do not propose to penetrate into Portugal this
winter. I hope the enterprise will end fatally to them ;
but our troops will suffer a good deal if they are to have a
winter campaign, and if the weather should continue as
severe as it bas been since the 15th of November.”

The main army of the British and Portuguese were now
distributed in their old quarters within the frontiers of Por-
tugal, their left resting at Lamego on the Douro, whilst
General Hill's corps moved into Spanish Estremadura, inta
cantonments, near Coria, and towards the Tagus, placing
strong posts at the passes of Bafios and Bejar. The cam-
paign of 1812 was terminated.

During the retreat from Burgos the Allied troops suffered
much fatigue and privation; the weather was very incle-
ment, the roads were deep and miry, the rivulets were all
filled, and the rivers were greatly swelled, and some of
them were breast high at the fords. Owing to the irreme-

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. ix. p. 6566. A few days afterwards—busy as he
was in getting his troops into cantonments and in restoring discipline—
his lordship wrote a condoling and affectionate letter to the Honourable
Berkeley Paget, the general’s brother, and another letter to the French
general, Maucune, thanking him for the kindness he had shown to his
prisoner, and requesting to know what sums he had advanced to General
i’a(;lzeat,sgo that he might repay them. See ¢ Dispatches,” vol. ix. pp. 564
m .

t Letter to the Earl of Liverpool ¢ Dispatches, vol. ix. p. 670.
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diable difficulty of obtaining provisions in Spain, a great
part of the army had neither bread nor biscuit, and the men
had only a ration of lean tough beef, which they could not
cook, but heated upon such smoky fires as they could make,
and so ate 1t half raw. Many irregularities were committed
by the soldiers, which Lord Wellington severely reprobated
in a circular which he addressed to all commanding officers
of divisions and brigades, dated Frenada, 28th of November
1812.

Throwing the blame where it was due, his lordship said,
— T have no hesitation in attributing these evils to the
habitual inattention of the officers of regiments to their
duty, as prescribed by the standing regulations of the ser-
vice, and by the orders of this army.

“I am far from questioning the zeal, still less the gal-
lantry and spirit, of the officers of the army; and I am quite
certain that if their minds can be convinced of the neccssity
of minute and constant attention to understand, recollect,
and carry into execution the orders which have been issued
for the performance of their duty, and that the strict per-
formance of this duty is necessary to enable the army to
serve the country as 1t ought to be served, they will in future
give their attention to these points.

“Unfortunately, the inexperience of the officers of the
army has induced many to consider that the period during
which an army is on service is one of relaxation from all
rule, instead of being, as it is, the period during which, of
all others, every rule for the regnlation and control of the
conduct of the soldier, for the inspection and care of his
arms, ammunition, accoutrements, necessaries, and field
equipments, and his horse and horse appointments ; for the
receipt, and issue, and care of his provisions; and the regu-
lation of all that belongs to his food and the forage for his
horse, must be most strictly attended to by the officers of
his company or troop, if it is intended that an army, a British
army in particular, shall be brought into the field of battle
in a state of efficiency to meet the enemy on the day of trial.

¢ These are the points, then, to which I most earnestly
entreat you to turn your attention, and the attention of the
officers of the regiments under your command, Portuguese
as well as English, during the period in which it may be in
my power to leave the troops in their cantonments. The
commanding officers of regiments must enforce the orders of
the army regarding the constant inspection and superinten=
dence of the officers over the conduct of the men of theix
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companies in their cantonments; and they niust endeavour
to inspire the non-commissioned officers with a sense of their
situation and authority ; and the non-commissioned officers
must be forced to do their duty, by being constantly under
the view and superintendence of the officers. By these
means, the frequent and discreditable recourse to the autho-
rity of the provost, and to punishments by the sentence of
courts-martial, will be prevented, and the soldiers will not
dare to commit the offences and outrages of which there are
too many complaints, when they well know that their offi-
cers and their non-commissioned officers have their eyes and
attention turned towards them.

“The commanding officers of regiments must likewise
enforce the orders of the army regarding the constant, real
inspection of the soldier’s arms, ammunition, accoutrements,
and necessaries, in order to prevent at all times the shameful
waste of ammunition, and the sale of that article, and of the
soldicr’s necessaries. With this view both should be in-
spected daily. !

“In regard to the food of the soldier, I have frequently
observed and lamented in the late campaign, the facility and
celerity with which the French soldiers cooked, in comparison
with those of our army.

“The cause of this disadvantage is the same with that of
every other description, the want of attention of the officers
to the orders of the army ; and the conduct of their men,
and the consequent want of authority over their conduct.
Certain men of each company should be appointed to cut and
bring in wood, others to fetch water, and others to get the
meat, &¢., to be cooked ; and it would soon be found that if
this practice were daily enforced, and a particular hour for
seeing the dinners, and for the men dining, named, as it
ought to be, equally as for parade, that cooking would no
longer require the inconvenient length of tiuie which it has
lately been found to take, and that the soldiers would not be
exposed to the privation of their food at the moment at
which the army may be engaged in operations with the
enerr;y.

“ You will, of course, give your attention to the field ex-
ercise and discipline of the troops. It is very desirable that
the soldiers should not lose the habits of marching, and the
division should march ten or twelve miles twice in each
week, if the weather should permit, and the roads in the
neighbourhood of the cantonments of the division should be
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“But I repeat that the great object of the attention of the
general and field officers must be to get the captains and
subalterns of the regiments to upderstand and perform the
duties required from them, as the only mode by “which the
discipline and efficiency of the army can be restored and
maintained during the next campaign. 3

“ I have the honour to be, &c.
“ WELLINGTON.”

To Officers commanding Divisions and Brigades.*

This severe lesson was certainly called for. Many of Hur
officers—particularly in the cavalry reginrents—were abuve
their duty, or fancied that their duty consisted merely in
bravely leading their men in battle, and that all details and
superintendence might be left very well to old sergeants and
sergeant-majors, This was not Wellington’s notion ; and
we find his lordship frequently complaining that he had
too many fine gentlemen; that the War-office sent him ont
too many thoughtless young men; that he wanted men who
would do their work thoroughly, and not take amiss any
detail of duty.

But, while he was thus rating his officers, he was himself
severely rated in England: the opposition party had re-
newed their ontcry, and people totally ignorant of the
science and practice of war were criticising his late cam-

aign, and dogmatically sitting in judgment on his wonder-
ul retreat. IHe thus modestly and manfully explained
what he had done, and tovk upon himself the responsibility
of what hé had been obliged to leave undone :— ‘

¢ From what I see in the newspapers,” he wrote to Lord
Liverpool from Ciudad Rodrigo on the 23rd of November,
“I am much afraid that the public will be much disap-
pointed at the result of the last campaign, notwithstanding
that it is, in fact, the most successful campaign in all its cir-
cumstances, and has produced for the common cause more
important results than any campaign in which a British
army hes been engaged for the last century. We have
taken by siege Ciudad Rodrigo, Badajoz, and Salamanca,
and the Retiro surrendered. In the mean time the Allies
have taken Astorga, Consuegra, and Guadalaxara, besides
other places. In the months elapsed since January, this
army has sent to England little short of 20,000 prisoners, and
they have taken and destroyed or have themselves the use
of the enemy’s arsenals in Ciudad Rodrigo, Badajoz, Sala-
manca, Valladolid, Madrid, Astorga, Seville, the lines before

* ¢ Wellington Dispatehrs,” vol. ix. pp. 582-5.
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Cadiz, &c.; and, upon the whole, we have taken and de-
stroyed, or we now possess, little short of 3,000 pieces of
cannon. The siege of Cadiz has been raised, and all the
countries south of the Tagus have been cleared of the enemy.
‘We should have retained still greater advantages, I think,
and should have remained in possession of Castile and
Madrid during the winter, if I could have taken Burgos, as
I ought, early in October, or if Ballasteros had moved upon
Alcaraz, as he was ordered, instead of intriguing for his own
aggrandizement. . . . . . . I see that a disposition
already exists to blame the government for the failure of
the siege of Burgos. The government had nothing to
say to the siege. It was entirely my own act. In regard
to means, there were ample means both at Madrid and
Santander for the siege of the strongest fortress. That
which was wanting at both places was means of transporting
ordnance and artillery stores to the place where it was de-
sirable to use them. The people of England, so happy as
they are in every respect, so rich in resources of every de-
scription, having the use of such excellent roads, &c., will not
readily believe that important results here frequently depend
upon fifty or sixty mules more or less, or a few bundles
of straw to feed them; but the fact is so, notwithstand-
ing their incredulity. I could not find means of moving
even one gun from Madrid. . . . As for the two guns
which endeavoured to send, I was obliged to send
our own cattle to draw them, and we felt greatinconvenience
from the want of those cattle in the subsequent movements
of the army.” * 2

The Prince Regent, the government, and what was de-
cidedly the vast majority of the British nation, again took a
fairer view of the services of our illustrious warrior, diplo-
matist, and statesman. In the course of the year he was
raised to the rank of Marquis, and Parliament voted him
£100,000 for the purchase of an estate.

During this eventful year, the United States of America
saw fit to enter into a war against England, and to cover the
seas with fast frigates and privateers. Many of our trading
vessels were captured; at times whole convoys, carrying
recruits, stores, &c., for our army in the Peninsula were put
in jeopardy ; some of our old frigates were overmatched by
American frigates which were as strong as ships of the line;
and, worst of all, the attention of our government was dis-
tracted from the war on the Continent. But in the same

* ¢ Dispatches,” vol. ix. pp. 570-4
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year Napoleon Buonaparte declared war against Russia, and
madly crossed the Vistula with by far the greatest army
that modern Europe had ever seen.

Go forward and be choked by thy ambition!*

Campuign of 1813.—During the winter and spring months
discipline was restored and improved, our officers profited by
the lesson which had been given to them by their great leader;
and our army was in admirable condition, and in high spirits
before its services were required. By command of his lord-
ship, the large lumbering iron camp-kettles were no longer
to be used, and the mules which had hitherto carried them
were now to carry tents for the soldiers. Every company
was to have three tents. Thus the men off duty would
always be provided with some cover in the field, which
would save many casualties from sickness. Moreover, ex-
pedition in preparing their food, as well as real comfort was
gained by issuing small kettles, and dividing the companies
into small messes. These changes were vast improvements,
promoting comfort and health in a manner not before
thought of in our armies. In this winter, also, a pontoon
train had been preparea to accompany the line of march in
the next campaign. *

The grand army of Buonaparte had perished in Russia.
Taken as a mass, the men who had formed it were veterans
in crime as well as in war. “ C'elait unme race gangrenée
qui Wetait plus bonne qu'd mourir ! 'f

The Russian catastrophe not only prevented Buonaparte
from reinforcing his marshals in Spain, but it also obliged
him to recall the best of them, and the only one among
them whose generalship had cost Lord Wellington any very
serious thoughts. This, of course, was Marshal Soult, who,
early in the year, was removed from the Peninsula to
oppose the Russians, then ahout to advance through Gere
many to the banks of the Rhine and the old frontier of
France. Soult, however, took only 20,000 men with him,
thus leaving about 70,000 to oppose Wellington, besides the
army of Suchet in the eastern provinces. ¢ The army of
Portugal,” as it continued to be called, was now placed
under the command of General Reille, who had his head-
quarters at Valladolid; the “ Army of the Centre,” under
Drouet, was distributed round Madrid; and the “ Army of
the South™ had its head-quarters at Toledo. All these

* Captaiu M. Sherer, ¢ Military Memoirs of the Duke.’
% It was a gangrened race, no longer good for anything buf to die.
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forces were nominally under the command of King Joseph ;
but as Joseph was no soldier, and never could lcarn to be
one, he was assisted by Marshal Jourdan, who could only
have earned his great reputation of former days, by being
opposed to incompetent or unfaithful commanders. General
Clausel and Foy, commanded separate divisions in Arragon
and Biscay. Before the campaign began, Andalusia and
Estremadura in the south, and Gallicia and Asturias in the
north, were entirely free from the French.

Doing at last that which they ought to have done at first,
the Spanish Provisional Government, with the consent and
approbation of the Cortes, had appointed Lord Wellington
to be commander-in-chief of the Spanish armies, and had
taken some measures to improve the discipline and effcctive-
ness of their troops. As, however, the Regency had hardly
any money except the subsidies they received from Eng-
land, these things remained only as so many good inten-
tions. Nor were the pride and ignorance o}Y the Spanish
commanding officers, and the slothfulness and indocility of
their troops, evils that could be remedied of a sudden, or in
the course of one trying campaign. And, therefore, the
only army upon which Wellington could firmly rely for
field operations, consisted of about 63,000 British and Portu-
guese infuntry, and about 6,000 cavalry.

It was the middle of May before his lordship took the
field. Then, breaking up from his Portuguese cantone
ments, he put his army in motion for Spain in three sepa-
rate bodies ; the left under Sir Thomas Graham, the hero of
Barrosa; the right under the indefatigable Hill; and the
centre under his own immediate command. The combined
movements of these three divisions were admirably managed,
and without precision and perfect concert such movements
never succeed. IHis lordship directed Graham to pass to the
north of the Douro at Lamego, and march through Tras-os-
Montes to Braganza and Zamora, and thence upon Valladolid,
thus securing the position along the northern bank of the
Douro, which the enemy had taken up, and which, with great
pains, they had been strengthening. The French were taken
completely by surprise, never having anticipated this move-
ment through Tras-os-Montes. Grahim reached the Esla,
an affluent of the Douro, without meeting a foe. On the 1st
of June, having crossed the Esla, Graham encamped near
Zamora, the French retreating before him. On the same
day, Lord Wellington came up from Salamanca, and joined
Graham. On the morrow, the 2nd of June, these two re-
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united columns. were in full march for Valladolid, the French
columns still retiring. On the 3rd, General Hill, who had
crossed the Douro at Toro, came up with his division, and
the Allied Army was also joined by several Spanish corps.

As Lord Wellington advanced, Joseph Buonaparte fled
from Madrid, for the last of many times. He was followed
by his court and retainers, who hastily Eacked up whatever
tgey could carry off withi them. The ¥rench army retired
to Burgos, where they had sirengtlened the works of the
castle. But on the 12th of June, Wellington being near at
hand, they abandoned Burgos, blew up the fortifications,
and retreated to the Ebro. This line, so much nearer to
their own frontiers, the French thought they could defend,
and they threw a strong garrison into the fortress of Pan-
corvo, a little in advance of the river. They were much
mistaken. Taking care of the lives of his men, avoiding the
fortress and everything which rendered the passage of the
Ebro dangerous or difficult, and finding out a new road
across a rugged country, towards the sources of the Ebro,
his lordship completely turned their position on the river,
and drove the French back upon Vittoria, after a sharp
affair on the mountain side near Osma. The French were
now cut off from the sea-coast, and their immediate evacua-~
tion of all the ports in that part of Spain, excepting Santona
and Bilbao, was one of the important results. Portugal was
no longer to be the depét for Wellington’s supplies; a new
base of operations was obtained, and the Tagus was aban-
doned for the sea-coast of Biscay.*

Rarely had any army traversed a country so difficult as
that through which his lordship bad led his forces. Hill
and valley, roaring torrents and broad, deep, dry ravines
all the difficulties found in an alpine district, were met and
surmounted. At times, the labour of a hundred soldiers was
required to move forward a piece of artillery; at others, the
gun was obliged to be dismounted, lowered down a precipice
by ropes, or swayed up the rugged goat-paths by the united
cfforts of men and animals.” ¢ Strongly diud the rough
veteran infantry work their way through those wild but
beautiful regions; six days they toiled unceasingly; on
_the seventh, swelled by the junction of Louga’s division,
and all the smaller bands which came trickling from the
mountains, they burst like raging streams from every
Jefile, and went foaming into the basin of Vittoria.™}

* Maxwell, ¢ Life of the Duke,” vol. iii. p. 116, + Napier,

~
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While engaged on this novel and daring march, the French
had been asking whether Lord Wellington was asleep.

By the 20th of June, the whole of the Allied Army was
beyond the Ebro, and concentrated near the picturesque old
town of Vittoria, within sight of the ground on which
Edward the Black Prince, in the olden time, had gained a
splendid victory over the best troops of France. The whole
of the 20th, was employed by Wellington in closing up his
columns, and in reconnoitring the positions of the French.

The day before, on the 19th, the enemy, commanded by
Joseph and Jourdan, had taken up strong ground in front of
the town, their left resting upon the heights which termi-
nate at La Puebla de Arganzon, and extending from thence
across the valley of the Zadorra, in front of the village ot
Arinez, the right of their centre occupying a height which
commanded all the valley to the Zadorra, and their right
being stationed near to the walls of Vittoria, being destined
to defend the passages of the river Zadorra. The French
had also a reserve, in rear of their left, at the village of
Gomecha. By this disposition they covered the three great
roads from Madrid, Bilbao and Logrono, which unite at
Vittoria. The two hostile armies were nearly equal in num-
bers, amounting to from 73,000 to 75,000 each. The
French lay on their arms as if confident that they could
maintain their ground. The evening and the night passed
quietly away ; but early on the 21st of June, the glorious
battle of Vittoria was begun.

Lord Wellington moved his army for the attack in three
great divisions. The left, under General Graham, was
directed by a circuitous movement to turn the enemy’s right
across the Bilbao road, and cut off his retreat to France
by the Bayonne road ; the right, under General Hill, was
to commence the action by crossing the river Zadorra where
the road from Madrid to Vittoria intersects the river, and to
attack the enemy’s left on the high ridge behind the village
of Subijana de Alava; and the centre, consisting of the
3rd, 4th, 7th, and light divisions, in two columns, was to
attack the French centre. Hill’s advance being the first to
get into action, obtained possession of the ridge of La Puebla,
on which the enemy’s left leaned. Marshal Jourdan made
repeated and desperate efforts to recover the ridge; but all
was in vain, and Hill's battalions, among whom was a
Spanish brigade under General Murillo, kept possession
of that important post throughout the battle. The contest
bere was, however, dreadfully severe, and our loss con-
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sidetable. DMurillo was wounded, but remained on the
field; Lieutenant-Colonel the Hon. H. Cadogan was mor-
tally wounded, but would not be removed. Under cover
of the possession of these well-defended heights, the rest of
Sir Rowland Hill’s division successively crossed the Za-
dorra, and attacked and gained the village of Subijana da
Alava, which also stood on a height. Here, too, the French
made desperate efforts to dislodge the allies. The combat
was of the deadliest. In the mean while, our other two
columns of attack were coming up, or round. But of a
sudden Lord Wellington, with the centre, was seen to
pause. The French believed then, and reported afterwards,
that Wellington was awed by their determined countenance,
and that, for ten minutes or a quarter of an hour, his column
of attack wavered and trepidated. Even English writers,
who might have been better inforined, took up and repeated
the same tale. 1t was a pure fable. There was no wiver-
ing or trepidation whatever; but General Sir George
Murray, the admirable quartermaster-general, knowing
that Graham would require a little more time to get into
action, rode up to the Commander-in-chief, and advised
him to wait a short quarter of an hour. Of this fact I was
assured by Sir G. Murray himself, at the Ordnance office
in 1845, not many months before his lamented death. The
difficult nature of the country, prevented communica on
between our three several columns, so that, for a short tiue,
the centre knew neither what was doing by the right, nor by
the left. But in the end everything went well, and the
combined movements were executed with what might be
called a rare precision, both as to place and time. As the
divisions forming our centre crossed the river, the scene
exhibited to those on the heights was one of the most
animating ever beheld by soldiers. * The whole country,”
says one, who was both an actor and a spectator, *secmed
to be filling with troops; the sun shone bright; nnt a cloud
obscured the brilliant and glowing atmosphere. From
right to left, as far as the eye could reach, scarcely the
most diminutive space intervened between bodies of troops,
cither already engaged, or rapidly advancing into action.
Artillery and musﬁetry were heard in one continued, unin-
terrupted volume of sound ; and, although the great force of
French cannon had not yet opened upon the assailants, the
fire had already become exceedingly violent.”*

The column under the Earl ot Dalhousie, about which

® Colonel Leith Hay, ¢ Narrative of the Peninsular War.'
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some momentary apprehension had been entertained, got to
its assigned place. The 4th and light divisions under General
Cole, and forming part of our middle column, crossed the
Zadorra by the bridges of Nanclaras and Tras Puentes, im-
mediately after Hill bad got possession of Subijana de Alava;
and shortly after cur 3rd and 7th divisions crossed the river
higher up, and these four united divisions marched with firm
steps against the centre of the French, who met their advan-
cing columns with a destructive fire of artillery. General
Picton’s division—the always foremost and always fighting
8rd—coming in contact with a strong body of the enemy
drove it back, and captured its guns. With very little more
fighting the French centre abandoned its position, and began
to retreat in good order towards Vittoria. As Jourdan thus
fell back, closing up his long lines, which—like those of
Marmont, at Salamanca—had been far too much extended,
our troops continued to advance in admirable order, not-
withstanding the difficult nature of the ground.

While this was passing in front, General Sir Thomas
Graham, moving along the road from Bilbao with our left,
had attacked the krench right, which was posted on the
heights beyond the Zadorra, above the village of Abe-
chuco, and had dislodged it from thence, and then, ascend-
ing the right bank of the Zadorra towards the Bayonne
road, he carried the village of Gamarra Mayor ; and, at nearly
the same time, the Spanish division of Longa carried the
village of Gamarra Menor, on the right banli: of the river
-opposite the Bayonne road, which runs along the left bank of
the river, the heights of which were occupied by two divisions
of French infantryinreserve. Inthe execution of these ser-
vices Graham’s division, including Spanish as well as Portu-
guese troops, were closely and desperately engaged; and all
behaved admirably—more especially some of the Portuguese
light troops, called Cagadores. Both at Gamarra Mayor
and at Abechuco—which had been strongly occupied as
tétes-de-ponts, and garnished with great guns—they had
advanced under a murderous fire of artillery, with bayonets
fixed, and without firing a shot.*

Towards the evening, the main body of the French army
having been driven right through the town of Vittoria, the
divisions on their right withdrew hastily from their posi-
tions; then General Graham (he was there. for that pur-
pose) dashing across the Zadorra, took possession of the

* For Lord Wellington’s own short, quiet account of this signal vie-
q
tory, see ¢ Dispatches,’ vol, x. p. 446,
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Bayonne road by which the enemy meant to retieat towards
France; and this movement threw their entire army into
irretrievable confusion. The French were obliged, in this
state, to alter their line of retreat, and take the road leading
to Pamplona; and they were unable to hold any position
beyond Vittoria for a sufficient length of time to allow their
baggage, stores, and artillery to be drawn off. The whole,
therefore, of the artillery which had not already been taken
by Lord Wellington’s troops in their successive attacks of
positions, together with all their ammunition and baggage,
and nearly everything else they had, were captured close to
Vittoria. “ We had beaten them,” said one of our officers,
¢ before the town, and in the town, and through the town,
and out of the town, and behind the town, and all round
about the town.” * “ I have reason to believe,” wrote his
lordship, “that the enemy carried off with them one gun
and one howitzer only.” As darkness s.t in, the broken
French columns mixed and dispersed, running off in all
directions. The intruder Joseph had a very narrow escape,
the 10th hussars entered Vittoria at the moment that he
was hastening out of it in his carriage; one squadron of the
10th under Captain Wyndham, gave pursuit and fired into
the carriage; Joseph had barely time to throw himself on a
horse and gallop off under the protection of a body of dra-
goons; the carriage was taken, and in it the most splendid
of his trinkets, and some of the most precious articles he
had abstracted from the palaces, monasteries, and churches
of Spain. M. Lalande, his private secretary, was over-
taken and put to death, and several of his attendants were
captured or cut down, or shot in their flight by the revenge-
ful Spaniards. In some instances French veterans were
scen flying in the dark before handfuls of our camp fol-
lowers — mere Spanish and Portnguese striplings armed
with nothing but their Jong knives and their implacable
fury. Now did the French pay dearly for their burnings
of towns and villages, for their massacres en masse, and for
all the atrocities they had perpetrated.t

It was not a retreat; it was a débacle. The French
army rallied at no point of its line; nor was the slightest
etfort made, after passing the city of Vittoria, to check the
rapid progress of the Allies. To escape with nothing but
lite and the clothes on their backs seemed to be their sole
object. Their artillery drivers cut their traces, left their

* ¢ Quarterly Review,’ vol. xiii, p. 270,
% ¢ Pist. Hist. Reigu of George IIL.
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guns on the heavy road, and galloped off with their horses.
The amount of spoil gathered by the pursuers was im-
mense, and of the most varied description, resembling in
many particulars the spoils of an Oriental rather than those
of an European army. Joseph Buonaparte—who had been
nicknamed by the sober Spaniards “ King of the Cooks,”
“Little Joseph of the Bottles” — was a self-indulging,
luxurious, sensual, voluptuary; and wherever he went he
carried with him all his luxuries and means of enjoyment.
His splendid side-board of plate, his larder, and his cellar,
or its choicest contents, fell into the hands of the conquerors;
his fine wardrobe, some of his women, and some of his plun-
der—including splendid pictures by the old Spanish mas-
ters—were also taken. Many of the French officers had
followed Joseph’s example as far as their means had per-
mitted; and thus the finest wines and the richest viands
were picked up in profusion. ¢ The wives and mistresses of
the officers had gathered together in one house, where they
were safe, and from whence they were sent in their own
carriages with a flag of truce to Pamplona. Poodles, par-
rots, and monkeys were among the prisoners. Seldom
has such a scene of confusion been witnessed as that which
the roads leading from the field of battle presented ; broken
down waggons stocked with claret and champagne, others
laden with eatables dressed and undressed, casks of brandy,
apparel of every kind, barrels of money, books, papers,
sheep, cattle, horses, and mules, abandoned in the flight!
The baggage was presently rifled ; and the followers of our
camp attired themselves in the gala dresses of the flying
enemy. Portuguese boys figured about in the dress-coats of
French general officers; and if they happened to draw a
woman’s wardrobe in the lottery, they converted silks, satins,
and embroidered muslins, into searfs and sashes for their
masquerade triumph, Some of the more fortunaie soldiers
got possession of the army chest, and loaded themselves
with money............ The camp of every division was
like a fair; benches were laid from waggon to waggon, and
there the soldiers held an auction through the night, and
disposed of such plunder as had fallen to their share to any
one who would purchase it.”’*

¢ The soldiers of the army,” said Wellington, “ have got
imong them about a million sterling in money, with the
cxception of about 100,000 dollars which were got for tne
wuilitary chest.”f

* Soutkey, ¢ Pexinsular V.41’ + ¢ Dispatches,’ vol, x.
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Among the innumerable trophies of the field was the
baton or marshal’s staif of Jourdan. Fis lordship sent it to
the prince regent, who gave him in return the baton of a
field-marshal of Great Britain. OFf arms and materials of
war, there were taken 151 pieces of brass ordnance, 415
caissons, more than 14,000 round of ammunition, nearly
2,000,000 of musket ball cartridges, nearly 41,000 pounds of
loose gunpowder, and an immense train of forage waggons
forge waggons, &ec. &e.

The French had in manﬁ' actions made greater slaughter
of the Spaniards, but they had never reduced an army, even
of raw volunteers, to such astate of total wreck. Not above
1,000 of the fugitives were taken; for, lightened of every-
thing, they ran like lapwings. The country, too, was inter-
sected with canals and ditches, which impeded our cavalry ;
and our infantry, moving in military order, could not be
expected to keep up with a rout that had renounced all
order, and was realizing the adage,  the devil may take the
hindmost.” Moreover, as Wellington deeply regretted,
the spoils of the field occupied and detained his troops, and
his infantry, by this time, were shoeless. The French ac-
knowledged a loss, in killed and wounded, of 8,000 men;
but that loss was unquestionably much greater. The total
loss of the Allies was 740 killed, and 4,174 wounded. Lord
Wellington was liberal, and even enthusiastic in his praise
of all engaged; officers and men. He particularly acknow-
ledged his obligations to Graham, Hill, Morillo, the Hon.
W. Stewart, the Earl of Dalhousie, Picton, Sir Lowry Cole,
Sir George Murray, Lord Aylmer, and to many others,
including Sir Richard Fletcher, and the officers of the royal
engineers. He mentioned in his dispatch that his serene
highness the hereditary Prince of Orange (the late king of
Holland) was in the ficld as bis aide-de-camp, and con-
ducted himself with his usual-gallantry and intelligence.

'Fhe morrow of a victory, however great and glorious, is a
day of sadness to all feeling hearts. The dead have to be
buried ; the wounded to be counted and moved ; the knife of
the surgeon is at work, and the hospitals ring with cries of
anguish, or moans and groans; men look round for men
who have fought at their sides in many battles, and shared
with them the pleasures of the mess-table, and the frolies of
the bivouac, and shudder to find so many places vacant, so
man{r dear comrades gone forever! Grieving for all, Lord
Wellington appears to have gricved most for the gallant

M
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young Calogan; and, as was his wont, he sat down and
wrote condoling letters.

He said to his brother Sir H. Wellesley :—% I am much
voncerned for the death of Cadogan. He had distinguished
himself early in the action. . . . . His private cha-
racter and his worth as an individual were not greater than
his merits as an officer, and I shall ever regret him.

. . The concern which I feel upon his loss has dimi-
nished exceedingly the satisfaction I should derive from our
success.”*

And again, writing to the same brother four days after the
battle, he said, “ I know how much you will feel for the
loss of poor Cadogan, which has distressed me exceedingly.
He was so anxious respecting what was going on, that, after
he was wounded, he had himself carried to a place whence
he could see all the operations! Pray let George and Louisa
know of their misfortune.”t He could not away with this
mournful subject ; and the like intensity of feeling may be
traced in his dispatches whenever he has met with a loss
of the same nature, or when any brave and good man fami-
liarly acquainted with him has perished. His feelings are
always expressed in short but affecting sentences, denoting
the most touching of all griefs, the grief of a firm, manly
heart with all its feelings habitually under control. Let
those who entertain the vulgar idea to which I have already
alluded, turn over the Wellington Dispatches, and dismiss
it for ever.

The victory at Salamanca had been attended by great
events; but these were now surpassed.

The news of this decisive battle of Vittoria gave strength,
spirit, and union to the allied armies acting against Buona-
parte in Germany, dissipated the last misgivings and indeci-
sions of Austria, broke up the congress assembled at Prague,
in Bohemia, which before would have treated with the
French, and have left them in possession of many of their
conquests; and it gave to the voice of the British Govern-
ment, and its envoys, a vast increase of consideration and
influence. Without this battle of Vittoria and its glorious
results in June, there would have been no battle of Leipzig
in October.

The flight of the French from Vittoria was favoured by
the weather ; it rained heavily on the succeeding days, and

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. x. p. 454.
I Id. p. 455. The Honourable George and Louisa Cadogen, brothes
and sister to the deceased colonel.
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this, with the consequent state of the roads slackeued our
pursuit, for, again we had to pursue as a regular army with
all its encumbrances. The Roitelet Joseph hardly once
looked back until he had reached the strong walls of Pam-
plona, in Navarre, among lofty mountains, the offshoots of
the Pyrenean chain. The garrison of that place had been
reinforced and well supplied, but it had also received orders
to husband its provisions and stores, in case of a siege or
blockade ; thus they admitted the runagate pretender with
his staff and some corps, but would not open the gates to the
flying disorganized soldiers, who had lost all signs of disci-
pline, and were starving. These fugitives attempted to
force an entrance over thie wall of Pamplona ; but they were
repulsed by a fire of musketry from their own countrymen.
After this they continued their flight across the Pyrenees
towards France ; but, mecting with some supplies, they ral-
lied in the fastnesses of those mountains.

General Clausel, who was coming up fast from Logrono
with about 15,000 men, and who would have been on the
field of Vittoria if Wellington had delayed his attack, npon
learning the issue of that battle, had fled acrcss the central
Pyrenees into France, losing all his artillery and most of
his baggage on the road. éeueral Foy, who was with an-
other corps d’armée near Bilbao, fell back rapidly on the
fortress of Bayonne, being followed up by General Graham.
‘A French garrison was left in San Sebastian, which place,
as well as Pamplona, was soon invested. Except on the
eastern coast, where Suche kept his ground with about
40,000 men, there was not an open spot in all Spain but was
freed from the French.

Having established the blockade of Pamplona,and directed
Graham to invest San Sebastian, Lord Wellington advanced
with the main body of his army to occupy the passes of the
Pyrenees, from Roncesvalles, so famed in war and poetry, to
Irun, at the mouth of the Bidassoa. His lordship’s move-
ments were again impeded by Spanish procrastination and
poverty, and by want of rroper ammunition and magazines,
but by the 7th of July he became master of some of the
most important of the mountain passes; and his sentinels
looked down from the Pyrenees upon the level plains of
France. Thus, in forty-five days from the opening of this
memorable campaign, his lordship had conducted the allied
army from the Portuguese to the French frontiers!

When Napoleon, in his camp in Saxony, heard of the
disaster of Vittoria, he sent Marshal Soult to the Army of
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Spain, with the rank of ¢ Lieutenant of the Emperor.
Soult arrived on the Spanish frontier on the 13th of July,
and set about restoring order and confidence in his army,
which consisted of nine divisions of infantry, nearly 80,000
men, and three divisions of cavalry. He told them,in a
stirring proclamation, that the disasters of the preceding
campaign were owing to the pusillanimous councils and un-
skiltul dispositions of their late commanders. * Let us not,
however,” added he, ¢defraud the enemy of the praise
which is due to him. The dispositions and arrangements of
their general have been. prompt, skilful, and consecutive,
and the valour and steadiness of his troops have been
praiseworthy.” IHe concluded by saying that his instruc-
tions from the emperor were, ¢to drive the enemy from
those lofty heights which enable him proudly to survey our
fertile valleys, and drive him across the Ebro. It is on the
Spanish soil that your tents must next be pitched, and your
resources drawn. . - . Let the account of our success
be dated from Vittoria, and the birth of his Imperial
Majesty be celebrated in that city.’

When that auspicious day, the 15th of August, arrived,
Marshal Soult and his army, instead of being at Vittoria,
were on the wrong side of the Pyrenees; and the Allied
Army, instead of having been driven beyond the Ebro, was
on the Bidassoa, with a firm footing in France.

“ Soult’s first object was to relieve Pamplona. With this
view he collected the main body of his army at St. Jean
Pied de Port, and on the 25th of July attacked, with between
30,000 and 40,000 men, the British right at Roncesvalles.
General Cole moved to the support of that post, but the
French having turned the British position, Cole considered
it necessary to withdraw in the night, and march to Zubiri.
In the mean time two French divisions attacked General
Hill's position in the Puerto de Maya, at the head of the
valley of Baztan. At first they gained ground, but were
again driven back, when the retrograde movement of General
Cole, on his right, induced General Hill to withdraw like-
wise to Irurita. Lord Wellington, who had his head-quar-
ters at Lesaca, on the left of the army, heard of these move=
ments late in the night, and concentrated his army to the
right. On the 27th the French made a partial attack on
the 4th division, near Sorauren, but were repulsed. On the
28th Soult directed a grand attack, first on the left, by the
valley of the Lanz, and then on the centre of the British
position. The 4th division General Cole’s, sustained nearly
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the whole brunt of the attack, and repulsed the enemy with
the bayonet. In one instance the French succeeded in over-
powering a Portuguese battalion on the right of General
Ross's brigade, at the chapel of Sorauren, which obliged
General Ross to withdraw, and the enemy established him-
self for a moment on the line of the Allies, but Lord Wel-
lington directed the 27th and 48th regiments to charge, and
the French were driven down the hill with great loss. Soon
after the fighting ceased. On the 29th both armies re-
mained inactive. Soult changed his plan, and on the 30th
endeavoured to turn the British left by an attack on Generul
Hill. He collected a large body on his right for this pur-
pose, and by manceuvring on the left flank of Hill's corps,
obliged him to withdraw from the height which he occupied
behind Lizasso to another range about a mile in the rear,
where, however, General Hill maintained himself against
every effort that was made to dislodge him. At the same
time Lord Wellington attacked the French corps in his front,
in a strong position, between the valley of the Lanz and that
of Arga, and obliged them to retire. On the morning of the
31st the French were in full retreat into France, by the
various passes of the Pyrences, followed by the Allies, who
took many prisoners and much baggzage. These various
combats are designated by the name of the ¢ Battles of the
Pyrenees.” On the 1st of August Lord Wellington re-
sumed possession of the passes in the mountains.” *

The admirable generalship displayed in this series of rapid
manceuvres and successful combats, has been recognised by
the most competent military critics. It should appear that
the government at home had fancied that Wellington
might defend the Pyrcnees as he had done the heights of
Torres Vedras, without allowing the French to penetrate
anywhere ; but he had shown them beforehand that this
was an impossibility. The mountain range to be guarded
was notless than 60 English miles in length, the practicable
passes were not two or three but eight, and there were other
rough roads or paths across the Pyrenees, running between
or turning the greater passes, which might be traversed by
an enemy so light and nimble as the French. Lord Wel-
lington estimated all the passes, good and bad, at not less
than seventy.+

* A. Vieusseux, ¢ Military Life of the Duke’ The dispatches cone
densed in this brief space extend from p. 567. vol. x. to p. 107. vol. xi.
¢ Dispatches.’

t Letter to the Earl of Liverpool, dated Lesaca, 25th July. ¢Dis-
patches,’ vol. x. pp. 567-70.
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The fighting had been tremendous. In the pass of Ronces-
valles and the Maya pass,-and on the heights above them
our people had contended against immense odds— they
had fought on the mountain tops, which could scarcely have
witnessed any othcr combats than those of the Pyrenean
eagles—they bad fought among jagged rocks, and on the
brink of profound abysses—they had fought amidst clouds
and mists, for those mountain-tops were 5,000 feet above
the level of the plains of France, and the rains, which for
several days had been falling in torrents, were evaporating
in the morning and noon-day sun. YWhen those passes were
forced by Soult, Lord Wellington was at a considerable dis-
tance.  Sir George Murray, his excellent quartermaster-
%eneral, at the critical moment, had taken upon himself some-

eavy responsibility, and his movements and arrangements
were afterwards approved and applauded by his lordship;
but brave General Picton—as was not unusual with him—
had acted precipitately, and in contradiction to the spirit
of his instructions, and this gave great uneasiness to the
Commander-in-chief. Galloping up at racing speed, almost
alone, and at great hazard of being intercepted and made
prisoner by the French, he entered the village of Sorauren,
where he saw Clausel’s divisions close at hand. On the
parapet of the bridge of Sorauren he wrote sdle fresh
instructions to Sir George Murray. Lord Fitzroy Somer-
set, the only staff-officer who had been sufficiently well
mounted to keep up with Wellington’s thorough-bred
English chestnut, galloped with these orders out of Sorau-
ren by one road, the French light cavalry dashed into the
village by another, and the English geseral rode alone up the
opposite mountain to reach his troops. * One of Campbell’s
Portuguese battalions first descried him and raised a cry of
Jjoy, and the shrill clamour caught up by the next regiments
swelled as it ran along the line, into that stern and appal-
ling shout which the British soldier is wont to give upon the
cdge of battle, and which no enemy ever heard unmoved.
Lord Wellington suddenly stopped in a conspicuous place ;
he desired that both armies should know he was there, and
a double spy who was present pointed out Soult, then so
near that his features could be glainly distinguished. The
English general, it is said, fixed his eyes attentively upon
this formidable man, and, speaking as if to himself, said,
‘ Yonder is a great commander, but he is a cautious one,
end will delay his attack to ascertain the cause of these
cheers ; that will give time for the 6th division to arrive,
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and I shall beat him. And certain it is that the French
general made no serious attack that day.”*

In a private letter, written four days after the last of
these ¢ Battles of the Pyrences,” Wellington said, “I never
saw such fighting as we have had here. It began on the
25th of July, and, excepting the 29*4, when not a shot was
fired, we had it every day till the 2nd of August. The
battle of the 28th was fair bludgeon work.}” And writing to
Sir Thomas Graham, about the same time, hesaid, “I hope
that Soult will not feel any inclination to renew his expedi-
tion. The French army must have suffered greatly. Between
the 25th of last month and 2nd of this, they were engaged
seriously not less than ten times; on many occasions in attack-
ing very strong positions, in others beat from them or pursued.
1 understand that their officers say, they have lost 15,000 men.
I thought so; but as they sayso, I now think more. Itisstrange
enough thatour diminution of strength to the 31st does not ex-
ceed 1,500 men, although, 1 believe, our casualties are 6,000.”'{

In their retreat through the passes of the Pyrenees, the
French were repeatedly attacked, and had their rear cut up by
our pursuing columns. General Edward Barneswith hissingle
brigade, about 1,500 strong, rushed up a steep height under a
heavy fire of musketry and artillery, charged Clausel’s 6,000
men, and drove them from their position. During this day
Lord Wellington, who was grieving that Marshal Soult should
have escaped him, was nearly taken prisoner himse. He was
standing near the hill of Echalar, examining his maps, with
only halfa company of the 43rd as an escort. Some French,
closeat hand, sent a detachment to cut the party off; and such
was the nature of the ground that these troops would have
fallen upon his lordship unaware, if Sergeant Blood, a young,
intelligent, and active man, who had been set to watch in front,
had not rushed down the precipitous rocks and given the
alarm. As it was, the French arrived in time to send a
volley of bullets after his lordship as he galloped away.”§

Soult drew close to his reserves behind the Bidassao, put
some of his disorganized corps behind the line of his re-
serves, called loudly for reinforcements, and collected all
the detachments and national guards he could. It had
previously been proved that in a rase campagne, or in any
situation ‘approaching to an open country, the veterans of
France were not a match for tge British infantry, and now

* Napier, ¢ Hist. of Peninsular War,” vol. vi. p. 130. Edition of 1840.
% Letter to Lord William Bentinck. ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. x. p. 602.
3 * Dispatches,” vol. x. p. 591.  § Napier, © Peninsular War, vol. vi.
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they had the additional proof that they were not our match
in mountain warfare—a warfare in which the French had
hitherto been considered unrivalled.*

During the month of August, General Graham was press-
ing the siege of St. Sebastian. On the 31st, the asvault was
made, and the town was carried, but with great loss. The
French garrison retired to the castle. Many excesses were
committed by the British and Portuguese soldiers after they
had entered the town : most of the houses were plundered,
and it was not until the 2nd of September that order wae
restored by scvere measures. But as this calamitons affair
was made the ground of accusation against the Dritish
officers and army in general, we must refer the reader to
Lord Wellington’s indignant reply to those charges, in &
letter to his brother Sir Henry Wellesley, British minister
in Spain. Some Spanish party papers went so far as to say
that the town was sct on fire on purpose by the British, and
this insinuation has been repeated by Llorente, in his
‘Mémoires de la Révolution d'Espagne,” and by others.
“Everything was done,” says Lord Wellington, * that was
in my power to suggest to save the town Several persons
urged me, in the strongest manuer, to allow it to be bome
barded, as the most certain mode of forcing the enemy to give
it up. This I positively would not allow, for the same rea~
sons as I did not allow Ciudad Rodrigo or Badajoz to be bom=~
barded. . . .". . Neither is it true that the town was set
on fire by the English and Portuguese troops. To sct fire
to the town was part of the enemy’s defence. It was set on
fire by the cnemy on the 22nd of July, before the final
attempt was made to take it by storm; and it is a fact that
the fire was so violent on the 24th of July, that the storm,
which was to have taken place on that day, was necessarily
deferred till the 25th, and, as it is well inown, failed, I
was at the siege of St. Sebastian on the 30th of August, and
I aver that the town was then on fire. It must have been
set on fire by the enemy, as I repeat that our batteries, by
positive order, threw no shells into the town ; and I saw the
town on fire on the 31st of August, before the storm took
place. Itis well known that the enemy had prepared for
a serious resistance, not oniy on the ramparts, but in the
streets of the town ; that traverses were established in the
streets, formed of combustibles, with the intention of sctting
fire to and exploding them during the contest with the

* ¢ Annals of the Peninsular Campaign; vy the author of ¢ Cyrik
Thoruton,’ —the lute Captain Hainiiton,
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assailants. It is equally known that there was a must severe
contest in the streets of the town between the assailants
and the garrison; that many of these traverses were ex-
ploded, by which many lives on both sides were lost ; and it
i3 a fact that these explosions set fire to many of the houses,

. . . Everything was done that could be done to extin-
guish the fire by our own soldiers. In regard tothe plunder
of the town by the soldiers, I am the last man who will deny
it, because I know that it is true. It is one of the evil conse-
quences attending the necessity of storming a town, which
every officer laments, not only on account of the evil thereby
inflicted on the unfortunate inhabitants, but on account of
the injury it does to discipline. Notwithstanding that I am
convinced that it is impossible to prevent a town in such a
situation from being plundered, I can prove that, upon this
occasion, particular pains were taken to prevent it. . ...
If it had not been for the fire, which certainly augmented the
confusion, and afforded greater facilities for irregularity, and if
by far the greater proportion of the officers and non-com-
missioned officers, particularly of the principal officers who
stormed the breach, had not been killed or wounded in the
performance of their duty in the service of Spain, to the num-
ber of 170 out of about 250, I believe that the plunder would
have been, in great measure, though not entirely, prevented.”*

The castle of St. Sebastian capitulated after a few days.
The siege and capture of the place cost the Allies nearly
4,000 men, killed and wounded. Three Dritish general
officers were wounded, and Sir Richard I'letcher, the com-
manding officer of engineers, was killed.

It is but too easy to account for our great loss before this
place. It was not until the 19th of August that transports
arrived from England with a good supply of heavy guns
and mortars; and then the besiegers were left” with only
one company of royal sappers and miners — a species of
force whose formation had been so long and so absurdly
neglected by our government. On the 11th of February
1812, Wellington had written to the Earl of Liverpool—
It is inconceivable with what disadvantages we undertake
anything like a siege, for want of assistance of this descrip-
tion. There is no French corps d’armée which has not a
battalion of sappers and a company of miners. But we are
obliged to depend for assistance of this description upon the
regiments of the line ; and, although the men are brave and
willing, they want the knowledge and training which are

* ¢ Dispatches,’ vol. xi, pp. 1724,
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nceessary.  Many casualties among them consequently
occury and much valuable time is lost at the most critical
period of the siege.”* Yet, more than eighteen months
after this earnest representation, only one company of sap-
pers and miners could be sent out for an important siege!

On the 31st of August, the day of the storm, Soult made
an effort to relieve the place. Three divisions of Spaniards,
under General Freyre, occupied the left bank of the Bidas-
soa, supported on the right and left by English and Portu-
guese brigades. A strong French force forded the Bidassoa,
and made a desperate attack on the Spaniards posted on the
heights of St. Marcial. The Spaniards bravely stood the
attack, charged the enemy with the bayonet, and drove
them down the height into the river. A second attack was
made and repelled in the same manner. Lord Wellington,
who happened to be present, was highly pleased, and said in
his dispatches that *the conduct of the Spanish troops was
equal to that of any troops he had ever seen engaged.”

On the 31st of October the 4,000 French in Pamplona,
having lost all hope of relief, surrendered prisoners of war.
There was nothing now in the rear of the Allies to cause
them any apprehension, or to intercept their communica-
tions with the interior of Spain. But before the reduction
of Pamplona—though not before that event had been ren-
dered inevitable—Wellington called down part of his troops
from the bleak mountain tops, and from the gloomy narrow
passes, where, to their infinite discomfort, they had been
encamped or hutted for more than two months. During
that time, desertions had been rather frequent among them.
Men not afraid of the French had run away from a dread
of ghosts or dead bodies. One who was at the time an officer
among them, says :—* As this was an event which had but
rarely occurred before, many opinions were hazarded as to
its cause. For my part, I attributed it entirely to the opera-
tion of superstitious terror on the minds of the men, and
for this reason. It is generally the custom, in planting sen-
tinels in the immediate presence of an cnemy, to station
them in pairs, so that one may patrol as far as the next post,
whilst the other remains steady on his ground. Perhaps,
too, the wish of giving greater confidence to the men them-
selves may have some weight in dictating the measure; at
all events, there can be no doubt that it produces that effect.
Such, however, was the nature of the ground covered by
our piquets among the Pyrenees, that in many places there

* ¢ Dispatches,” vol. viii. p. 601.
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was hardly room for a couple of sentinels to occupy a single
post, whilst it was only at the mouths of the various passes
that two were more desirable than one for securing the
safety of the army. Rugged as the country was, however,
almost every foot of it had been the scene of action, whilst
the dead, falling among rocks and cliffs, were left in various
instances, from necessity, unburied; and exactly in those
parts where the dead lay buried, single sentinels were
planted. That both soldiers and sailors are frequently super-
stitious, every person knows; nor can it be pleasant for the
strongest-minded among them to spend two or three hours
of a stormy night beside a mangled and half-devoured car-
cass ; indeed, I have been myself, more than once, remon-
strated with, for desiring as brave a fellow as any in the
corps to keep guard near one of his fallen comrades. *¢I
don’t care for living men,’ said the soldier; *but, for God's
sake, sir, don't put me beside him;* and wherever I could
yield to the remonstrance, I invariably did so. My own
opinion, therefore, was, that many of our sentries became so
overpowered by superstition that they could not keep their
ground. They knew, however, that if they returned to the
piquet, a severe punishment awaited them ; and hence they
went over to the enemy, rather than endurc the misery of
a diseased imagination.

¢ As a proof that my notions were correct, it was remarked,
that the army had no sooner descended from the mountains,
and taken up a position which required a chain of double
sentinels to be renewed, than desertion in a very great degree
ceased. A few instances, indeed, still occurred, as will
always be the case where men of all tempers are brought
together, as in an army ; but they bore not the proportion
of one to twenty towards those which took place among the
Pyrenees.”"*

As soon as they were told that they were to be led a march
or two upon French ground, the men, recently so gloomy,
looked as if they were going to a fair or a fcast. The Eng-
lish flag waved triumphantly in the pass of Roncesvalles,
where 1t had been displayed centuries before by Edward the
Black Prince, the terror of France, and our bands played
the merry march of the “ British Grenadiers,” and our troops
defiled through the other passes which their valour had
won. On the 10th of November, the rest of the Allied army
were called down from their cold and cheerless positions,
and marched into France. Before taking this decisive step,

© * Gleig s ¢ Subaltern.’
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Wellington issued an order of the day to all the troops of
the various nations that followed his victorious standard.
He told “the officers and soldiers to remémber that their
nations were at war with France, solely because the ruler of
the French would not allow them to be at peace, and wanted
to force them to submit to his yoke.” He told them “not
to forget that the worst of the evils suffered by the enemy
in his profligate invasion of Spain and Portugal had been
occasioned by the irregularities of his soldiers, and their
cruelties towards the unfortunate and peaceful inhabitants
of the country;” and that “to avenge this conduct on the
peaceful inhabitants of France would be unmanly and
unworthy of the Allied nations.” This proclamation was
read over and over again in English, in Portuguese, and in
Spanish ; and his lordship made it the special duty of all
officers to enforce these salutary orders. Nor was it ever
left to remain as a piece of merely rhetorical humanity ;
Wellington took incessaut care to carry it into operation;
and whenever he found any part of his troops attempting to
plunder the peasantry, he not only punished by military
law those who were caught in the fact, but he placed the
whole regiment or brigade to which they belonged under
arms, to prevent further offence. It was difficult to convince
the Spaniards and Portuguese, who had so long seen their
own country plundered and ransacked and wasted by fire
and sword, that they ought not to retaliate upon the French,
who had attacked them without the shadow of a provocation.
Discipline, however, works miracles; and the Portuguese
troops, on the whole, behaved well. DBut the undisciplined
part of the Spaniards, who had been a thorn in his lord-
ship’s side ever since he set his foot on the soil of the Peniu-
sula, could not be restrained in their revengeful and maraund-
ing propensitics. Some excuse for them was, that their
government had provided them neither with pay nor provi-
sion, neither with clothes nor shoes. :

Lord Wellington’s letters to the Spanish Generals Morillo,
‘Wimpffen, and Freyre, are evidence of his earnestness and
determination not to allow any irregularity of the sort.
“Where I command,” says he to Freyre, ¢ I declare that no
one shall be allowed to plunder. If plunder must be had,
then another must have the commaznd. You have large
armies in Spain, and if it is wished to plunder the French
peasantry you may enter Irance, but then the Spanish
government must remove me from the command of their
srmiss. . . . . L is & matter of indifference to me
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whether I command a large or a small army, but whether
large or small, the army must obey me, and above all, must
not plunder.*

General Sir Thomas Picton, a Welshman more peppery
than Fluellin, appears always to have been in a passion at
somebody or something; but much cooler officers re-echoed
the sentiments he expressed as to the value of Spanish
troops as co-belligerents in France. In writing to a {riend,
Picton says,—* The Spaniards, instead «f being of any ser-
vice to us in our operations, are a perfect dead weight, and
do nothing but run away and plunder. We should do much
better without these vapouring poltroon rascals, whose irre-
gular conduct will indispose every one towards us.”f Inno
very long time, Wellington took the decisive measure of
sending back most of these Spanish troops into their own
country.

Soult now held a strong position on the Nivelle from St.
Jean de Luz to Ainhoe, about twelve miles in length.
General Hill, with the British right, advanced from the
valley of Baztan, and, attacking the French on the heights
of Ainhoe, drove them towards Cambo on the Nive, while
the centre of the Allies, consisting of English and Spanish
troops under Marshal Beresford and General Alten, carried
the works behind Sarre, and drove the French beyond the
Nivelle, which the Allies crossed at St. Pré, in the rear of
the enemy. Upon this the French hastily abandoned their
ground and works on the left of the Nivelle, and in the
night withdrew to their entrenched camp in front of Bayonne.
Lord Wellington's head-quarters were established at St.
Jean de Luz, on the right bank of the Nivelle. The Allies
went into cantonments between the sea and the river Nive,
where their extreme right rested on Cambo. The enemy
guarded the right bank of the Nive from Bayonne to St.
Jean Pied de Port. Lord Wellington, being straitened for
room and supplies for his large army, determined to cross
the Nive and occupy the country between that and the
Adour. On the QtE of December, General Hill forded the
Nive above Cambo, while the sixth division crossed at
Ustaritz, and the French were dislodged from their position
at Ville Franque. In the night all their posts were with-
drawn to Bayonne, and on the 10th the British right rested
on the Adour. On that day Soult, resuming the offensive,
issued out of Bayonne, and attacked the British left under

* ¢ Dispatches,” vol. xi. p. 395.

* Letter to Mr. Marryat in H. B. Robinson’s ¢ Memoirs of Picton.’
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Sir John Hope, which covered St. Jean de Luz, where the
Allies had considerable depots of stores. :

The French came on with great spirit, and twice suc-
ceeded in driving in the fifth division of the Allies, and
twice were repulsed again, the first time by the 9th British
and a Portuguese battalion, and the second time by the
brigade of Guards; at last, night put an end to the fight.
Next morning, 11th December, Soult, having withdrawn
in the night most of his force from the position in front of
the British left, prepared to attack the light division with
overwhelming numbers. General Hope, snspecting _this,
had moved part of his troops to their right to support the
light division. This occasioned another change in Soult’s
movements, who again directed several columns against the
left at Barouilles. The troops were occupied in receiving
their rations, and their fatigue parties were engaged in
cutting wood, wben shouts were heard from the front of
 en avant,” answered by a corresponding cry of  to arms”
among the British. The French columns were close at
hand, and the Allies had barely time to run to their arms,
when they withstood the attack, and at the close of the day
both armies remained in their respective position.

Marshal Soult now giving up any further attempt on the
left of the Allies, and imagining that his repeated attacks
on that side mnst have induced Lord Wellington to weaken
his right, changed his plan, and during the night of the
12th moved with his main force to his left to attack the
British right. Lord Wellington, however, had foreseen
this, and had given orders to the fourth and sixth divisions
to support the right, and the third division was held in
readiness for the same object. General Hill had under his
immediate command above 13,000 men, and his position
extended across from the Adour beyond Vieux Monguerre
to Ville Franque and the Nive. Soult directed from
Bayonne on the 13th a force of 30,000 men against his posi-
tion. His columns of the centre gained some ground, but
were fiercely repulsed. An attack on Hill’s right was like-
wise successful at first, but was ultimately defeated. Soult
at last drew back his troops towards his entrenched camp
near Bayonne. General Hill had withstood all the efforts
of the enemy without any occasion for the assistance of the
divisions which Lord Wellington had moved towards him.
Lord Wellington, well pleased at this, told him—* Mill, the
day iz all your own,” *

* Résumé of © Dispalckes,’ vol. xi, A Vieusseux.
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In these several affairs the romantic bravery of Sir John
Hope excited the admiration of the whole army. In the
Commander-in-chief this warm admiration was mingled
with friendly apprehensions. When these combats were
over, he said—* I have long entertained the highest opinion
of Sir John Hope, in common, I believe, with the whole
world, but every day’s experience convinces me more of his
worth. We shall lose him, however, if he continues to
expose himself in fire as he did in the last three days; in-
deed, his escape then was wonderful. His hatand coat were
shot.through in many places, besides the wound in his leg.
He places himself among the sharp-shooters, without, as
they do, sheltering himself from the enemy’s fire. This will
not answer ; and I hope that his friends will give him a hint
on the subject.” *

Nothing of importance occurred during the few remain-
ing days of the year 1813. Both armies remained in winter-
quarters—if so comfortable a name can be given to the
positions and lodgings occupied by our troops. Amuse-
ments, however, were not quite wanting, although, it
appears, that Soult was too near to allow of the pleasures
of the chase, in which our officers had indulged a short time
previously.

“ Lord Wellington’s fox-hounds were unkennelled, and
he himself took the field regularly twice a week, as if he
had been a denizen of Leicestershire, or any other sporting
county in England. I need not add that few packs in any
county could be better attended. Not that the horses of
all the huntsmen were of the best breed, or of the gayest
appearance ; but what was wanting in individual splendour
was made up by the number of Nimrods; nor would it be
easy to discover a field more fruitful in laughable occur-
rences, which no man more heartily enjoyed than the
gallant Marquis himself. When the hounds were out, he
was no longer the commander of the forces, the general-
in-chief of three nations, and the répresentative of threec
sovereigns ; but the gay, merry, country gentleman, who
rode at everything, and {aughed as loud when he fell him-
self as when he witnessed the fall of a brother sportsman.” {

The peasantry dwelling near that frontier of France
were devout papists and Bourbonists at heart. As Soult
had retired, they had begun to give sundry signs of good
feeling towards Lord Wellington and his army. Worn out

* Letter to Colonel Torrens, ¢ Dispatches,” vol. xi.
1 The ¢ Subaltern.
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by the military conscription, and the monstrous excess
to which it had been carried during the last three years
they saw no end to their evils except in peace, which was
to be obtained only by the overthrow of Buonaparte.
They could no longer bear to see their sons torn from them,
to be made food for cannon—chair @ canon. Flesh or meat
for cannon was the epithet commonly applied to young
conscripts towards the end of this war! Seeing that the
English did not plunder, and that excellen<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>